
M. Pearson 
CLERK TO THE AUTHORITY

To: The Chair and Members of the Devon & 
Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority

(see below)

SERVICE HEADQUARTERS
THE KNOWLE
CLYST ST GEORGE
EXETER
DEVON
EX3 0NW

Your ref : Date : 11 February 2021 Telephone : 01392 872200
Our ref : DSFRA/MP/SY Please ask for : Steve Yates Fax : 01392 872300

Website : www.dsfire.gov.uk Email : syates@dsfire.gov.uk Direct Telephone : 01392 872329

DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY
(Budget Meeting)

Friday, 19 February, 2021
A meeting of the Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority will be held on the 
above date, commencing at 10.00 am via Webex video conference to consider 
the following matters.

M. Pearson 
Clerk to the Authority

A G E N D A
PLEASE REFER TO THE NOTES AT THE END OF THE AGENDA LISTING 

SHEETS
1 Apologies  

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)
of the previous meeting held on 16 December 2020 attached.

3 Items Requiring Urgent Attention 
Items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the meeting as 
matters of urgency.

PLEASE NOTE  This meeting will be livestreamed on the Devon & Somerset Fire & 
Rescue Service YouTube channel.  This can be accessed by following the link below 
and then clicking on the Videos and Livestream buttons: 

https://www.youtube.com/dsfireupdates

https://www.youtube.com/dsfireupdates


PART 1 - OPEN COMMITTEE

4 Questions and Petitions from the Public 
In accordance with Standing Orders, to consider any questions and petitions 
submitted by the public.  Questions must relate to matters to be considered at this 
meeting of the Authority.  Petitions must relate to matters for which the Authority 
has a responsibility or which affects the Authority.  Neither questions nor petitions 
may require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.  Questions and 
petitions must be submitted in writing or by e-mail to the Clerk to the Authority (e-
mail address:  clerk@dsfire.gov.uk) by midday on Tuesday 16 February 2021.

5 Addresses by Representative Bodies 
To receive addresses from representative bodies requested and approved in 
accordance with Standing Orders.

6 Questions from Members of the Authority 
To receive and answer any questions submitted in accordance with Standing 
Orders.

7 Minutes of Committees  

a Community Safety & Corporate Planning Committee  (Pages 7 - 10)
The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Redman, to MOVE the Minutes of 
the meeting held on 11 December 2020, attached.
RECOMMENDATION that the Minutes be adopted in accordance with 
Standing Orders.

b Human Resources Management & Development Committee  (Pages 11 
- 12)
The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Hannaford, to MOVE the Minutes of 
the meeting held on 14 December 2020, attached.
RECOMMENDATION that the Minutes be adopted in accordance with 
Standing Orders.

c Resources Committee  (Pages 13 - 20)
The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Drean, to MOVE the Minutes of the 
budget meeting held on 10 February 2021, attached.
RECOMMENDATIONS

(i). that the recommendations at:

 Minute RC/41 (Medium Term Financial Plan);

 Minute RC/39 (Capital Strategy);

 Minute RC/38 (2020-21 Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
Level);

https://fireauthority.dsfire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD224&ID=224&RPID=500201720
mailto:clerk@dsfire.gov.uk


 Minute RC/40 (Capital Programme 2021-22 to 2023-24); 
and 

 Minute RC/42 (Treasury Management Strategy [Including 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators] 2021-22 

be considered in conjunction with items 8, 9 and 10(a) to (c), 
inclusive, respectively, below;

(ii). that the recommendation at Minute RC/44 (Financial Performance 
Report 2020-21: Quarters 2 and 3) be approved; and

(iii). that, subject to (i) above, the Minutes be adopted in accordance 
with Standing Orders.

8 Medium Term Financial Plan (Pages 21 - 32)
Report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer) (DSFRA/21/1) 
attached.

9 Capital Strategy (Pages 33 - 42)
Report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer) (DSFRA/21/2) 
attached.

10 REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS  

a 2021-22 Revenue budget and Council Tax Levels  (Pages 43 - 120)
Report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer) and the Chief 
Fire Officer (DSFRA/21/3) attached.

b Capital Programme 2021-22 to 2023-24  (Pages 121 - 134)
Report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer) (DSFRA/21/3) 
attached.

c Treasury Management Strategy (Including Prudential and Treasury 
Indicators) 2021-22 to 2023-24  (Pages 135 - 172)
Report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer) (DSFRA/21/5) 
attached.

11 Localism Act 2011 - Pay Policy Statement 2021-22 (Pages 173 - 186)
Report of the Director of Governance & Digital Services (DSFRA/21/6) attached.

12 Red One Ltd. - Appointment of Non-Executive Directors (Pages 187 - 188)
Report of the Director of Governance & Digital Services (DSFRA/21/7) attached.

13 Authority Governance (Pages 189 - 240)
Report of the Director of Governance & Digital Services (DSFRA/21/8) attached.



14 Exclusion of the Press and Public (Pages 241 - 242)
RECOMMENDATION that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined Paragraph 3 of  Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) to the Act, namely information relating to the financial and business 
affairs of any particular person – including the authority holding that information.

PART 2 - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE CONSIDERED IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

15 Restricted Minutes of the Resources Committee (Budget) Meeting held on 10 
February 2021 (Pages 243 - 244)
The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Drean, to MOVE the restricted Minutes of 
the budget meeting held on 10 February 2021 attached.
RECOMMENDATION that the Minutes be adopted in accordance with Standing 
Orders.

16 Disposal of Former Topsham Fire Station (Pages 245 - 252)
Report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer) and the Director of 
Governance & Digital Services (DSFRA/21/9) attached.

MEMBERS ARE REQUESTED TO SIGN THE ATTENDANCE REGISTER

Membership:-
Councillors Randall Johnson (Chair), Best, Biederman, Bown, Brazil, Buchan, 
Clayton, Coles, Colthorpe, Corvid, Drean, Eastman, Hannaford, Healey MBE, 
Long, Napper, Peart, Prowse, Radford, Redman, Saywell, Thomas, 
Trail BEM, Vijeh, Wheeler (Vice-Chair) and Yabsley.
Alison Hernandez (Devon & Cornwall Police & Crime Commissioner)
Sue Mountstevens (Avon & Somerset Police & Crime Commissioner).



NOTES
1. Access to Information

Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or lists of background papers 
relating to any item on this agenda should contact the person listed in the “Please ask 
for” section at the top of this agenda. 

2. Reporting of Meetings
Any person attending a meeting may report (film, photograph or make an audio 
recording) on any part of the meeting which is open to the public – unless there is 
good reason not to do so, as directed by the Chair - and use any communication 
method, including the internet and social media (Facebook, Twitter etc.), to publish, 
post or otherwise share the report. The Authority accepts no liability for the content or 
accuracy of any such report, which should not be construed as representing the 
official, Authority record of the meeting.  Similarly, any views expressed in such 
reports should not be interpreted as representing the views of the Authority.
Flash photography is not permitted and any filming must be done as unobtrusively as 
possible from a single fixed position without the use of any additional lighting; 
focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and having regard also to 
the wishes of any member of the public present who may not wish to be filmed.  As a 
matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or 
the Democratic Services Officer in attendance so that all those present may be made 
aware that is happening.

3. Recording of Meetings
Given the social distancing measures introduced in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic, Authority meetings will be held virtually and livestreamed on the Devon & 
Somerset Fire & Rescue Service YouTube channel.  The meetings may also be 
recorded for subsequent viewing on the YouTube Channel.  Any such recording does 
not constitute the official, Authority record of the meeting.

4. Declarations of Interests at meetings (Authority Members only)
If you are present at a meeting and you are aware that you have either a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, personal interest or non-registerable interest in any matter being 
considered or to be considered at the meeting then, unless you have a current and 
relevant dispensation in relation to the matter, you must:

(i) disclose at that meeting, by no later than commencement of consideration of 
the item in which you have the interest or, if later, the time at which the interest 
becomes apparent to you, the existence of and – for anything other than a 
“sensitive” interest – the nature of that interest; and then 

(ii) withdraw from the room or chamber during consideration of the item in which 
you have the relevant interest.

If the interest is sensitive (as agreed with the Monitoring Officer), you need not 
disclose the nature of the interest but merely that you have an interest of a sensitive 
nature.  You must still follow (i) and (ii) above.
Where a dispensation has been granted to you either by the Authority or its 
Monitoring Officer in relation to any relevant interest, then you must act in accordance 
with any terms and conditions associated with that dispensation.



NOTES
Where you declare at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary or personal interest that you 
have not previously included in your Register of Interests then you must, within 28 
days of the date of the meeting at which the declaration was made, ensure that your 
Register is updated to include details of the interest so declared.

5. Part 2 Reports
Members are reminded that any Part 2 reports as circulated with the agenda for this 
meeting contain exempt information and should therefore be treated accordingly. 
They should not be disclosed or passed on to any other person(s).  Members are 
also reminded of the need to dispose of such reports carefully and are therefore 
invited to return them to the Committee Secretary at the conclusion of the meeting for 
disposal.

6. Substitute Members (Committee Meetings only)
Members are reminded that, in accordance with Standing Order 37, the Clerk (or his 
representative) must be advised of any substitution prior to the start of the meeting.  
Members are also reminded that substitutions are not permitted for full Authority 
meetings.

7. Other Attendance at Committees (Standing Order 38)
Any Authority Member wishing to attend a meeting of a Committee of which they are 
not a Member should contact the Democratic Services Officer (see “please ask for” 
on the front page of this agenda) in advance of the meeting to obtain details of the 
Webex meeting invitation.



DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY

16 December 2020 

Present:
Councillors Randall Johnson (Chair), Best, Biederman, Bown, Brazil, Buchan, Clayton, 
Coles, Colthorpe, Corvid, Drean, Hannaford, Healey MBE, Peart, Prowse, Radford, 
Redman, Saywell, Thomas, Trail BEM, Vijeh, Wheeler (Vice-Chair) and Yabsley.
Sue Mountstevens (Avon & Somerset Police & Crime Commissioner).

Apologies:
Councillors Eastman, Howgate and Napper.
Alison Hernandez (Devon & Cornwall Police & Crime Commissioner).

DSFRA/60  Councillor Ian Doggett
Prior to the formal commencement of the meeting, the Authority observed one 
minute’s silence as a mark of respect for Councillor Ian Doggett who had died 
recently. Councillor Doggett was a Torbay Council appointee who had served 
on the Authority since May 2019.

DSFRA/61 Minutes
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 23 October 2020 be 
approved as a correct record.

DSFRA/62  Minutes of Committees
a Community Safety & Corporate Planning Committee
The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Redman, MOVED the Minutes of the 
meeting held on 14 October 2020 which had considered:

 a report on progress with the “Safer Together” Programme; and

 a report on progress by the Service in addressing recommendations 
from the Grenfell Phase 1 Inquiry.

RESOLVED that the Minutes be adopted in accordance with Standing Orders.

b Human Resources Management & Development Committee
The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Hannaford, MOVED the Minutes of 
the meeting held on 21 October 2020 which had considered:

 a report on the health, safety and well-being of the Devon & Somerset 
Fire & Rescue Service for the period April to September 2020;

 a report on progress with implementing the Service’s People Strategy;

 a request for retirement and re-employment; and

 a proposed response to the government’s consultation on reforming 
local government exit payments. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



RESOLVED that the Minutes be adopted in accordance with Standing Orders.

c Audit & Performance Review Committee
The Chair of the Committee, Councillor Healey MBE, MOVED the Minutes of 
the meeting held on 19 November 2020 which had considered:

 the external auditor’s (Grant Thornton) finding for the Authority’s 2019-
20 financial statements;

 the Authority’s final statement of accounts for the 2019-20 financial 
year;

 the 2019-20 Letter of Representation to accompany the financial 
statements;

 a report on progress against the approved internal audit plan for 2019-
20;

 a report on the performance of the Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue 
Service during April to September 2020 against approved corporate 
measures; and

 a review of corporate measures for performance reporting externally.
RESOLVED that the Minutes be adopted in accordance with Standing Orders.

DSFRA/63  "Safer Together" Programme - Update on Implementation of Service 
Delivery Operating Model (SDOM) Decisions
The Authority considered a report of the Chief Fire Officer (DSFRA/20/20) on 
progress in implementing those proposals linked to the Service Delivery 
Operating Model (SDOM). The proposals had been approved, following a 
twelve-week public consultation, at the Authority extraordinary meeting held 
on 10 January 2020 (Minute DSFRA/32 refers). The report outlined the 
progress against the following:

 deferral of day crewing at Barnstaple, Exmouth and Paignton 
(dependent on agreement with the Fire Brigades Union on the 
introduction of a revised 24/7 crewing model). Introduction of a new 
crewing model had in part been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic 
but in the meantime the Service had recruited 34 firefighters on new 
contracts to provide the flexibility required and a further external 
recruitment process would be undertaken in 2021;

 closure of Budleigh Salterton fire station. This had been completed;

 relocation of Topsham fire station. This had been completed and 
options for community use of the station to be disposed of were being 
explored;

 replacement of third appliances at Bridgwater, Taunton, Torquay and 
Yeovil. This was due for completion in January 2021 and had been 
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic;

Page 2



 removal of second appliances from Crediton, Lynton, Martock and 
Totnes. Martock and Totnes was completed at the end of March 2020; 
Crediton and Lynton in October 2020; and 

 introduction of variable fire engine availability dependent on risk. This 
was dependent on the introduction of Pay for Availability. Eleven 
stations in total had been identified for this, with two risk-dependent 
stations having transitioned in October 2020, with third planned for 
January 2021. The remaining eight stations would transfer at the same 
time as moving to Pay for Availability.

The following issues were covered during discussion of this item:

 latent capacity from wholetime stations would be used to crew roving 
appliances. Roving appliances would be sited on a dynamic, risk 
assessment basis using software developed externally but which was 
being refined to reflect the priorities in the Authority’s Integrated Risk 
Management Plan. The roving appliances would be used for prevention 
and protection work (which in turn could be aligned to Service seasonal 
campaigns) but could also be used to augment incident response as 
required;

 the ultimate Service vision was for all on-call staff to eventually have 
migrated to the Pay for Availability system, which it was considered 
offered enhanced reward for availability, greater flexibility for staff and 
could assist in promoting the Service’s diversity agenda. It would also 
result in more robust service provision, aligning resources to risk.

RESOLVED
(a). that the progress as outlined in report DSFRA/20/20 in implementing 

the Service Delivery Operating Model decisions approved by the 
Authority on 10 January 2020 be noted; and

(b). that the Authority welcomes the progress made on the introduction 
of the Pay for Availability system and thanks the officers and 
firefighters for their work on the wider adoption of this important 
initiative.

DSFRA/64 Confirmation of Members' Allowances Scheme 2021-22
The Authority considered a report of the Director of Governance & Digital 
Services (DSFRA/20/21) on the approved Scheme of Members’ Allowances 
to operate for the 2021-22 financial year.
RESOLVED

(a). that the rates of basic and special responsibility allowances to be 
payable during the 2021-22 financial year, as set out in Table 1 of 
Section 2 of report DSFRA/20/21, be approved, subject to any 
automatic annual uprating as provided for by the Scheme;

Page 3



(b). that the Special Responsibility Allowance payable in 2021-22 to 
Authority-appointed non-executive directors on the Board of Red 
One Ltd. be set at the current level of £6,305, consistent with the 
rationale set out at paragraph 3.11 of the report, subject to any 
automatic annual uprating as provided for by the Scheme

(c). that the rates of co-optees allowances to be payable during the 
2021-22 financial year, as set out in paragraph 4.1 of the report, be 
approved;

(d). that the co-optees allowances be automatically uprated, annually, in 
accordance with any proposal agreed by the National Joint Council 
for Local Government Services (“the green book”) and that the Clerk 
to the Authority be authorised to amend the approved Scheme 
accordingly;

(e). that the rates of reimbursement for travel and subsistence 
allowances to apply for 2021-22 as set out in paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 
of the report be approved; and

(f). that the Clerk to the Authority be authorised to publicise details of 
the Scheme as confirmed above one or more local newspapers 
circulating in the area served by the Authority.

DSFRA/65 Exclusion of the Press and Public
RESOLVED that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the press and public (with the exception of those
representatives of the Board of Red One Ltd.) be excluded from the meeting 
for the following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A (as amended) to the Act, namely information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of any particular person – including the authority 
holding that information.

DSFRA/66 Red One Ltd. Update
(An item taken in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 during which the press and public were excluded from the meeting).
(Councillors Saywell and Thomas each declared a personal, non-pecuniary 
interest in this item by virtue of being Authority-appointed non-executive 
directors on the Board of Red One Ltd.).
The Authority received, for information, a verbal report from the Independent 
Board Chair and the co-Chief Executives on the operation of Red One Ltd. 
(“the company”) during 2020-21. As with other private businesses, the 
COVID-19 pandemic had impacted significantly on the company but despite 
this it was projected that it would realise a profit for the 2020-21 financial year. 

Page 4



Given the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the company had (along with 
many other businesses), moved its annual financial reporting to March 2021. 
This would allow for certainty in relation to a number of contract areas still in 
play. The final accounting position would be reported to the Authority via an 
Annual General Meeting in 2021. In the meantime, the Resources Committee 
would continue (in accordance with its terms of reference) to monitor progress 
with the company, which also maintained close and regular reporting links 
with the Authority Treasurer.
The recently-awarded contract relating to Hinkley Point C was progressing 
well, with very positive feedback having been received from the employer. 
The company had been awarded a number of additional task orders under the 
contract and one of the co-Chief Executives has been seconded, temporarily, 
as incident response lead for the Hinkley C site. The Authority was also 
advised of other contractual successes by the company. 

The Meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 12.56 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



COMMUNITY SAFETY & CORPORATE PLANNING COMMITTEE
(Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority)

11 December 2020 

Present:
Councillors Redman (Chair), Colthorpe, Corvid, Eastman (Vice-Chair), Radford and 
Trail BEM.

Also in attendance in accordance with Standing Order 38:
Councillors Randall Johnson and Wheeler.

* CSCPC/12 Minutes
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2020 be 
approved as a correct record.

* CSCPC/13 Safer Together Programme Update
The Committee received, for information, a report of the Director of Service 
Improvement (CSCPC/20/6) on progress with the Service “Safer Together” 
Programme. The Programme had four key workstreams, namely:

1. the Service Delivery Operating Model (SDOM);
2. Fleet and Equipment (replacement);
3. Data and Digital Transformation; and
4. People Development.

The Service Delivery Operating Model (SDOM) workstream comprised a 
number of strands aligned to decisions made by the Authority, following a 12 
week public consultation, at its extraordinary meeting on 10 January 2020 
(Minute DSFRA/32 refers). The report outlined progress made against each of 
the following strands:

 deferral of day crewing at Barnstaple, Exmouth and Paignton 
(dependent on agreement with the Fire Brigades Union on the 
introduction of a revised 24/7 crewing model). Introduction of a new 
crewing model had in part been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic 
but in the meantime the Service had recruited 34 firefighters on new 
contracts to provide the flexibility required and a further external 
recruitment process would be undertaken in 2021;

 closure of Budleigh Salterton fire station. This had been completed;

 relocation of Topsham fire station. This was being progressed with 
options for community use of the station to be disposed of being 
explored;

Page 7

Agenda Item 7a



 replacement of third appliances at Bridgwater, Taunton, Torquay and 
Yeovil. This was due for completion in January 2021 and had been 
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic;

 removal of second appliances from Crediton, Lynton, Martock and 
Totnes. Martock and Totnes was completed at the end of March 2020; 
Crediton and Lynton in October 2020; and 

 introduction of variable fire engine availability dependent on risk. This 
was dependent on the introduction of Pay for Availability (P4A). 11 
stations in total had been identified for this, with two risk-dependent 
stations having transitioned in October 2020, with third planned for 
January 2021. The remaining 8 stations would transfer at the same 
time as moving to P4A.

The Fleet and Equipment workstream had seen progress with medium rescue 
pump replacement (with the first batch of vehicles expected in Spring 2021), 
receipt of all-terrain vehicles (ATVs), anticipated to be in service in January to 
February 2021, and Phase 1 of the project to upgrade the functionality of the 
Service fleet management system. 
The Management of Risk Information (MORI) project was now being 
progressed as part of the Data and Digital Transformation workstream, 
together with transformation of the Service’s data architecture to ensure a 
consistent approach across all operational areas.
The People Development workstream was focussed on access to a 
performance toolkit to record evidence of staff progression and a review of the 
existing promotion processes and structure, with a number of development 
“talent pools” being established for uniformed and non-uniformed staff seeking 
progression.
In debating this report, the following points were raised:

 that, for future reports, a simplified “RAG” rating to indicate progress 
against each of the workstreams would be helpful;

 that Authority Members may find it helpful to receive an information 
briefing on the principles behind and usage of roving appliances;

 that, while developmental opportunities to date had in the main been 
identified by one-to-one line management meetings informing personal 
and professional development (PPD), moving forwards it was intended 
that the introduction of the new performance framework would facilitate 
the use of more quantitative data and analysis of subsequent 
effectiveness.

* CSCPC/14  Grenfell Recommendations Progress Report
The Committee received, for information, a report of the Director of Service 
Delivery (CSCPC/20/7) on progress by the Service in implementing 
recommendations from the Grenfell Phase 1 Inquiry and use of additional 
grant funding.

Page 8



Some 26 of the Grenfell recommendations applied to the fire sector including the 
Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Service (“the Service”). The report indicated that 8 
of these were completed. Of the 26 ongoing, 18 were due to be completed by the 
end of December 2020, with the remainder to be completed by 1 April 2021. There 
were no high-rise residential properties with aluminium composite material (ACM) 
cladding in the Service area. Cladding had been removed from the three Devonport 
Towers in Plymouth and had been fitted with sprinklers and a full evacuation system. 
As such, they were now designated as “low risk” by the National Fire Protection 
Board. Within the Service area there were 172 buildings meeting the high-rise 
definition for operational planning and response. These buildings included residential, 
student accommodation, hotels and others.
The Service had received grant funding totalling £455,125 to support the outcomes of 
Grenfell in addition to general improvements in fire safety standards and outcomes 
as follows:

 Building Risk Review Programme (£60,000);

 Protection Uplift Programme Grant (£256,909); and

 Grenfell Infrastructure Fund (£138,216).
The Building Risk Review Programme had been developed by the National Fire 
Chiefs’ Council (NFCC) to support the Fire Protection Board in reviewing fire safety 
arrangements for all “in scope” high rise residential buildings over 18 metres by 
December 2021. The Service had identified a multi-disciplinary team (protection; 
prevention; risk; communication and engagement) and developed an action plan to 
deliver the programme for the 89 buildings identified in the Service area. To date, 21 
of these buildings had been inspected, with the remainder to be addressed by 
September 2021. 
In response to a question, the Director of Service Delivery advised that none of the 
buildings inspected to date had any composite cladding albeit that there could be 
other, “hidden”, construction issues that were within the building engineering rather 
than fire service remit at present. Progression of the Building Safety Bill could, 
however, see the introduction of a new compliance regime.
In response to other issues raised during the debate, the Director of Service Delivery 
also advised:

 that the Service was a statutory consultee only for building developments. 
There was, however, the opportunity for Members to promote fire safety 
issues while discharging their roles (e.g. planning) at constituent authorities. 
Members commented that, in this respect, the provision of appropriate 
awareness of fire safety issues to planning committees might be beneficial;

 that a dynamic risk assessment existed for individual buildings to inform the 
most appropriate way of responding to an incident. While early evacuation 
would always be a high priority, this would need to be achieved as safely as 
possible. The Service adhered to NFCC guidance in this area.

The report identified that the Protection Uplift funding was for use in bolstering fire 
protection capability and delivery in line with the locally-agreed Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (IRMP) and risk-based inspection programmes. The funding could 
be used for a range of associated issues such as upskilling of operational staff and 
hardware acquisitions (e.g. tablets and body cameras). The Service was developing 
an action plan to provide increased numbers of Building Safety Officers alongside 
increasing qualifications for existing staff. Further details would be submitted to the 
Committee in due course.

Page 9



Some 319 smoke-hoods and associated equipment had been purchased using 
Grenfell Infrastructure funding. The smoke-hoods would be used to complement 
other Service activities to secure, where required, safe evacuations from premises. 

* DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT

The Meeting started at 10.15 am and finished at 11.27 am

Page 10



HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
(Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority)

14 December 2020 

Present:
Councillors Hannaford (Chair), Clayton, Peart, Thomas and Wheeler

Apologies:
Councillors Best and Vijeh

* HRMDC/17  Minutes

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2020 be 
approved as a correct record.

* HRMDC/18  Gender Pay Gap 2020

The Committee received for information a report of the Deputy Chief Fire 
Officer (HRMDC/20/5) that set out the latest iteration of the Service’s Gender 
Pay Gap Report for 2020 which had to be published in accordance with the 
provisions in the Equalities Act 2010 by 31 March 2021.
It was noted that the gender pay gap showed the difference between the 
average (mean or median) earnings of men and women. This was expressed 
as a percentage of men’s earnings. Used to its full potential, gender pay gap 
reporting was a valuable tool for assessing levels of equality in the workplace, 
female and male participation and how effectively talent was being 
maximised.  The Service data for 2020 indicated a mean gender a gap in 
favour of male staff of 8.3% down from 11.6% in 2019 as compared with the 
position for the whole of the UK which was a 15.5% gender pay gap. The 
median pay gap also indicated that there was pay disparity in typical rates of 
pay between male workers and female workers of 9.9%, down from 11.8% in 
2019.  This continued the steady decrease in the gender pay gap which had 
been achieved since 2018.  
Reference was made in particular to the action being taken by the Service to 
address the gender pay gap.  This included:

 giving careful consideration to the make-up of moderating and interview 
panels for every recruitment and promotion process;

 the introduction of an anonymous application process for certain 
vacancies;

 the introduction of support networks for Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic (BAME) and disabled staff;

 a more flexible On Call duty system which will allow for more people to 
consider the role;

 continuing to challenge the national fitness testing requirements and 
researching the impact on different groups of staff;

Page 11

Agenda Item 7b



 the implementation of unconscious bias training to raise awareness 
around bias affecting recruitment and progression decisions;

 the introduction of ‘inclusive leadership’ into role development; and

 Commencement of a sponsorship programme for aspiring middle 
management women.

The question was raised as to the Service’s approach to reducing 
occupational segregation.  The Deputy Chief Fire Officer replied that there 
was a lot of work being undertaken on this both nationally at the National Fire 
Chiefs Council with the promotion of women role models and also locally.  In 
Devon and Somerset, the Service was striving to show women in its 
recruitment advertising campaigns and positive action, amongst other things. 
Reference was made to the ethnicity pay gap, the reporting of which was 
voluntary.  This was calculated as the difference between the mean and 
median hourly earnings of the reference group (White or White British) and 
other ethnic groups as a proportion of average hourly earnings of the 
reference group.  The Deputy Chief Fire Officer drew attention to a slight 
amendment in the figures set out in the report circulated at paragraph 5.1.  
The Service’s workforce consisted of 2.6% BAME i.e. non-white/ non-British 
staff. The Control staff group had the highest diversity in that respect with 
5.2%, although ‘Not stated’ and ’prefer not to say’ is highest at 9.6% in that 
group as well.  Breaking the Non-White group down into specific ethnic 
backgrounds led to group sizes with less than 5 people. The Service decided 
that this would not be statistically relevant and it could identify individuals 
therefore it would not be in line with data protection legislation. Therefore, only 
White/Non White and White/Mixed figures have been quoted.  For the 
Service, this showed a mean white/non-white pay gap of 11.3% and a median 
pay gap of 8%.  The report also set out the pay gap figures for each category 
of staff – wholetime, Control, On Call and Support.   The ethnicity pay gap is 
mainly impacted by:

 In the group with the most diversity, BAME employees were mainly 
occupying middle management roles (grades 4-9);

 In the group who most affects the pay gap, Wholetime and On Call, 
76% of BAME staff were at Firefighter level; and

 Most of BAME staff in the uniformed group are in On Call, where Watch 
Manager was the highest role/pay level.

The Deputy Chief Fire Officer advised the Committee that the Integrated Risk 
Management Plan was to be re-named the Community Risk Management 
Plan in future.  The review of this document, which was due within the next 18 
months, would result in a substantial amount of engagement with 
communities in Devon and Somerset which could only assist the Service in its 
future service delivery improvements. 

*DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT

The Meeting started at 10.05 am and finished at 10.55 am

Page 12



RESOURCES COMMITTEE (Budget Meeting)
(Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority)

10 February 2021 

Present:
Councillors Drean (Chair), Coles (Vice-Chair), Biederman, Peart, Radford, Wheeler and 
Yabsley

In attendance:
Councillors Randall John (Authority Chair) and Saywell – in accordance with Standing 
Order 38(1)

* RC/37  Minutes
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2020 be 
approved as a correct record.

RC/38  2021-22 Revenue Budget and Council Tax Level
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing 
(Treasurer) and Chief Fire Officer) (RC/21/1) on options for the Authority’s 
Revenue Budget and associated Council Tax level in 2021-22.  It was a 
legislative requirement for the Authority to set a balanced budget and 
determine an associated Council Tax level prior to 1 March each year and this 
report set out the necessary financial background on which to consider the 
appropriate way forward.
The Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer) referred to the report and 
indicated that the Council Tax referendum limit had been set by the Minister 
for Housing and Local Government at 2% for 2021-22. It was noted that there 
had been a slight increase in the grant made under the Settlement Funding 
Assessment (SFA) of 0.016% for 2021-22 amounting to an additional 
£0.035m of funding available to the Authority but this was in the face of 
reductions in settlement of 24% since 2015-16.  Separate grants would be 
allocated to compensate for the loss of council tax and business rates due to 
the Covid-19 pandemic and these were presented as income in the report. 
The options set out within the report had been prepared on the basis of the 
need to use budget smoothing reserves to balance the budget with £0.362m 
of savings already identified.  Option A required a greater input from reserves 
to fill the budget deficit.
Reference was made at this point to supporting reform of the Service through 
maintaining investment in the Pay for Availability system at £1.422m which 
was half of the annual cost if all stations decided to take part.  A request was 
made elsewhere on the agenda for this meeting to earmark funding from the 
2020-21 revenue funding underspend to cover the cost in 2021-22 should 
more stations wish to transition to the new system than budgeted for.  The 
Committee was also asked to consider a request to increase investment in 
2021-22 to cover the cost of an additional 12 Firefighter posts to increase 
establishment temporarily for 3 years to support strategic workforce planning 
in the event of short notice retirements.

Page 13

Agenda Item 7c



The revised core budget requirement for the Authority emanating from the 
overall decrease in funding was £74.222m (based on Option B, a Council Tax 
increase of 1.99%). This option did not require any cuts or additional funding 
to be identified in order that a balanced budget could be set. The options 
recommended in the report for consideration by the Committee in setting the 
level of Council Tax in 2021-22 were:

 Option A – freeze council tax at 2020-21 level (£88.24 for a Band D 
property); or

 Option B – increase council tax by 1.99% above 2020-21 (an increase 
of £1.74 per annum to £90.00 for a Band D property).

Councillor Coles MOVED (seconded by Councillor Drean):
“that it be recommended to the Authority that the level of Council Tax 
in2021-22 for a Band D property be set at £90.00, as outlined in Option 
B,representing a 1.99% increase over 2020-21, and that an additional 
£0.415m of funding be made available to fund an additional 12 
development firefighter posts”.

Upon a vote, (6 for, 1 against) this was CARRIED whereupon it was
RESOLVED

(a). that it be recommended to the Authority that the level of Council Tax 
in 2021-22 for a Band D property be set at £90.00, as outlined in 
Option B of report RC/21/1, representing a 1.99% increase over 
2020-21;

(b). that, as a consequence of the decisions at (a) above:
(i). the tax base for payment purposes and the precept 

requiredfrom each billing authority for payment of total 
precept of £54,849,642 (Option B), as detailed on Page 2 of 
the respective budget booklet, be approved;

(ii). the council tax for each property bands A to H associated with 
the total precept as detailed in the budget booklet for option B 
be approved; and

(iii). that the Treasurer’s ‘Statement of the Robustness of the  
Budget Estimates and the Adequacy of the Authority Reserve 
Balances’, as set out at Appendix B to report RC/21/1, be 
endorsed.

(c). That the funding of £0.415m be made available within Option B to 
support the funding of an additional 12 Firefighter development 
posts in 2021-22.

(NOTE:  In accordance with Standing Order 25(3), Councillor Biederman 
requested that his vote against the above decision be recorded).

Page 14



RC/39  Capital Strategy
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing
(Treasurer) (RC/21/2) that set out the proposed Capital Strategy prepared as 
a result of a requirement within the 2017 Prudential Code for all local 
authorities.
It was noted that the Strategy provided a high level overview of how capital
expenditure and the way it was financed contributed to the provision of 
services within Devon and Somerset. It also gave an overview of how the 
associated risk was managed and the implications for the future financial 
sustainability of the Authority.
The Strategy also provided the requisite governance for approval and 
monitoring of capital expenditure.
RESOLVED that the Authority be recommended to endorse the Capital 
Strategy as set out within report RC/21/2.

RC/40  Capital Programme 2021-22 to 2023-24
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing
(Treasurer) (RC/20/3) that set out the proposals for a three year Capital 
Programme covering the years 2021-22 to 2023-24. The report outlined the 
difficulties in meeting the full capital expenditure requirements for this 
Authority given the number of fire stations, fire appliances and associated 
equipment required to be maintained and eventually replaced.
It was noted that the Capital Programme had been constructed on the basis of
ensuring that borrowing was maintained below the 5% ratio of financial cost to 
net revenue stream, one of several Prudential Indicators previously agreed by 
the Authority. The revised programme had been prepared on the basis that 
increased revenue contribution to capital would be limited in future years to 
the amount saved from reductions in borrowing.  There would be significant 
pressure in future years, however, with an emerging gap between the costs of 
maintaining the new asset base and an affordable capital programme based 
on the utilisation of revenue contributions, existing borrowing and the capital 
reserve.
RESOLVED that the Authority at its budget meeting on 19 February 2021 be
recommended to:

(a). approve the draft Capital Programme 2021-22 to 2023-24 and 
associated Prudential Indicators, as detailed in the report and 
summarised at Appendices A and B respectively to report RC/21/3; 
and

(b). note, subject to (a) above, the forecast impact of the proposed 
Capital Programme (from 2024-25 onwards) on the 5% debt ratio 
Prudential Indicator as indicated in this report.

Page 15



RC/41  Medium Term Financial Plan
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing
(RC/21/4) that set out the proposed Medium Term Financial Plan for this 
Authority in accordance with the requirements set out within the Fire & 
Rescue National Framework for England (2018).
The Plan outlined funding, income and expenditure forecasts for the Authority 
for the next five financial years (to 2025-26) together with details of how the 
forecasts were constructed (including funding sources and expenditure/cost 
pressures).
RESOLVED that the Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority be 
recommended to endorse the Medium Financial Plan for publication as 
appended to report R/21/4.

RC/42  Treasury Management Strategy (including Prudential and Treasury 
Indicators) Report 2021-22
NB.  Adam Burleton, representing Link Asset Services, was in attendance for 
this item.
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing
(Treasurer) (RC/21/5) in respect of the Treasury Management Strategy and 
Annual Investment 
The report set out the proposed Treasury Management Strategy and 
Investment Strategy for 2021-22, including the Prudential Indicators 
associated with the capital programme for 2021-22 to 2023-24 considered 
elsewhere on the agenda of this meeting. A Minimum Revenue Provision 
Statement for 2021-22 was also included for approval.
RESOLVED that the Authority be recommended to approve:

(a) The expansion of its approved counter parties to include subsidiary 
entities but the terms and conditions of any such arrangement be  
reserved to the Authority;

(b) the Treasury Management Strategy and the Annual Investment 
Strategy for 2021-22; and

(c) the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement for 2021-22, as 
contained at Appendix B of report RC/21/5.

* RC/43  Treasury Management Performance 2020-21: Quarters 2 and 3
NB.  Adam Burleton, representing Link Asset Services, was in attendance for 
this item.
The Committee received for information a report of the Director of Finance &
Resourcing (Treasurer) (RC/21/6) that set out details of the treasury 
management performance for the second and third quarters of 2020-21 (to 
December 2020) as compared to the agreed targets for 2020-21 in 
compliance with the Chartered institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice.

Page 16



Adam Burleton gave an overview of the Service’s performance to date against 
the approved Treasury Management Strategy and made reference to the 
following points:

 The Bank of England forecast that the UK economy may recover to 
reach its pre-pandemic level in quarter 1 of 2022 may be optimistic 
given the impact of the third lockdown and the point that economic 
output had shrunk in the UK by about 10%;

 Monetary policy would remain unchanged until there was clear 
evidence that any spare capacity in the economy had been eliminated;

 It was expected that inflation may peak at just over 2% towards the end 
of 2021 but this was expected to be a temporary, short lived factor and 
so was not a concern;

 The bank rate was envisaged to remain the same until March 2024 
even if inflation moved above the 2% inflationary target set;

 The level of unemployment in the UK had been mitigated by the current 
Government Furlough Scheme but this could rise above 7% once this 
ended;

 Further quantitative easing had been undertaken to £895bn and 
national debt was now at £2tn so there was a risk that the UK 
sovereign rating may be down rated in due course.  The Covid 
vaccinations were expected to be successful, however, so the market 
should improve as a result;

 There had been no change to the Authority’s investment strategy which 
remained focused as security and liquidity of its assets over yield;

 The Authority had outperformed the three month LIBID benchmark in 
quarters 2 and 3 of 2020-21 with a return of 0.33% in Quarter 2 and 
0.20% in Quarter 3 and investment interest of £0.080m; and

 There had been no new borrowing and the Authority had not breached 
its Prudential Indicators (affordability limits).

RC/44  Financial Performance report 2020-21: Quarters 2 and 3
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Finance & Resourcing
(Treasurer) (RC/20/7) that set out the Service’s financial performance during 
the second and third quarters of 2020-21 against the targets agreed for the 
current financial year. The report provided a forecast of spending against the 
2020-21 revenue budget with explanation of the major variations.
The Committee noted that forecast spending by the year end would be 
£76.077m representing a saving of £1.2m, equivalent to 1.55% of the total 
budget. Reference was made to the proposed budget transfers set out at 
Tables 3 of the report which it was suggested should be transferred to an 
earmarked reserve to help offset future year costs.
The Head of Finance drew attention to an error in the figures reported within 
the report under the aged debt analysis at tables 7 and 8.  He advised the 
Committee of the correct figures which were as follows:

Page 17



Table 7 corrrections:
Total Value

£ %
Current (allowed 28 days in which to pay 
invoice) 82,172 8.64%

1 to 28 days overdue 82,294 8.65%
29-56 days overdue 0 0.00%
57-84 days overdue 0 0.00%
Over 85 days overdue 783,639 82.71%
Total Debt Outstanding as at 31 
December 2020 948,105 100.00%

Table 8 corrections
No. Total Value Action Taken

Red One Ltd. 45 £770,104 A repayment plan has 
been agreed with the 
subsidiary company 
following its revised 
business plan, however 
this is on hold due to the 
cancellation of courses 
due to COVID.

Various 14 £13,534 Invoices with small 
debtors are being chased 
using standard 
procedures and pursued 
with our debt recovery 
officer where appropriate.

RESOLVED
(a) That the budget transfers shown in Table 3 of report RC/21/7 (and 

as set out below for ease of reference) be recommended to the 
Authority for approval;

(b) That the monitoring position in relation to projected spending against 
the 2020-21 revenue and capital budgets be noted; and

Line Description Debit Credit
Ref £m £m

To fund Pay for Availability in future years which has been delayed in 2020-21 - see paragrpah 3.1
1 Decrease Service Delivery staff (1.442)

36 Create Earmarked Reserve to help fund future year costs 1.442

1.442 (1.442)

Page 18



(c)That the performance against the 2020-21 financial targets be noted.

* RC/45  Exclusion of the Press and Public
RESOLVED that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the press and public (with the exception of the Officers 
of Red One Ltd. and Councillors Saywell and Thomas [Authority appointed 
Non-Executive Directors on the Board of Red One Ltd.]) be excluded from the 
meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that they involved 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A (as amended) to the Act, namely information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of any particular person – including the authority 
holding that information.

* RC/46  Restricted Minutes of Resources Committee held on 12 October 2020
(An item taken in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 during which the press and public {with the exception of the Officers 
of Red One Ltd. and Councillors Saywelll and Thomas – Authority appointed 
Non-Executive Directors on the Board of Red One Ltd.) were excluded from 
the meeting).
NB. Councillors Saywell and Thomas were present for this item in a non-
voting capacity as Non-Executive Directors of Red One Ltd. (in support of Dr 
Sian George) but did not speak.
RESOLVED that the Restricted Minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 
2020 be approved as a correct record.

* RC/47  Red One Ltd. Financial Performance 2020-21: Quarters 2 and 3
(An item taken in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 during which the press and public [with the exception of the Officers 
of Red One Ltd. and Councillors Saywell and Thomas [Authority appointed 
Non-Executive Directors on the Board of Red One Ltd.]) were excluded from 
the meeting).
NB. Councillors Saywell and Thomas were present for this item in a non-
voting capacity as Non-Executive Directors of Red One Ltd. (in support of Dr 
Sian George) and left the room during voting on this item.
The Committee considered a report of the Officers of Red One Ltd.) (RC/21/8) 
on the financial performance of Red One Ltd. in quarters 2 and 3 of 2020-21.
RESOLVED that the recommendations as set out within report RC/21/7 be 
approved.

* DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT

The Meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 1.03 pm

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



REPORT REFERENCE 
NO.

DSFRA/21/1

MEETING DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY (Budget 
Meeting)

DATE OF MEETING 19 FEBRUARY 2021

SUBJECT OF REPORT MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

LEAD OFFICER Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer)

RECOMMENDATIONS That, as recommended by the Resources Committee (budget 
meeting) on 10 February 2021, the Authority endorses the 
Medium Term Financial Plan as appended to this report.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY The requirement to produce and publish a Medium Term Financial 
Plan is included in the current iteration of the Fire & Rescue 
National Framework for England.
The document now attached outlines funding, income and 
expenditure forecasts for the Authority for the next five financial 
years (to 2025-26).  The Plan identifies how the financial forecast 
is constructed (including funding sources and expenditure/cost 
pressures) together with savings targets over the period covered 
and the Change & Improvement Programme (Safer Together) 
which will be the principal vehicle for delivering these savings.
As such, the Medium Term Financial Plan should be considered 
alongside the Safer Together Programme (which aims to deliver 
against those objectives in the community-facing Integrated Risk 
Management Plan and organisation-facing Fire & Rescue Plan) 
and the Reserves Strategy.  
The Medium Term Financial Plan will be updated at least annually 
as part of the budget setting process and will be refreshed more 
frequently as soon as any information making a material difference 
becomes available. 
This report was initially considered by the Resources Committee 
at its budget meeting on 10 February 2021 which resolved to 
recommend that the Authority endorse the Medium Term Financial 
Plan.

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS

As set out in the Medium Term Financial Plan appended to this 
report.

EQUALITY RISKS AND 
BENEFITS ANALYSIS 

The contents of this report are considered compatible with existing 
Equalities and Human Rights legislation.

APPENDICES A. Medium Term Financial Plan

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

1 Fire & Rescue Plan
2 Integrated Risk Management Plan
3 Report RC/19/10 (Reserves Strategy 2019-20) to the 

Resources Committee meeting on 15 May 2019, together 
with the Minutes of that meeting and the Minutes of the 
Authority Ordinary Meeting held on 7 June 2019

4 Fire & Rescue National Framework for England 2018

Page 22



APPENDIX A TO REPORT DSFRA/21/1
DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY MEDIUM-TERM 
FINANCIAL PLAN 2021-22
Introduction
The Devon & Somerset Fire& Rescue Authority (the Authority) covers a diverse 
geographical area across two counties; with large towns and cities, market towns 
and isolated rural areas together with major roads and two extensive lengths of 
coastline.  The current budget of £74.2m is used to resource 83 fire stations, 112 fire 
engines in addition to numerous special appliances. Around 1,800 staff deliver fire 
prevention and protection activity, respond to emergency calls and incidents and 
provide professional support functions. The Authority is progressing an ambitious 
change programme which will realign resources and make a significant investment in 
our On Call service. The COVID-19 pandemic is already increasing pressure on 
public service finances and its impacts are likely to be felt for some years to come.

This document is the Medium Term Financial Plan and outlines funding, income and 
expenditure forecasts for the next five years. The Medium Term Financial Plan will 
be updated annually as part of the budget setting process and will be refreshed more 
frequently if information which makes a material difference becomes available. 
Understanding the Authority’s finances is really important when making decisions 
about the future and this document should be read alongside the Authority’s Fire and 
Rescue Plan, Integrated Risk Management Plan, Safer Together Programme and 
Reserves Strategy.
Funding and Income
The Authority has three main sources of revenue funding; Council Tax Precept, 
National Non-Domestic Rates Scheme and Revenue Support Grant. Additionally, 
income from one-off grants, recharges and services is offset against our expenditure 
in order to reach the “net revenue budget” in each year.

Page 23



Building the Medium Term Financial Forecast
Planning for different scenarios: The forecasts in this document represent a “base 
case” scenario which has been built on the latest information from government, 
sector knowledge and experience of finance officers.  “Worst case” and “best case” 
scenarios are also developed to show the impact of various funding and cost 
pressures:

 In the Worst case; government grants are cut, pay and inflation see a steep 
increase, additional pensions costs arise, Council Tax is frozen and the base 
continues to shrink as a result of COVID-19.

 In the Best case; government grants, pay and inflation remain steady, pension 
costs are funded and Council Tax is increased every year, with the council tax 
base achieving growth post pandemic.

 In the Base case, which is presented here; government grants rise with inflation, 
pay and inflation remain steady, pension costs are minimal and Council Tax 
losses are minimised. This is what we consider to be the most likely scenario.

 The Base case is presented to the Authority with options over Council Tax and 
where savings targets are fed back into the budget setting process each year.

Page 24



The range of scenarios presented in the chart above demonstrates that the savings 
gap (the difference between funding and costs) could vary from a deficit of £17.3m to 
a benefit of £3.8m over the next five years. The base case £7.2m gap) represents 
the most likely scenario and informs the Medium Term Financial Plan. Because the 
Plan is reviewed annually, variations can be built in and projections are refined at 
regular intervals, short term exceptions can also be smoothed out using reserves.
Funding: When building the five year forecast, assumptions are made about each of 
the funding sources and how they may change in the coming years. A range of 
scenarios can then be used to calculate the anticipated funding available. The 
Authority only has direct control over the level of Council Tax raised each year and 
the following graph shows the impact on funding of maximum raises against no 
increases, which could amount to a difference of £5.6m over the next five years.

Page 25



Expenditure: Assumptions are also made about forecast expenditure. The Authority 
can control some of its costs by managing its budget effectively; other elements are 
dependent on national drivers such as inflation, superannuation (pension) costs and 
pay awards. Expenditure is shown in the chart below and highlights that 75.5% of 
our costs are related to employees, meaning that increases in this area can have a 
significant impact on the budget. The Capital Programme is also paid for through 
Revenue funds; a combination of money set aside to pay for historic borrowing, 
budget provision to fund future capital expenditure and Reserves designated for 
Capital Use.

Cost Pressures: The medium term financial forecast identifies the following cost 
pressures within the next five years which are added to the current budget to reach 
the future budget requirement:

 Pay increases

 Inflation

 Pension increases

 Reduction to one-off grant income

 Capital investment

Page 26



Savings targets and the Safer Together Programme
The chart above shows the gap between potential funding available versus the 
budget requirement, including cost pressures. This is known as the funding gap. 
Over five years the funding gap could reach £12.8m if Council Tax is frozen, falling 
to £7.2m if increased in line with assumed referendum limits set by HM Treasury.

The Authority has an excellent history of achieving savings targets, with £13.9m 
saved over the five years to 2020/21 and also delivered in year savings which have 
been transferred to reserves. 

Given the big challenge posed by the funding gap and the need to reform the 
Service, plans have been approved to future proof the organisation and deliver 
budget savings. The Fire and Rescue Plan describes what needs to change (and 
why) and together with the Integrated Risk Management Plan this has informed the 
development of the Safer Together Programme. The changes to the Service Delivery 
Operating Model agreed in January 2020 represent an investment rather than any 
overall savings as a result of implementing On Call Pay for Availability. The 
programme is being resourced through reserves in particular the ‘invest to improve’ 
reserve, details of which can be found in the Reserves Strategy.

The initial focus of the programme was on the following four work streams.

 Service Delivery Operating Model 

 The Digital Strategy 

 Management of Fleet and Equipment

 Learning and Development

Meeting the funding gap
Following on from efforts to realign resources to risk, focus will now be placed on 
efficiency of the Service through:

Page 27



 Development of a revised Estates Strategy and rationalisation of buildings

 Smarter working and continued Digital Transformation

 Reviewing whether supporting functions are achieving value for money and 
exploring alternative delivery models

 Delivery of the Green DSFRS Environmental Strategy

 Exploring opportunities to improve the productivity of our staff and assets

Summary
The medium term financial forecast is indicating significant budget pressures over 
the next five year period and robust plans must be made to meet the challenge. The 
Service is progressing well with change plans and will need to identify further 
benefits within the next year to ensure longer term financial sustainability. In addition 
to savings realised from the Safer Together programme, ongoing work will be done 
to reduce costs through budget management, procurement, collaboration and 
efficiency reviews.

Page 28



Glossary and methodology for calculating assumptions
Council Tax Precept. Each household receives an annual Council Tax Bill which is 
made up of charges for various services such as County, Unitary, District and Parish 
Councils, Police and Fire. The charge is known as the Council Tax Precept and is 
determined by the Authority each year and is usually quoted as the amount for a 
Band D property. In Devon & Somerset there are 15 billing authorities made up of 
district and unitary councils and those bodies are responsible for sending out bills to 
households and collecting the money which is then paid over to the Authority.
Council Tax income received in each year is based on three elements and these 
are forecast separately:

 The amount of Council Tax Precept that each household pays is set by the 
Authority each year and in 2021/22 is subject to a maximum of 1.99% increase 
(any increase above that level would require a local referendum to be held).

 The number of households in the area (the Council Tax Base) which is estimated 
based on housing growth.

 The success of billing authorities in collecting their Council Tax; each authority 
will have a surplus or deficit on their collection fund, a proportion of which is 
passed on to the Authority (Council Tax Surplus/Deficit). NOTE: These figures 
have been impacted significantly due to COVID-19

National Non-Domestic Rates, also known as Business rates retention scheme, is 
made up of two elements; a proportion of business rates collected by billing 
authorities and paid directly to the Authority and a “Top-up grant” from central 
government which is intended to make up the difference between the Authority’s 
baseline funding and actual income (calculated by central government based on a 
proportion of total business rates funding across the fire sector).
National Non-Domestic Rates income received in each year is based on three 
elements and these are forecast separately:

 The amount of Business Rates Income 

 The success of billing authorities in collecting their Business Rates; each 
authority will have a surplus or deficit on their collection fund, a proportion of 
which is passed on to the Authority (Surplus/Deficit)

 The amount of Top-Up Grant due to the Authority which is notified by central 
government annually

Revenue Support Grant is received directly from central government and is based 
on the Settlement Funding Agreement which is determined based on analysis of 
spending requirement across English Fire Services. The Settlement Funding 
Agreement can be set annually or for a longer period. A one year settlement was 
made for 2021/22. Beyond that period assumptions have to be made as to the level 
of grant income to be received.

Page 29



Medium Term Financial 
Plan Assumptions 2021/22 2022/23

2023/2
4 2024/25 2025/26

Council Tax Precept 1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99% 1.99%
Council Tax Base -0.80% -1.00% -0.50% 1.00% 1.30%

Council Tax Surplus

-
140.74
%

100.00
%

-
50.00%

-
101.00
%

5000.00
%

National Non-Domestic Rates -2.89% -2.89% -2.10% 0.00% 0.00%
Revenue Support Grant 0.21% 1.20% 1.60% 1.70% 1.90%
Total Impact on net funding 
£m -0.2 0.4 1.2 2.2 2.4
Forecast funding with 
maximum Council Tax 
increases £m

77.1 77.4 78.6 80.8 83.2

Forecast funding with no 
Council Tax increase £m 

76.0 75.3 75.4 76.4 77.6

Section 31 Grants are made from central government and determined on an annual 
basis.  The biggest grants for the Authority are Small Business Rates Relief 
(reimbursement from the government for reduced business rates income), Rural 
Services and Transition Grants.
Grants, Reimbursements and Other Income. The Service undertakes a range of 
activities outside of its statutory duties, some of which are paid for by third parties. 
This can include Co-responding to Ambulance Service incidents, rent on our 
premises and running training courses.
Cost Pressures:
Pay Awards are subject to agreement by the relevant National Joint Council (pay 
bodies for public sector) and apply to English and Welsh Fire and Rescue 
Authorities. Pay awards are often agreed annually within the financial year they 
apply and are therefore subject to variation against the forecast. Assumptions are 
benchmarked against the Fire Sector at least annually.
Inflation. The Authority is responsible for funding inflationary increases’. The rate is 
set for pensions on an annual basis (0.7% for 2021/22) and prices for goods and 
services may fluctuate depending on the contract in place for purchasing them.
Superannuation. The Authority is responsible for paying employer pension 
contributions (also known as superannuation) which are based on a percentage of 
pensionable pay. There are several pension schemes for firefighters and support 
staff and the employer contribution percentage rates are determined every three 
years via an actuarial valuation. Superannuation currently accounts for around 20% 
of expenditure on employee costs so variations to rates can have a significant 
impact. Estimated increases are included in the Medium Term Financial Plan as a 
cost pressure.
Capital Programme. Significant purchases of assets costing £20,000 or more with a 
useful life beyond one year are classified as Capital expenditure. Can include 
purchasing vehicles and equipment, building new stations, extensions and major 
refurbishment, as well as ICT infrastructure.

Page 30



Medium Term Financial Plan 
Assumptions 

2021/2
2

2022/2
3

2023/2
4

2024/2
5

2025/2
6

Firefighter pay awards 0.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Support staff pay awards 0.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Inflation and Pensions 0.70% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Cost Pressures £m -0.2 3.1 5.1 2.5 2.1
Total Budget requirement £m 77.1 80.2 85.3 87.8 89.9

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT 
REFERENCE NO.

DSFRA/21/2

MEETING DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY 
(Budget Meeting) 

DATE OF MEETING 19 FEBRUARY 2021

SUBJECT OF 
REPORT

CAPITAL STRATEGY

LEAD OFFICER Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer)

RECOMMENDATION That, as recommended by the Resources Committee 
(budget meeting) on 10 February 2021, the Authority 
endorses the Capital Strategy as set out in this report.

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY

The 2017 Prudential Code included the requirement for all 
Local Authorities to produce an annual capital strategy that 
is agreed by the Members.   The capital strategy is a key 
document for the Authority and forms part of the financial 
planning arrangements, reflecting the priorities set out in 
the Fire & Rescue Plan and the Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy.  It provides a high level overview of how capital 
expenditure, and the way it is financed, contribute to the 
provision of services.  It also provides an overview of how 
associated risk is managed and the implications for future 
financial sustainability and sets out the governance process 
for approval and monitoring of capital expenditure.

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS

As indicated in the report.

EQUALITY IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

An initial assessment has not identified any equality issues 
emanating from this report.

APPENDICES Nil.

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Prudential Code 2017

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Prudential Code 2017 included a new requirement for local authorities to 
produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are taken in line with the Service objectives and take 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and 
affordability.

1.2. The capital strategy is a key document for the Authority and forms part of 
the financial planning arrangements, reflecting the priorities set out in the 
Fire & Rescue Plan and the Medium-Term Financial Strategy.  It provides 
a high level overview of how capital expenditure, and the way it is 
financed, contribute to the provision of services.  It also provides an 
overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future 
financial sustainability and sets out the governance process for approval 
and monitoring of capital expenditure.

1.3. This report was initially considered by the Resources Committee at its 
budget meeting on 10 February 2021 which resolved to recommend that 
the Authority endorse the Capital Strategy (Minute RC/39 refers).

2. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

2.1. Capital expenditure is incurred on the acquisition or creation of assets that 
yield benefits for a period of more than one year and carry significant cost; 
for this Authority the capital de minimis level is set as £20,000. It includes 
land, new buildings, enhancement to existing buildings within the estate 
and the acquisition of vehicles and major items of equipment. Intangible 
assets such as software can also be classed as capital expenditure this is 
in contrast to revenue expenditure which represents spending on day to 
day running costs such as salaries, heat and light.  

3. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMPARED TO TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
INVESTMENTS

3.1. Treasury Management investments arise from the organisation’s cash 
flows and debt management activity, and ultimately represent balances 
which can be invested until the cash is required for use in the course of 
business.  As an example, the Authority set-a-side an amount each year to 
reflect the usage of an asset (Minimum Revenue Provision – see Section 
17 below).  This amount is invested but cannot be used to fund future 
capital expenditure as it is required to pay off a loan on maturity.

3.2. For Treasury Management investments the security and liquidity of funds 
are placed ahead of the investment return. The management of associated 
risk is set out in the Treasury Management Policy and the annual Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement.

3.3. Performance of the Treasury Management investments is reported to the 
Resources Committee at the end of each quarter.

Page 34



4. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

4.1. This Authority has experienced significant revenue grant reductions since 
2010 and no longer receives any capital grant. With further revenue grant 
reductions a possibility and increasing cost pressures, new ways of 
working are being implemented so that the Service can address the risks 
within our communities and balance the budget.  The Integrated Risk 
management Plan 2018-2022 identified those risks and the Service 
determined the resources needed in terms of premises and vehicles that 
are needed in each location through the Safer Together programme. The 
National Risk Register, identifies emerging challenges such as the 
continued threat of terrorism, the impacts of climate change and impacts of 
an ageing population. These will be considered through the Community 
Risk Management Plan (CRMP), which replaces the Integrated Riskk 
Management Plan, along with the requirements of the Fire and Rescue 
National Framework and local risks to Devon and Somerset.

4.2. The Authority currently has 83 fire stations across the counties of Devon 
and Somerset.  During 2020/21 one was closed and one relocated to 
Service Headquarters as part of the Safer Together Programme.

4.3. At the commencement of the 2021-22 year, the Service will have 112 
front-line fire engines (down from 121 at the start of 2020-21), of which 49 
have surpassed their recommended economic life, and 19 Special 
Appliances.  Ensuring prioritisation over where capital resources are used 
to best utilise our Estate and Fleet of vehicles is paramount.

5. PROJECT INITIATION

5.1. Capital projects are subject to a robust justification process, bringing 
together a clear business case with sufficient detailed costings to ensure 
transparent decisions can be taken.

5.2. Proposals are commissioned by the Executive Board and then monitored 
through regular meetings between capital leads, procurement and finance 
officers. The Programme Board considers variations to plan and monitors 
milestones.

5.3. A formal process of project management is followed with a project 
manager or building surveyor assigned to each Capital scheme to ensure 
they are subject to thorough oversight for the duration of the project.  The 
project manager will oversee planning, delivery, management, skills 
assessment and governance of capital projects.

5.4. Capital projects will be assessed for:

 Strategic fit – corporate objectives are being met by the 
expenditure.

 Identified need – e.g. vital repairs and maintenance to existing 
assets.

Page 35



 Achievability – this may include alternatives to direct expenditure 
such as partnerships.

 Affordability and resource use – to ensure investment remains 
within sustainable limits.

 Practicality and deliverability.

 Resource time is assessed when considering projects to ensure 
both delivery of projects and day-to-day work is covered.

5.5. To support a robust governance process, for larger capital investment 
projects, the Service uses the “Five Case” model to develop the business 
case as recommended by HM Treasury.  The model provides a discipline 
and structure to arrive at the best possible decision and considers; The 
strategic case (the case for change), the economic case (value for 
money), the commercial case (it is commercially viable and attractive to 
the market), the financial case (to ensure the proposed spend is viable) 
and finally the management case (that the requirement is achievable).

6. THE SERVICE CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 – 2025-26

6.1. The Service capital programme for 2021-22 – 2025-26 is considered 
annually and is set out in the table below.
TABLE 1

Page 36



7. FUNDING THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

7.1. There are several funding sources available to meet the Authority’s capital 
expenditure requirements.  These are explored in more detail.

8. REVENUE FUNDING

8.1. The Authority agreed on the 24th February 2014 that an element within the 
Revenue budget for each year will go towards funding the capital 
programme and this has continued into each subsequent financial year.  
The amount awarded to assist with the capital programme is based on 
affordability and is specific to that year.  Table 1 identifies the amount the 
Authority is hoping to fund from Revenue each year.

9. PRUDENTIAL BORROWING

9.1. The Authority is permitted to take out regulated external borrowing.  The 
Local Government Act 2003 refers to affordability and the requirement that 
the local authorities in England and Wales keep under review the amount 
of money they borrow for capital investment.

9.2. The Code requires that “The local authority shall ensure all of its capital 
and investment plans and borrowing are prudent and sustainable.  In 
doing so, it will take into account its arrangements for the repayment of 
debt (including Minimum Revenue Provision) and consideration of risk and 
the impact on the overall fiscal sustainability”.  The impact of borrowing is 
outlined within the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
monitored by the Resources Committee on a quarterly basis. 

10. RESERVES

10.1. It has been the strategy of the Authority to utilise revenue contribution to 
fund capital expenditure.  Following approval by the Authority, an amount 
of the in-year revenue budget underspend has been set-a-side and moved 
in to a Reserve to fund the future capital programme.  The amount of 
Earmarked Reserve funding identified to fund the Capital programme is 
shown above.  No additional external borrowing has been taken out - the 
last loan the Authority took out was in 2012.  Depending on the size of the 
Capital programme, there could be a requirement for new borrowing within 
financial year 2024-25 if the quantity and type of assets remain the same.

11. MONITORING CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

11.1. The performance of the capital programme is reported to Officers each 
month and to Members each quarter and forms part of the Financial 
Performance report.  Any timing differences are also identified within the 
report.

Page 37



12. RISK MANAGEMENT

12.1. The Prudential Code recognises that in making its capital investment 
decisions, the authority must have explicit regards to option appraisal and 
risk:

“The Capital Strategy is intended to give a high level overview of how 
capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity 
contribute to the provision of services, along with an overview of how 
associated risk is managed and the implications for future 
sustainability.”

12.2. Each Capital scheme project will have its own risk register and options 
appraisal to manage the operational risk arising from the project, however 
this section of the strategy focuses on strategic risks arising from capital 
investment activity.

12.3. Every item will go through a rigorous justification process so that a greater 
scrutiny can be achieved over what is included within the capital 
programme.  This will become even more critical if collated bids exceed 
the available funding.  All investment will be aligned to the Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (this plan will soon be redesigned as the Community 
Risk Management Plan) and the Fire & Rescue Plan to ensure that the 
Service is replacing the right assets, at the right location to address the 
risk and at the same time reducing our revenue costs to help balance the 
budget.

12.4. The Capital budget requirement is determined on an annual basis.  The 
process starts at the end of the summer with relevant departments 
determining their requirements.  Once formalised, the requirements are 
discussed and scrutinised with the relevant Director.  Following that, they 
are presented to the Executive Board in December before being presented 
to the Authority in February for approval in advance of the financial year to 
which it relates.

13. CREDIT RISK

13.1. There is a risk that a supplier becomes insolvent and cannot complete the 
agreed contract.  Appropriate due diligence is carried out before a contract 
is placed as part of the procurement process.

14. LIQUIDITY RISK

14.1. This is the risk that the timing of cash inflows from a project will be 
delayed.  In the main, the Authority’s capital projects are self- funded and 
therefore don’t rely on other organisations contributing or failing to make 
their contributions when agreed.  Under the collaboration agenda it is 
possible that an increasing number of Capital projects will be shared 
across organisations. Liquidity risk and the impact on cash flows is 
monitored on a daily basis by the Treasury Management function.

Page 38



15. FRAUD, ERROR AND CORRUPTION

15.1. This is the risk that financial losses will occur due to error, fraudulent or 
corrupt activities.  The Authority has procedures in place to minimise the 
risk of fraud especially regarding changing of bank details for suppliers.  
There are also policies in place to address some of the risk such as the 
Whistleblowing Code, the Strategy on Protection and Detection of Fraud 
and the Declaration of Interests.  

16. LEGAL AND REGULATORY RISK

16.1. This is the risk that changes to laws or regulation make a capital project 
more expensive or time consuming to complete, make it no longer cost 
effective or make it illegal or not advisable to complete.  Before entering 
into a capital project, officers will determine the powers under which any 
investment is made with input from our Treasury Management advisors.

16.2. Capital schemes must comply with legislation (Disability and 
Discrimination Act as an example) and also consider Authority 
Regulations, Service plans and Policies such as:

 Fire & Rescue Plan;

 Integrated Risk Management Plan;

 Contract Standing Orders; and 

 Financial Regulations.

17. MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION

17.1. Within the Local Government Act 2003, local authorities are required to 
have regard to the statutory guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision. 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government has 
produced statutory guidance which local authorities must have regard to.  

17.2. Minimum Revenue Provision represents the minimum amount that must 
be charged to an authority’s revenue budget each year for financing 
capital expenditure, where it has initially been funded from borrowing.  The 
Minimum Revenue Provision accounting practice allows the Authority to 
set aside an amount of money each year to ensure that it can pay off the 
debts it has from buying capital assets.

17.3. The Minimum Revenue Provision Policy is reviewed annually and is 
outlined within the Authority’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement.

18. AFFORDABILITY OF THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

18.1. A variety of factors are taken into account when determining the 
affordability of the Capital programme, including the impact on revenue 
budgets and reserves:

 Minimum revenue provision

Page 39



 Interest payable

 Interest receivable

 Revenue contribution to capital

 The Authority’s affordability indicator, that debt charges must be 
<5% of net revenue budget in each financial year

18.2. The cheapest and most sustainable method to fund a Capital Programme 
is to set aside an amount from revenue each year to purchase assets, with 
any variations to the programme being smoothed out using an Earmarked 
Reserve for Capital.

18.3. The strategic objective within the medium term financial plan is to ensure 
that revenue funds of at least £2m are included in the annual budget, 
which will increase as other capital costs fall as a result of reduced 
borrowing.

18.4. Historically, the Authority received a Central Government Capital Grant of 
up to £2m per year and also supported its capital programme using 
borrowing where required. However, it became apparent that the 5% 
indicator of affordability for borrowing would be breached and this with the 
cessation of Government Grant meant that alternative ways of addressing 
the Capital programme needed to be explored. 

18.5. Several years ago the Service engaged staff and developed a range of 
smaller fire engines that whilst able to make better progress through 
congested cities as well as narrow country lanes, were also cheaper to 
procure. By ensuring that we have the right balance between large 
traditional fire engines and smaller, lighter fire engines we have been able 
to reduce the capital costs for the Service without compromising public 
safety. Not only is this a more efficient use of the financial resources we 
have available to us, it is also better for the environment. 
The Authority’s strategy is to reduce borrowing

18.6. As at 31 March 2021 external debt will be £24.9m, down from £26.3m ten 
years ago. 

18.7. Due to the introduction of a baselined revenue contribution to capital, 
budget and in year savings a healthy capital reserve has been built up, 
meaning that the Authority could spend £39m over the next five years 
replacing and improving its assets without needing to borrow any more.

18.8. Recognising that we needed to take a fundamental review of our Service 
Delivery Operating Model (completed in 2020), major decisions relating to 
fire station locations and number/type and location of some fire engines 
had been deferred. There are now a considerable number of assets 
needing replacement or enhancement and the proposed programme totals 
£43.6m over the next five years. As only £39m of funding is available, 
officers will need to develop further plans to prioritise expenditure and 
avoid borrowing in the future.

Page 40



18.9. The Safer Together programme has delivered a new Service Delivery 
Operating Model and provided a focus on the way Vehicles and 
Equipment are managed. Both of these work streams have presented 
reductions to the asset base which have fed into this iteration of the 
Capital Programme and Medium Term Financial Plan.

AMY WEBB
Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer)

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT REFERENCE 
NO.

DSFRA/21/3

MEETING DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY (Budget 
Meeting)

DATE OF MEETING 19 FEBRUARY 2021

SUBJECT OF REPORT 2021-22 REVENUE BUDGET AND COUNCIL TAX LEVELS

LEAD OFFICER Director of Finance and Resourcing (Treasurer) and Chief 
Fire Officer

RECOMMENDATIONS That, as recommended by the Resources Committee at its 
budget meeting held on 10 February 2021 (Minute RC/38 
refers), the Authority approves:
(a). that the level of council tax in 2021-22 for a Band D 

property be set at £90.00, as outlined in Option B in 
this report, representing a 1.99% increase over 2020-
21, and that accordingly a Net Revenue Budget 
Requirement for 2021-22 of £74,222,400; and

(b). that, as a consequence of the decisions at (a) above:
(i) the tax base for payment purposes and the 

precept required from each billing authority for 
payment of total precept £54,849,642 (Option B), 
as detailed on Page 2 of the respective budget 
booklet;

(ii) the council tax for each property bands A to H 
associated with the total precept as detailed in the 
respective budget booklet; 

(c). that £0.415m of funding is made available to fund an 
additional 12 development firefighter posts;

(d). that the Treasurer’s ‘Statement of the Robustness of 
the Budget Estimates and the Adequacy of the 
Authority Reserve Balances’, as set out at Appendix B 
to this report, be endorsed.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY It is a legislative requirement that the Authority sets a level of 
revenue budget and Council Tax for the forthcoming financial 
year by the 1 March each year. The Secretary of State has 
announced that the Council Tax threshold to be applied in 2021-
22 that would trigger a requirement to hold a Council Tax 
referendum is to be 2.0%. This report considers potential options 
A and B below for Council Tax in 2021-22:

OPTION A – Freeze Council Tax at 2020-21 level (£88.24 
for a Band D Property).
OPTION B – Increase Council Tax by 1.99% above 2020-21 

Page 43

Agenda Item 10a



(increase of £1.74 pa to £90.00 for Band D Property).
The Authority is asked to consider the implications associated 
with each option, with a view approving the recommendation 
made by the Resources Committee at its budget meeting held 
on 10 February 2021.

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS

As indicated in the report.

EQUALITY IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

Not applicable.

APPENDICES A. Core Net Revenue Budget Requirement 2021-22.
B. Revenue budget by directorate
C. Statement of the Robustness of the Budget Estimates and 

the Adequacy of the Authority Reserves and Balances.
D. DSFRA response to the Department of Communities and 

Local Government consultation document “Local 
Government Finance Settlement – Technical Consultation 
Paper”.

E. DJS Report on Precept Consultation for 2021-22 Revenue 
Budget

F. Report on Precept Consultation via Social Media

BACKGROUND PAPERS Nil.

Page 44



1. FOREWORD AND INTRODUCTION

1.1. The draft budget for 2021-22 provides an opportunity to support reform of Devon 
& Somerset Fire & Rescue Service (the Service) now and in the future. In 
January 2020 a number of significant changes to the Service Delivery Operating 
Model were approved by the Authority which better aligned resources to risk. 
Underpinning the Safer Together programme is the new On Call payment system 
(Pay for Availability) which is expected to improve recruitment, retention and 
ultimately the safety of our communities by improving availability of fire engines. 
The system is more expensive and therefore savings released from the Service 
Delivery Operating Model have been re-invested in the On Call duty system.

1.2. The investment of £0.850m made in to Prevention and Protection in 2019-20 will 
continue, enabling more community and business safety activity.

1.3. Due to the economic impact of the Coronavirus pandemic on our communities, 
overall funding will reduce in 2021-22 and reserves will be needed to balance the 
budget. The government has announced its intention to freeze public sector pay 
awards next year and so this has alleviated some pressure on the Authority’s 
finances.

1.4. It is a legislative requirement that the Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority 
(the Authority) sets a level of revenue budget and Council Tax for the forthcoming 
financial year, before 1 March, in order that it can inform each of the fifteen 
Council Tax billing authorities within Devon and Somerset of the level of precept 
required from the Authority for 2021-22. The purpose of this report is to provide 
the necessary financial background for consideration to be given as to what 
would be appropriate levels of precept for the Authority.

1.5. The Localism Act 2011 includes provisions which require a local authority to hold 
a Council Tax referendum where an authority’s Council Tax increase exceeds the 
Council Tax “excessiveness principles” applied for that year.

1.6. On 17 December 2020, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) announced as part of the provisional Local Government 
Settlement the Council Tax limit to be applied in 2021-22.  This is to be 2.0% 
which, if exceeded, would trigger the need to hold a referendum. Given that the 
administration costs associated with holding a local referendum for the Service 
for one year are estimated to be in excess of £2.3m, this report does not include 
any proposals to go beyond the referendum limit.  

1.7. This report was considered initially by the Resources Committee at its meeting on 
10 February 2021 which resolved (Minute RC/38 refers):

(a). that it be recommended to the Authority that the level of Council Tax 
in 2021-22 for a Band D property be set at £90.00, as outlined in 
Option B of report RC/21/1, representing a 1.99% increase over 2020-
21;

Page 45



(b). that, as a consequence of the decisions at (a) above:
(i) the tax base for payment purposes and the precept required 

from each billing authority for payment of total precept of 
£54,849,642 (Option B), as detailed on Page 2 of the respective 
budget booklet, be approved;

(ii) the council tax for each property bands A to H associated with 
the total precept as detailed in the budget booklet for option B 
be approved; and

(iii) that the Treasurer’s ‘Statement of the Robustness of the 
Budget Estimates and the Adequacy of the AuthorityReserve 
Balances’, as set out at Appendix B to report RC/21/1, be 
endorsed.

(c). That the funding of £0.415m be made available within Option B to 
support the funding of an additional 12 Firefighter development 
posts in 2021-22.

1.8. For completeness, the other Option (Option A) as presented to the Resources 
Committee is also set out in this report.

 
2. LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE SETTLEMENT 2021-22

2.1. The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2021-22 was 
announced on 17 December 2020, which provided local authorities with individual 
settlement funding assessment figures for one year only.

2.2. Table 1 below provides details of the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) for 
this Authority which results in an increase in 2021-22 of 0.16% over 2020-21 and 
an overall reduction of 24.00% since 2015-16:

TABLE 1 – SETTLEMENT FUNDING ASSESSMENT (SFA)

 SFA SFA Reduction
 £m £m %

2015-16 29.413
2016-17 26.873 -2.540 -8.64%
2017-18 23.883 -2.990 -11.13%
2018-19 22.618 -1.265 -5.30%
2019-20 21.961 -0.657 -2.91%
2020-21 22.319 0.358 1.63%
2021-22 22.354 0.035 0.16%

Reduction over 2015-
16 -7.054 -24.00%

Page 46



2.3. In addition to the settlement figures reported in Table 1 above, the Authority has 
been awarded a share of a £85m Rural Services Delivery Grant which is only 
available to the most sparsely populated rural areas. The award is £445k for 
2021-22. 

2.4. There are other Section 31 grant funds, allocated to reduce the impact of local 
collection shortfalls, which are included in the revenue budget as income. The 
Authority is eligible annually for amounts to offset business rates reliefs at £1.5m 
for 2021-22. 

2.5. As part of a suite of measures to support local authorities to offset impacts of the 
Coronavirus pandemic, an award of £0.970m has been made against increased 
costs of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme and an estimate of £2.856m is 
included as the Authority’s share of National Non Domestic Rate grants made to 
businesses because of the pandemic.

2.6. These grants will be paid as a Section 31 grant (not in base funding which has 
been significantly impacted by COVID 19) and are therefore included as income 
within the draft budget proposed in this report.

3. COUNCIL TAX AND BUDGET REQUIREMENT 2021-22
Council Tax

3.1. It is, of course, an Authority decision to set a level of Council Tax that is 
appropriate to its funding position.  For 2021-22, this report considers two options 
A and B as below: 

 OPTION A – Freeze Council Tax at 2020-21 level (£88.24 for a Band D 
Property);

 OPTION B – Increase Council Tax by 1.99% above 2020-21 - an increase 
of £1.74 pa (15p a month) to £90.00 for a Band D Property.

3.2. The Authority could decide to set any alternative level below 2%. Each 1% 
increase in Council Tax represents an 87p a year increase for a Band D property, 
and is equivalent to a £0.538m variation on the revenue budget.  In relation to the 
referendum option, it is the Treasurer’s view that given the costs of holding a 
referendum (circa £2.3m), it is not a viable option for the Authority to consider a 
Council Tax increase in excess of the 2% threshold.

3.3. Due to the economic impacts of Coronavirus on the Council Tax base, surplus 
and Business Rate income, both council tax options would represent a decrease 
to the overall budget available.  

Page 47



TABLE 2 – OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL TAX CHANGE – FUNDING 2021-22
 

*Section 31 grants are available to offset funding reductions per paragraph 2.4-
2.5
Council Tax Base

3.4. The total increase in government funding of £0.035m is in line with inflation of 
0.3% and comes after significant reductions amounting to 24.0% since 2015-16. 
The Service had forecast an increase in Council Tax receipts of 1.20% arising 
from house building in the area, although there has been a significant decrease 
of 0.80%. The Authority’s share of Council Tax collection fund surplus has 
decreased by £0.569m (now in deficit and this figure reflects a three year spread) 
which reflects a significant decline in the rate of Council Tax collection by 
districts.

Page 48



Retained Business Rates
3.5. The funding available from business rates has fallen significantly due to the 

pandemic, with the local share reducing by 56% or £3.158m. As outlined in 
paragraph 2.5, it is estimated that a grant of £2.856m will flow from billing 
authorities to offset against 2020-21 losses although this figure is yet to be 
confirmed. 
Net Budget Requirement

3.6. Table 3 below provides a summary of the Core Budget Requirement for 2021-22.  
A breakdown of the more detailed items included in this draft budget is included 
in Appendix A of this report.   

TABLE 3 – SUMMARY OF REVENUE BUDGET REQUIREMENT 2021-22

Page 49



3.7. As outlined in the foreword to this paper, this budget is designed to support 
reform of the Service by maintaining investment in the Pay for Availability system 
at £1.442m. This is half of the annual cost if all stations take up the new system, 
but teams are being transitioned as and when all members want to take up the 
offer. Elsewhere on this agenda is a request to earmark funding from the under 
spend in 2020-21 arising from the delay of P4A roll out, which could then be used 
in 2021-22 were more than 50% of stations to transition. 

3.8. As reduced funding will be available for the coming financial year and there will 
likely be further restrictions in coming years, officers have restricted requests for 
investment opportunities to:

 An optional £0.415m for 12 development firefighter posts

 £0.151m to introduce Microsoft 365, which will support smarter working

3.9. The Authority is asked to consider investing in an increased establishment for a 
three year period for 12 development firefighters year on year to support a 
strategic workforce planning which forecasts the following issues:

 risk of short-notice retirements (due early 2022 when pension scheme 
remedies are implemented)

 support for service delivery resilience in particular in fire protection

 increased opportunities to diversify the workforce 

3.10. If the Authority does not approve the option to invest in development firefighter 
posts, £0.415m less reserve funding will be needed to balance the 2021-22 
revenue budget.
Balancing the budget

3.11. As is indicated in Table 3, the Revenue Budget Requirement for 2021-22 has 
been assessed as £74.222m. This is more than the amount of funding available 
under Option A and therefore cuts or additional funding need to be identified in 
order that a balanced budget can be set.

TABLE 4 – PROPOSALS TO BALANCE THE BUDGET 2021-22

Page 50



3.12. Whilst the Service is confident that the budget can be balanced if Council Tax is 
increased, there will be a budget shortfall of £1.073m in the coming year if it is 
frozen. The recommendation is to utilise reserves to fund the gap in the short 
term until a budget efficiency plan is developed. 

3.13. There is some risk attached to this strategy, as this proposal will draw down 
against the budget smoothing reserve, meaning it will not be available to meet 
future budget pressures.

4. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN (MTFP)

4.1 Given that the 2021-22 provisional Local Government Settlement is a one year 
settlement, the future funding position is less certain. The impacts of the 
Coronavirus pandemic have been significant both in terms of costs and economic 
impact and therefore a considerable funding gap is likely. The approach taken to 
developing the plans and underlying assumptions are outlined in the MTFP 
document, which is elsewhere on the agenda.

4.2 The MTFP financial modelling tool has assessed a likely ‘base case’ scenario in 
terms of savings required over the period 2021-22 to 2024-25.  Chart 1 provides 
an analysis of those forecast savings required in each year.

CHART 1 – FORECAST BUDGET SAVINGS REQUIREMENT (CUMULATIVE) 
2021 TO 2025 (BASE CASE) - £MILLIONS

Page 51



4.3 Chart 1 illustrates that further savings will be required beyond 2021-22 to plan for 
a balanced budget over the next three years to 2024-25. Should the Authority 
decide to freeze Council Tax in 2021-22 (Option A) and the following three years 
then the MTFP forecasts that total savings of up to £11.4m need to be planned 
for. 
Authority Plan 2021 onwards

4.4 This budget report proposes a balanced budget for the next financial year 2021-
22 including proposals as to how budget savings can be achieved. 

4.5 Looking beyond 2021-22 it is clear that the Authority needs to plan for the 
delivery of further recurring savings to ensure that balanced budgets can be set 
in each year of the Spending Review period.  

4.6 The strategic approach to deliver the required savings is being developed and an 
efficiency review has been initiated and will focus on the following priority areas:

 How resources are being utilised; productivity of our staff and assets;

 Digitising and streamlining services to make them more efficient; and

 Evidencing value for money of our services; 

5. PRECEPT CONSULTATION 2021-22

5.1. Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act (1992) requires precepting 
authorities to consult non-domestic ratepayers on proposals for expenditure.

5.2. In addition to the statutory requirement, members of the public have in previous 
years also been consulted as it was deemed appropriate to include the public’s 
views on the option of increasing Council Tax at a time of economic difficulty.

5.3. The consultation process ran throughout November and December 2020 and 
involved:

(a). A telephone survey of 399 business and 402 residents;
(b). Use of an online survey promoted via social media and other DSFRS 

communication channels
5.4. The full results of the telephone survey and online survey can be found in 

Appendices E and F.
Results from the Telephone Survey

5.5. 62% of businesses agreed that it is reasonable for the Authority to consider 
increasing its Council Tax charge for 2021-22, while 14% disagreed that it is 
reasonable for them to do so, resulting in a net agreement  of +48%.

5.6. 66% of residents agreed that it is reasonable for the Authority to consider 
increasing its Council Tax charge for 2021-22, while 11% disagreed, giving a net 
agreement of +55%.

Page 52



Chart 2: Level of increase that would be reasonable (Those respondents 
agreeing that it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider increasing its Council Tax 
charge for 2021-22)

5.7. O

f those respondents who agreed that a Council Tax increase would be 
reasonable, 62% of businesses and 61% residents would support an increase of 
1.99% or above.

5.8. 80% of businesses and 85% residents felt that the Service provides value for 
money.

5.9. Additional questions were included to determine satisfaction levels; overall 76% 
of businesses and 77% of residents said they were satisfied with the Service. 
Perceived reputation of the Service is strong, with results shown in the 
appendices.
Results from the Online Survey

5.10. The online survey was available from 6 November – 18 December 2020. The 
consultation was promoted through our website, press releases and adverts on 
Facebook and Twitter.

5.11. In that period, a total of 737 responses were received (up from 121 last year). As 
only thirteen of these responses represented the business sector, the results 
have not been separated.

Page 53



5.12. The results outlined in Chart 3 indicate that almost 64% of respondents agree 
that the Authority should consider increasing its charges, as opposed to 18% who 
disagree, giving a net agreement of +46%.

Chart 3: Question 1 Results of agreement to consider increasing the precept

5.13. T

he responses indicate that the most popular option overall is a £5 increase with 
281 respondents choosing this (38% of everyone who completed the survey). 
Just over two thirds (67.6%) of respondents considered a 1.99% increase or 
higher reasonable. 238 people opted for either no increase or 1% increase.

Chart 4: Question 2 Results of options to increase the precept

Page 54



5.14. The results indicate that 71% agree that the Service provides value for money.

5.15. 72% of respondents were satisfied or very satisfied with the service provided, and 
increase of 25% over last year, when results were likely to have been influenced 
by the Safer Together consultation.
Survey Conclusion

5.16. The results of the consultation indicate that the majority of respondents feel it 
would be reasonable for the Authority to consider increasing its precept for 2021-
22. Those who agreed that it would be reasonable to consider an increase in the 
Council Tax precept were predominantly in favour of an increase of 1.99% or 
above.

5.17. Both businesses and residents agree that the Service provides value for money 
and were satisfied with the service provided.

6. STATEMENT ON ROBUSTNESS OF BUDGET ESTIMATES AND THE 
ADEQUACY OF THE LEVELS OF RESERVES AND BALANCES

6.1. It is a legal requirement under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 that 
the person appointed as the ‘Chief Finance Officer’ to the Authority reports on the 
robustness of the budget estimates and the adequacy of the level of reserves. 
The Act requires the Authority to have regard to the report in making its 
decisions. This statement is included as Appendix B to this report.

7. SUMMARY

7.1. The Authority is required to set its level of revenue budget and Council Tax for 
2021-22 by 1 March so that it can meet its statutory obligation to advise each of 
the fifteen billing authorities in Devon and Somerset of the required level of 
precept. This report provides Members with the necessary background 
information to assist them in making decisions as to the appropriate levels for the 
Authority.

7.2. The report considers two potential options A and B and invites the Authority to 
approve the recommendation made by the Resources Committee at its budget 
meeting held on 10 February 2021.

AMY WEBB         LEE HOWELL               
Director of Finance and Resourcing (Treasurer) Chief Fire Officer

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A TO REPORT DSFRA/21/3

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B TO REPORT DSFRA/21/3

Proposed Revenue Budget breakdown by directorate 2020-21 and 2021-22. 
NOTE: assumes 1.99% increase and investment in development FF

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C TO REPORT DSFRA/21/3

STATEMENT OF THE ROBUSTNESS OF THE BUDGET ESTIMATES AND THE 
ADEQUACY OF THE DEVON AND SOMERSET FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
LEVELS OF RESERVES

It is a legal requirement under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 that the 
person appointed as the ‘Chief Finance Officer’ to the Authority reports on the 
robustness of the budget estimates and the adequacy of the level of reserves. The 
Act requires the Authority to have regard to the report in making its decisions.

THE ROBUSTNESS OF THE 2021-22 BUDGET

The net revenue budget requirement for 2021-22 has been assessed as £74.222 
(Option B in report). In arriving at this figure a detailed assessment has been made 
of the risks associated with each of the budget headings and the adequacy in terms 
of supporting the goals and objectives of the authority as included in the Integrated 
Risk Management Plan and the Fire and Rescue Plan. It should be emphasised that 
these assessments are being made for a period up to the 31 March 2022, in which 
time external factors, which are outside of the control of the authority, may arise 
which will cause additional expenditure to be incurred. The most significant example 
of this is the Coronavirus pandemic. For example, the majority of On Call pay costs 
are dependent on the number of call outs during the year, which can be subject to 
volatility dependent on spate weather conditions. Other budgets, such as fuel are 
affected by market forces and lockdowns that often lead to fluctuations in price that 
are difficult to predict. Details of those budget heads that are most at risk from these 
uncertainties are included in Table 1 overleaf, along with details of the action taken 
to mitigate each of these identified risks.

Local government and the fire sector are entering a period of significant uncertainty 
over funding and cost pressures going forward. It is possible that further cuts of 5% 
in real terms may be made to fire funding which when combined with changes to the 
Business Rates Retention scheme and the Relative Needs Assessment Reviews 
could result in significant changes to available resources. Unfunded pension 
schemes and legal challenges over pension terms represent a significant risk to the 
Authority going forward. It is therefore vitally important that resourcing and 
investment decisions are made which minimise risks going forward to enable the 
Authority to be as resilient as possible in future years.

Whilst there is only a legal requirement to set a budget requirement for the 
forthcoming financial year, the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) provides 
forecasts to be made of indicative budget requirements over a five year period 
covering the years 2021-22 to 2025-26. These forecasts include only prudent 
assumptions in relation future pay awards and prices increases, which will need to 
be reviewed in light of pay settlements and movement in the Consumer Prices Index. 

Page 61



TABLE 1 – BUDGET SETTING 2021-22 ASSESSMENT OF BUDGET HEADINGS 
MOST SUBJECT TO CHANGE

Page 62



THE ADEQUACY OF THE LEVEL OF RESERVES

Total Reserve balances for the Authority as at April 2020 is £38.8m made up of 
Earmarked Reserves (committed) of £33.5m, and General Reserve (uncommitted) of 
£5.3m. This will decrease by the end of the financial year as a result of planned 
expenditure against those reserves during the year. A General Reserve balance of 
£5.3m is equivalent to 6.9% of the total revenue budget, or 25 days of Authority 
spending, the figure is subject to a risk assessment annually.

The Authority has adopted an “in principle” strategy to maintain the level of reserves 
at a minimum of 5% of the revenue budget for any given year, with the absolute 
minimum level of reserves only being breached in exceptional circumstances, as 
determined by risk assessment.  This does not mean that the Authority should not 
aspire to have more robust reserve balances based upon changing circumstances, 
but that if the balance drops below 5% (as a consequence of the need to utilise 
reserves) then it should immediately consider methods to replenish the balance back 
to a 5% level.

It is pleasing that the Authority has not experienced the need to call on general 
reserve balances in the last five years to fund emergency spending, which has 
enabled the balance, through budget underspends, to be increased to a level in 
excess of 5%. The importance of holding adequate levels of general reserves has 
been highlighted on a number of occasions in recent times, the impact of the 
pandemic and the problems experienced by the global financial markets are just two 
examples of external risks which local authorities may need to take into account in 
setting levels of reserves and wider financial planning. 

The Authority’s Reserves Strategy is reviewed annually and is available on the 
website www.dsfire.gov.uk.

Page 63



CONCLUSION

It is considered that the budget proposed for 2021-22 represents a sound and 
achievable financial plan, and will not increase the Authority’s risk exposure to an 
unacceptable level. The estimated level of reserves is judged to be adequate to meet 
all reasonable forecasts of future liabilities. 

AMY WEBB                        
Director of Finance and Resourcing (Treasurer)

Page 64



Consultation response pro-forma

APPENDIX D TO REPORT DSFRA/21/3
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2021-22

If you are responding to this consultation by email or in writing, please reply using 
this questionnaire pro-forma, which should be read alongside the consultation 
document.

You should save the pro-forma on your own device, from which you can complete 
the survey at your own pace and submit when you are ready. 

There are 9 questions. You do not have to answer every question should you not 
wish to. 

Should you wish to attach further evidence or supporting information, you may attach 
and send this with the pro-forma. 

Please email responses to: 
LGFsettlement@communities.gov.uk

Alternatively, written responses should be sent to:
Local Government Finance Settlement Team 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
2nd floor, Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London 
SW1P 4DF 

Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read the 
consultation document and respond. 

Your Details (Required details are marked with an asterisk (*))

Full Name* Amy Webb

Organisation* Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority

Address* The Knowle

Address 2 Clyst St George

Town/City* Exeter

Postcode* EX3 0NW

Country

Email address* awebb@dsfire.gov.uk

Phone Number 01392 872202

Page 65

mailto:LGFsettlement@communities.gov.uk


Consultation response pro-forma

Are the views Expressed on this form an official response from a:

London Borough

Metropolitan District

Unitary Authority

Shire County

Shire District

Fire and Rescue Authority

Greater London Authority

Combined Authority

Parish or Town Council

Local Authority Association or Special Interest Group

Other Local Authority Grouping

Local Authority Officer

Local Authority Councillor

Member of Parliament

Other Representative Group

Business

Business Organisation

Valuation Organisation

Voluntary Organisation

Member of the Public

Page 66



Consultation response pro-forma

Question 1 

Do you agree with the Government’s proposed methodology for the 
distribution of Revenue Support Grant in 2021-22?

Yes

No

No comment

Additional comments
The Covid-19 pandemic has led to an unprecedented level of financial uncertainty. 
We welcome the emergency funding which the sector has received to date, however, 
given the likely ongoing impacts we support the government’s intention to maximise 
certainty within the settlement and therefore supports the proposed RSG 
methodology.

The government’s proposed approach regarding negative RSG seems consistent 
with the push for greater stability and certainty as stated above.

Question 2

Do you agree with the proposed package of council tax referendum principles 
for 2021-22?

Yes

No

No comment

Additional comments

The headline increase of 4.5% in core spending power is misleading. In truth almost 
all of this increase is due to less strict council tax referendum principles for social 
care providing authorities. The NFCC estimates that the increase for standalone 
FRAs is 2.7% (after accounting for the transfer of Isle of Wight fire and rescue 
responsibilities). Again, very little of this is an actual funding increase but an 
expectation of increased local taxation. Furthermore, the headline increase in CSP is 
reliant on overly optimistic taxbase and collection rates assumptions (see below).

Page 67



Consultation response pro-forma

Council Tax Precept
Due to the continued pressures (see above) and the Core Spending Power 
assumption that the maximum council tax will be taken, many FRAs will be forced to 
raise their precepts by the maximum referendum-free amount. This will have the 
effect of diverging the range of council tax precepts which taxpayers pay. At one end 
of the scale, this is unfair because taxpayers are paying comparatively even more for 
services; at the other end of the scale this is unfair because FRAs cannot raise as 
much revenue from council tax. This system cannot be allowed to continue ad 
infinitum and of course this is not unique to FRAs.

What is more unique to FRAs is the fact that council tax precepts are very small 
compared to total bills. This therefore represents an opportunity for central 
government to allow significant improvements to FRAs budgets with insignificant 
effect to taxpayers’ bills. We reiterate the call for a simple £5 limit for fire and rescue 
precepts (including for LAs with fire and rescue responsibility); it is asked that the 
government relooks at the scope for achieving a more sustainable fire and rescue 
service at very limited additional cost to the taxpayer.

Tax base
Unlike the Home Office’s Police Grant Settlement, the LGF Settlement uses council 
tax bases based on the average of the annual growth between 2016-17 and 2020-21 
instead of the OBR’s -0.2% forecast for tax base growth. It is disappointing that 
therefore a large part (maybe even all) of the £670m LCTS grant has been offset by 
the use of the higher taxbase.

Collection Rates and Local Taxation Income Guarantee
The 75% guarantee on council tax and business rates is very welcome however we 
note that falls in collection rates have been excluded from the guarantee. Given that 
the guarantee is 75% and not 100%, including collection rates in the guarantee 
would present no perverse incentive and we consider that a significant reduction in 
collection rates (which are relatively stable) would be a reflection of the effects of 
Covid-19.

If collection rates are significantly affected, then the effectiveness of the income 
guarantee could be significantly reduced.

Investment in Fire Protection
The following text was included in the NFCC response to the 2020-21 LGF 
Settlement Technical and Provisional Settlement consultations which is supported by 
DSFRA. We believe that it is of primary importance that we continue to highlight the 
situation regarding protection activity as this is clearly an issue that needs to be 
prioritised going forward.

The Hackitt enquiry and HMICFRS have highlighted the significant reduction in the 
number of fire safety audits in recent years. Across England in 2010-11 there were 
84,575 fire safety audits, which by 2018-19 had decreased to 49,327. Whilst the 
proportion of audits resulting in a satisfactory rating has improved from 56% to 67% 
it is unknown whether this is the result of improving fire safety or fewer audits. 
Clearly there is a need to invest in fire protection activity to increase activity in this 
area and outcomes for businesses and high-risk properties. 

Page 68



Consultation response pro-forma

Due to local Integrated Risk Management Planning the way in which Fire and 
Rescue Services deliver their fire protection activity can vary, with a mixture of 
delivery by firefighter crews and specialised business safety officers. Cost per audit 
will also vary as a result, with estimations being between £580 and £1,150 per 
completed audit. As an illustration, just returning to 2010-11 activity levels requires 
an additional 35,248 audits, which would equate to an additional investment in 
excess of £30m. According to Home Office statistics, between 2010 and 2018 there 
was a reduction in FTE firefighters of 22%; in 2010 there were approximately 42,000 
firefighters whilst in 2018 there were 32,000. As a result, the ability for Fire and 
Rescue Services to delivery business safety activity using firefighter crews has 
diminished.

In terms of business safety officers, at a salary including on costs of circa £45,000, 
an additional £47.8m of funding for the sector (i.e. a £5 increase in council tax 
instead of the 2% limit) could pay for the recruitment of a further 1,062 staff to deliver 
this vital improvement.

Service Delivery Pressures

The NFCC has continually highlighted service delivery pressures in previous 
settlement responses. The Home Office publishes response times annually and 
consistent data is available going back to 2009-10. In 2009 there were 41,953 full 
time equivalent firefighters and average response times to primary fires (potentially 
more serious fires that harm people or cause damage to property) were 8 minutes 
and 14 seconds in 2009-10. In 2018 the number of FTE firefighters had fallen to 
32,245 (a 23% reduction); response times had risen to 8 minutes 58 seconds (an 
increase of 9%). Comparing FTE firefighters with response times between 2009 and 
2018 shows a strong negative correlation (R2=0.84, p<0.001) [see FIRE0101 and 
FIRE1101 Home Office data].

This serves to paint just part of the picture regarding the risk profile pressures facing 
the fire and rescue service. It is of course vital that the horrors of the Grenfell Tower 
tragedy are not forgotten and to note that reductions in firefighter numbers directly 
impact the availability of personnel to support national resilience capabilities. At 
present, if a fire of the scale of Grenfell Tower occurred anywhere other than 
London, it would be a significant challenge for any FRA to resource – even with 
mutual assistance. Regarding fire and rescue operations post-Grenfell, FRAs faced 
additional requirements for inspections in high rise properties, even before legislative 
change.

The sector needs to respond to the inspection process, with findings that whilst 
responding to emergencies is a strength, Fire Protection is a concern and often 
under resourced whilst the inconsistent capability to respond to national incidents is 
highlighted. Long-term investment is required to work together across the sector to 
deliver improved outcomes.

Page 69



Consultation response pro-forma

In addition to those pressures that are specific to the FRS (outlined above) the fire 
service is also facing pressures like those in the wider public sector. One of the most 
significant demands on the public sector is an aging population; for FRAs this is 
highlighted by the stark differences in fire-related deaths for different ages. In 2019-
20, 51% of fire-related death victims were aged over 65 and 22% were aged over 80. 
Whilst there were just three fire-related deaths for the 17 million people in England 
aged 24 or under, there were 152 for the 17 million people aged 55 or over, a death 
rate approximately 50 times higher; for residents over 80 the fire-related fatality rate 
was 95 times the fatality rate for under 25s [see ONS 2019 MYEs and FIRE0503 
Home Office data].

Covid-19 Emergency Funding
2020 has seen all public services respond to the Coronavirus pandemic. DSFRA is 
grateful to the government for the support with additional costs during the 2020-21 
financial year however refer to comments given in response to Question 2 below.

It is welcome that additional funding will be kept under review however, we are 
forecasting that tranche 1 and 2 grant funding will soon be exhausted. Emergency 
funding must be sufficient for all FRAs to meet their pressures including ongoing 
support to communities for activity outside of FRA remit and the government is asked 
to ensure that the sector isn’t overlooked.

Fire Pensions Grant
We note that responsibility for the Fire Pensions Grant has been transferred to 
MHCLG with the intention of it being transferred into the baseline; and suport the 
approach of transferring the grant into FRAs’ baseline funding, removing the 
uncertainty which exists when such a significant portion of funding is not guaranteed 
beyond each year. 

Multi-Year Settlements
The focus that the government has clearly placed on stability and certainty within these 
proposals is welcome. In general, the proposals set out seem reasonable, however 
the sensible approaches to shire districts’ and police and crime commissioners’ 
referendum principles should also be extended to FRAs.

Although the MHCLG has clearly looked to maximise certainty for 2021-22, it is 
unfortunate that there is no such certainty from 2022-23 onwards. We understand the 
limitations placed on government due to Covid-19 and given the unprecedented levels 
of uncertainty it is understandable that the government has conducted a one-year SR 
and a roll-over provisional settlement. However, one-year settlements should not be 
the norm and a return to multi-year SRs and settlements is required from 2022-23.

Page 70



Consultation response pro-forma

Question 3

Do you agree with the Government’s proposals for the Social Care Grant in 
2021-22?

Yes

No

No comment

Additional comments

Question 4

Do you agree with the Government’s proposals for iBCF in 2021-22?

Yes

No

No comment

Additional comments 

Question 5

Do you agree with the Government’s proposals for New Homes Bonus in 2021-
22?  

Yes

No

No comment

Additional comments 

Page 71



Consultation response pro-forma

Question 6

Do you agree with the Government’s proposal for a new Lower Tier Services 
Grant, with a minimum funding floor so that no authority sees an annual 
reduction in Core Spending Power?

Yes

No

No comment

Additional comments 

Question 7

Do you agree with the Government’s proposals for Rural Services Delivery 
Grant in 2021-22?

Yes

No

No comment

Additional comments 
DSFRA welcomes the proposed approach for RSDG in 2021-22 and request that 
pressures faced by rural services, which are particularly significant for FRAs due to 
the time-bound nature of response services, are considered in any further funding 
reviews.

Question 8

Do you have any comments on the Government’s plan not to publish Visible 
Lines?

Yes

No

No comment

Additional comments

Page 72



Consultation response pro-forma

Question 9

Do you have any comments on the impact of the proposals for the 2021-22 
settlement outlined in this consultation document on persons who share a 
protected characteristic, and on the draft equality statement published 
alongside the consultation document?  Please provide evidence to support 
your comments.

Yes

No

No comment

Additional comments 

Fire and Rescue Services target their activity at the most vulnerable in society and 
therefore reducing resources is likely to have an impact on those needing additional 
support, such as elderly and disabled people.

Summary

We reiterate a simple £5 limit for fire and rescue precepts (including for LAs with fire 
and rescue responsibility); it is asked that the government relooks at the scope for 
achieving a more sustainable fire and rescue service at limited cost to the taxpayer. 
If changes to the referendum principles are a non-starter then additional grant 
funding should be made for prevention and protection, as well as an increase in 
firefighters to help lower response times.

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



1

cvzx

Council Tax Precept Survey 
2021/22

January 2021

Elliot Simmonds, Research Director 
esimmonds@djsresearch.com

Gary Romanuk, Senior Research Executive 
gromanuk@djsresearch.com

APPENDIX E TO REPORT DSFRA/21/3 

Page 75



2

Contents
Introduction .............................................................................................3

1.1 Context and methodology ..................................................................3

Key Findings.............................................................................................5

2.1 Whether it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider increasing its element of the 
Council Tax charge for 2021/22 ................................................................5

2.2 Level of increase that would be reasonable ...........................................7

2.3 Reasons for disagreeing that increase is reasonable ...............................8

2.4 Whether DSFRS provides value for money ............................................9

2.5 Reasons for disagreeing that DSFRS provides value for money ..............10

Survey Findings.......................................................................................11

3.1 What respondents think the local fire and rescue service does ...............11

3.2 Services used .................................................................................13

3.3 Satisfaction with service provided by DSFRS .......................................14

3.4 What influenced their opinion on question of satisfaction.......................15

3.5 Perceived reputation of local fire and rescue service .............................17

Appendix I: Sample breakdown .................................................................19

Businesses...........................................................................................19

Residents.............................................................................................20

Appendix II: Call outcomes .......................................................................23

Businesses...........................................................................................23

Residents.............................................................................................24

Page 76



3

Introduction  
1.1 Context and methodology 

Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service (hereafter DSFRS) is the largest non-
metropolitan fire and rescue service in England. They provide prevention, protection 
and response services across the counties of Devon and Somerset (including Torbay 
and Plymouth).

DSFRS have 83 fire stations and over 1,800 staff who work to protect the 1.7 million 
people who live in Devon, Somerset, Torbay and Plymouth, alongside the estimated 
extra 400,000 people who visit this part of the country every year.

In October 2020, DSFRS commissioned DJS Research to undertake a survey amongst 
400 businesses and 400 residents. The purpose of the research was to consult with 
residents and businesses within Devon and Somerset on how DSFRS should approach 
setting its budget for 2021/22 and on whether the service is currently deemed to be 
providing a satisfactory and value-for-money service.

The questionnaire for the survey was provided by DSFRS. The contacts for the survey 
were purchased by DJS Research from a commercial database provider. To ensure that 
findings form the research would allow for meaningful comparisons to be made , quotas 
were set by local authority district (LAD), number of employees and broad industry 
sector for the business survey and LAD, age and gender for the resident survey. We 
also set aspirational quotas for residents around ethnicity, in order to achieve a large 
enough sample for sub-group analysis among BAME residents.

In total, 399 interviews with businesses and 402 interviews with residents were 
completed during the fieldwork period (17 November to 21 December 2020). Tables 
detailing the calls made as part of this research can be found in Appendix II.

This report summarises the main findings from both surveys.

There are two points to note: 

1. The data which appears in these charts and tables has been weighted (adjusted) 
to account for any under- or over-representation of specific groups within the 
final data, according to the latest statistical and census data. Tables outlining the 
weighted and unweighted demographic profiles of the two samples (Businesses 
and Residents) can be found in Appendix I. 

Page 77



4

2. Throughout the report, where reference is made to one sub-group being 
‘significantly more likely’ than another sub-group to act in a certain way or hold 
a specific opinion, this is a statistically significant difference at the 95% 
confidence level.

Page 78



5

Key Findings

2.1 Whether it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider increasing its element of 
the Council Tax charge for 2021/22

Respondents were provided with the following contextual information regarding DSFRS:

Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority is committed to ambitious plans 
to end preventable fire and rescue emergencies across the two counties while 
addressing the funding cuts passed down by the Government. The Service 
provides 83 local fire stations across Devon and Somerset and employs about 
2,000 staff, helping to keep a population of 1.8 million safe. On average, they 
attend about 15,700 incidents every year and provide home safety advice to over 
18,000 households. Incidents they attend include flooding, road traffic collisions, 
fires and other emergencies. Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority is 
considering its Council Tax charges for 2021/22. The current charge is £88.24 a 
year for a Band 'D' property.

They were then informed of the following:

The total cost of running Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service equates to 
approximately £43.91 a year per head of the population.

Respondents were then asked how strongly they agree or disagree that it is reasonable 
for the Authority to consider increasing its Council Tax charge for 2021/22.

Businesses 
Six-in-ten (62%) businesses agreed that it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider 
increasing its Council Tax charge for 2021/22. Only 14% disagreed that it is 
reasonable for them to consider an increase. 

 A to F sector businesses were significantly more likely than G-N, R+S sector 
businesses to disagree (19% vs 10%, respectively).1

1 A to F includes the following sectors: A: Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing; B Mining and 
Quarrying; C Manufacturing; D Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply; E Water 
supply, sewerage, waste management and remediation activities; F Construction.

G to N, R and S includes the following sectors: G Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor 
vehicles and motorcycles; H Transportation and storage; I Accommodation and food service 
activities; J Information and communication; K Financial and insurance activities; L Real estate 
activities; M Professional, scientific and technical activities; N Administrative and support service 
activities; R Arts, entertainment and recreation; S Other service activities

Page 79



6

Residents 
Two-thirds of residents (66%) agreed that it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider 
increasing its Council Tax charge, compared to only 12% who disagreed. 

 Residents who had interreacted with DSFRS in the last 12 months were 
significantly more likely to agree that it is reasonable to consider increasing 
its charge. 

 Residents aged 25-44 (17%) were significantly more likely than residents 
in older age bands (45-64, 12%; 65+, 9%) to disagree with an increase. 

 BAME residents (29%) were significantly more likely than White residents 
(11%) to disagree with an increase. While this difference is substantial, it 
is worth noting that BAME residents (37%) were significantly more likely 
than White residents (7%) to answer ‘Don’t know’ to this question. Not only 
could this account for (part of) the difference, it suggests there may be 
challenges related to awareness regarding what DSFRS does and how it is 
funded. 

Chart 1: Whether it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider increasing its element of the 
Council Tax charge for 2021/22

26% 26%

36% 40%

16% 14%

9% 5%
5% 6%
7% 9%

Businesses Residents

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don't know

Q05. How much do you agree or disagree that it is reasonable for the Authority to consider increasing its Council Tax 
charge for 2021/22? Base: All respondents (Business n=399; Residents n=402)

Page 80



7

2.2 Level of increase that would be reasonable

All respondents, regardless of whether they agreed that it is reasonable for DSFRS to 
consider increasing its Council Tax charge for 2021/22, were asked at what level the 
increase should be set.

Businesses 
Four-in-ten (38%) businesses opted for a £5 increase, the most popular option 
among the ones listed. A 1.99% increase, the second most popular option, was 
chosen by only 15% of business respondents. 15% opted for none of the above. 

Residents 
Consistent with findings from the business survey, the most popular option among 
residents was for a £5 increase (37%). The 2.99% increase option proved more 
popular with residents than businesses, with 13% of residents opting for it, while 
11% opted for the 1.99% increase. Also consistent with findings from business 
survey, 15% of residents opted for none of the above. 

 Male residents (17%) were significantly more likely than female residents 
(9%) to opt for the 2.99% increase, while female residents (15%) were 
significantly more likely than their male counterparts (8%) to opt for the 
1.99% increase

 Residents without a disability (42%) were significantly more likely than 
residents with one (27%) to opt for a £5 increase.

Chart 2: Level of increase that would be reasonable

10%

15%

37%

13%

11%

13%

12%

15%

38%

9%

15%

11%

Don't know

None of the above

£5 (An increase of £5 a year for a Band D property (pro 
rata for other bands), increasing the total charge to 

£93.24)

2.99% (An increase of £2.64 a year for a Band D 
property, increasing the total charge to £90.88)

1.99% (An increase of £1.76 a year for a Band D 
property, increasing the total charge to £90.00)

1% (An increase of 88p a year for a Band D property, 
increasing the total charge to £89.12)

Businesses Residents

Q06. What level of increase would you consider is reasonable for the Authority to increase its element of the Council 
Tax charge by? Base: All respondents (Business n=399; Residents n=402)

Page 81



8

2.3 Reasons for disagreeing that increase is reasonable 

Respondents who disagreed that it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider increasing its 
Council Tax charge for 2021/22 (14% of businesses and 12% of residents) were asked 
a follow-up question to help clarify their response. The following verbatims were taken 
from these responses and reflect the general sentiment of the respondents.

Businesses
Businesses suffering due to Covid situation; cannot afford an increase in council 
tax.

It’s a bad time of year to do it, a lot of businesses are struggling. There was also 
a building being built for the fire brigade which was not occupied for more than 
two years.

Not in line with inflation and current business costs.

Money should be rechannelled from the police to the fire service. Without any 
change to council charge.

I'm actually on the breadline so I don't want to be paying more council tax.

It’s not an appropriate time to raise council tax with current economic situation.

Residents
I agree with an increase, but from other Council funds.

I’m not pleased with the Council generally and do not think it’s justified that council 
tax goes up at all.

A lot of the time it does not go to the cause it should go to.

Personally, I'd have to say that the wages around here are very poor especially 
with what has happened this year. I think a lot of people would struggle with an 
increase in council tax charges.

Q06b. Why do you think it is not reasonable for the Authority to increase its element of the Council Tax charge? Base: 
All respondents who disagreed it was reasonable to seek an increase (Business n=55; Residents n=48)

Page 82



9

2.4 Whether DSFRS provides value for money

All respondents were asked if they agree or disagree that DSFRS provides value for 
money.

Businesses 
Eight-in-ten (79%) businesses agreed that DSFRS provides value for money, 
including 58% who strongly agreed with the sentiment. Significantly, only 3 
business respondents (representing less than 1% of total) disagreed that DSFRS 
provides value for money. 

 G-N, R+S sector businesses (62%) were significantly more likely than A to 
F sector businesses (51%) to strongly agree that DSFRS provides value for 
money.

 Businesses with no (81%) or some (95%) partners/directors from minority 
groups were significantly more likely than businesses in which partners/ 
directors are all from minority groups (34%) to agree that DSFRS provides 
value for money. 

Residents 
85% of residents agree that DSFRS provides value for money. Significantly, only 
one resident disagreed with this sentiment (the balance being made up between 
those who neither agreed nor disagreed (10%) and those who gave a ‘Don’t Know’ 
response (5%). 

 Residents aged 16-24 (69%) along with those aged 45-64 (64%) were 
significantly more likely than residents in the 25-44 age band (46%) to 
strongly agree that DSFRS provides value for money.

Page 83



10

Chart 3: Whether DSFRS provides value for money

58% 59%

22% 26%

9%
10%

11% 5%

Businesses Residents

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don't know

Q07. How strongly do you agree or disagree that Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service provides value for 
money? Base: All respondents (Business n=399; Residents n=402)

2.5 Reasons for disagreeing that DSFRS provides value for money

The three businesses and one resident who disagreed that DSFRS provides value for 
money were asked a follow up question in order to better understand why they 
disagreed. The following verbatims are included as illustrative of their (not commonly 
held) views.

Businesses 
No interaction with them.

Too many fat cats…

Residents
I don’t think value for money should be a factor, as it’s a public service.

Q08. Why do you feel the Service does not provide value for money? Base: All respondents who disagreed it provides 
value for money (Business n=3; Residents n=1)

Page 84



11

Survey Findings

3.1 What respondents think the local fire and rescue service does

This question was asked in order to identify gaps in public understanding of the type of 
services that fall within the remit of DSFRS.  

Businesses 
100% of business respondents identified ‘responding to fires’ as something the 
local fire and rescue service does. 

Substantial majorities of respondents identified each and every other service on 
the list, from a high of 98% in the case of ‘rescuing people from road traffic 
collisions’ to a ‘low’ of 83% in the case of ‘obtaining info from landlords/building 
owners to improve response if fire/emergency occurs in building’ as falling within 
the remit of the local fire and rescue service. 

 Results on this question show very little variation between sub-groups, 
the lone exceptions: a significantly higher share of businesses who have 
recently interacted with DSFRS choosing ‘ensuring those responsible for 
public and commercial buildings comply with fire safety regulations’ 
compared to those who have not (94% vs 85%, respectively); and a 
significantly higher share of businesses who agree with a rate increase 
choosing ‘preventing fires and promoting fire safety’ compared to those 
who disagree with an increase (97% vs 89%, respectively).

Residents 
Almost all residents (98%) interviewed identified ‘responding to fires’ as 
something the local fire and rescue service does as a matter of course. At the 
other end of the scale, only 71% of residents identified ‘obtaining info from 
landlords/building owners to improve response if fire/emergency occurs in 
building’ as a service they provide. 

 Residents aged 45-64 (94%) were significantly more likely than residents 
in the 25-44 (82%) and 65+ (86%) age bands to identify ‘preventing fires 
and promoting fire safety’ as something that lies within the remit of the 
local fire and rescue service. This may suggest that residents in the 
youngest and oldest age brackets are more aware of DSFRS’ reactive 
firefighting duties that what can be done to prevent incidents in the first 
place.

 White residents were significantly more likely than BAME residents to 
identify the following as services: ‘rescuing people from road traffic 

Page 85



12

collisions’ (93% vs 74%, respectively); ‘responding to emergencies such as 
flooding and terrorist incidents’ (90% vs 61%, respectively); and ‘ensuring 
those responsible for public and commercial buildings comply with fire 
safety regulations’ (80% vs 53%, respectively). This suggests that there is 
more DSFRS could do to engage BAME communities with respect to the 
kinds of services the fire and rescue service provides.

 Those who agreed that it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider increasing its 
Council Tax charge were significantly more likely than those who disagreed 
with the proposition to identify ‘ensuring those responsible for public and 
commercial buildings comply with fire safety regulations’ (84% vs 62%, 
respectively) and ‘obtaining info from landlords/building owners to improve 
response if fire/emergency occurs in building’ (75% vs 55%, respectively)

Table 1: What respondents think the local fire and rescue service does

Q01. What do you think your local fire and rescue service does? Base: All respondents (Business n=399; Residents 
n=402)

Businesses Residents 
Service 

% %

Responding to fires 100 98

Rescuing people from road traffic collisions 98 92

Responding to emergencies such as flooding and 
terrorist incidents 95 89

Preventing fires and promoting fire safety 96 89

Ensuring those responsible for public and commercial 
buildings comply with fire safety regulations 86 79

Obtaining info from landlords/building owners to 
improve response if fire/emergency occurs in building 83 71

Collaborating with other organisations, for example the 
police and ambulance service 96 86

None of the above - -

Don’t know - 1

Page 86



13

3.2 Services used

All respondents were asked whether they have interacted with DSFRS in the last 12 
months. 

Businesses 
82% of businesses have had no recent interaction with DSFRS. 7% had a safety 
check or audit in the last 12 months.  

 Results on this question show very little variation between sub-groups

Residents 
84% of residents have had no recent interaction with DSFRS. 4% had a safety 
check or audit in the last 12 months; a similar share (4%) reported a fire safety 
check/visit in their home during the last 12 months. 

 Results on this question show very little variation between sub-groups.

Table 2: Services used*

Q02. Have you interacted with Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service in the last 12 months? Base: All 
respondents (Business n=399; Residents n=402) *The total percentages exceed 100% due to the multiple-response 
format of the question

Businesses Residents 
Service 

% %

House fire 1 2

Road traffic collision <1 1

Flooding - -

Rescue <1 -

Home fire safety check/visit 2 4

Business safety check/audit 7 4

Community use of fire station - -

Youth education <1 1

Community event 2 1

When working with ambulance service and the police <1 <1

Through the service’s social media channels <1 1

Using Service website <1 1

Other engagement 6 5

No interaction with DSFRS 82 84

Page 87



14

3.3 Satisfaction with service provided by DSFRS

All respondents were asked how satisfied they were with the range of services provided 
by DSFRS.

Businesses 
76% of businesses were satisfied with the service provided, including 66% who 
said they were ‘very satisfied’. None of the respondents were dissatisfied with the 
service. However, it is worth noting that 18% of respondents did not provide an 
answer to this question (‘Don’t Know’). 

 Echoing results from an earlier question (Q7: Value for money), G-N, R+S 
sector businesses (80%) were significantly more likely than A to F sector 
businesses (70%) to be satisfied with the service provided by DSFRS. 

 Businesses who reported having contact with DSFRS in the last 12 months 
were significantly more likely than those who had not to be satisfied with 
the service (96% vs 72%, respectively).  

Residents 
Consistent with results from the business survey, 77% of residents were satisfied 
with the service provided, including 66% who said they were ‘very satisfied’. And 
just as in the business survey, none of the residents were dissatisfied with the 
service although a significant minority of them (15%) did not provide an answer 
to this question (‘Don’t Know’).

 Residents who reported having contact with DSFRS in the last 12 months 
were significantly more likely to be satisfied with the service than those 
who had not (92% vs 74%, respectively).  

 Those who agreed that it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider increasing 
its Council Tax charge were significantly more likely to be satisfied with 
the service than those who disagreed (82% vs 63%, respectively). 

 Residents aged 25-44 (64%) were significantly less likely than those in all 
other age bands (16-24, 85%; 45-64, 79%; 65+, 83%) to say they were 
satisfied with the service provided by DSFRS. 

Page 88



15

Chart 4: Satisfaction with service provided by DSFRS

66% 66%

10% 11%
6% 8%

18% 15%

Businesses Residents

Very satisfied

Satisfied

Neither

Dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied

Don't know

Q03. How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the service provided by Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service? 
Base: All respondents (Business n=399; Residents n=402

3.4 What influenced their opinion on question of satisfaction

To add further detail around satisfaction, respondents were asked a follow-up question 
in which they were prompted to provide some explanatory, qualitative feedback. Note 
that the verbatims below are reflective of the fact that only positive (‘very satisfied’ 
and ‘satisfied’) or neutral (‘neither satisfied nor dissatisfied) responses were recorded 
in the previous question. 

Businesses 

I thought they were very thorough and gave practical explanations, they were 
supportive and friendly.

I’m reassured by their presence in the community.

We had a fire many years ago and the service was faultless.

I did call them four years ago and they were there within seconds. They're very 
good.

They’re very professional during checks/audits.

Page 89



16

No complaints about the service.

They do a good job, although short of staff. Response times would likely improve 
with full team.

Not had to use the service, just generally happy with work they do.

I am satisfied that if I need them someone will come. I haven't dealt with them 
on a personal level recently. They do a great job and are probably under 
resourced.

They're always helpful; whatever you need they're there.

My nan's house burnt down when I was younger and there were immediately 7 
fire engines. We also had a fire in a bin near us and they came very quickly.

They do the best they can with the funding.

They're next door to me. The commitment - a lot of them are voluntary so to do 
that on top of a full-time job - is commendable.

Residents

Presumption of a good job being done and being reassured with their presence.

Considering how things are with all the cuts and what they are up against for small 
funds, they do a really good job to keep everyone safe and look after everyone.

Aware of accidents on the A38, and of impressed with what has been written about 
these events in media.

We did have a fire 40 years ago, they were fantastic.

I can see that they always support the community and help out on roads and fires

Happy with how they deal with people with disabilities in the community.

I’ve seen them in action, and I’m impressed with what they do.

I think they do their job well, despite cuts to their budget.

Page 90



17

A fire at a residential building adjacent to my place of work was dealt with promptly 
and effectively.

Because there was a rumour about them cutting back on the fire service. It would 
be terrible if they cut out the fire service as we need them desperately.

Q03b. And what has influenced you to say <response from Q03>? Base: All respondents (Business n=399; Residents 
n=402)

3.5 Perceived reputation of local fire and rescue service

All respondents were asked to reflect on the perceived reputation of their local fire and 
rescue service. 

Businesses 
Unsurprisingly, and consistent with results reported elsewhere in this report, 94% 
of businesses felt the local fire and rescue service enjoyed a good reputation either 
most (21%) or all (74%) of the time.  

Residents 
Consistent with results from the business survey, 93% of residents felt the local 
fire and rescue service enjoyed a good reputation either most (18%) or all (75%) 
of the time.  

 Residents 65+ (67%) were significantly less likely than those in the 25-
44 (81%) and 45-64 (81%) age bands to feel the service enjoys a good 
reputation ‘all of the time.’

 As noted elsewhere, those who agreed that it is reasonable for DSFRS to 
consider increasing its Council Tax charge tended to register higher levels 
of satisfaction, generally, than their counterparts who disagreed. In this 
case, they were significantly more likely than those who did not agree with 
an increase to feel the local fire and rescue service enjoys a good 
reputation ‘all of the time’ (80% vs 65%, respectively). 

Page 91



18

Chart 5: Perceived reputation of local fire and rescue service

74% 75%

21% 18%

1%5% 6%

Businesses Residents

All of the time

Most of the time

Some of the time

Hardly ever

Never

Don't know

Q04. Thinking about your local fire and rescue service, do you think they have a good reputation? Base: All respondents 
(Business n=399; Residents n=402)

Page 92



19

Appendix I: Sample breakdown
The following tables outline the unweighted and weighted demographic profiles of the 
business and resident samples. (PNS = Prefer not to say)

Businesses
Table 3: Local authority district 

Table 4: Business size

Table 5: Industry sector 

NOTE: 
A to F includes the following sectors: A: Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing; B Mining and Quarrying; C 
Manufacturing; D Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply; E Water supply, sewerage, waste 
management and remediation activities; F Construction.

G to N, R and S includes the following sectors: G Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles 
and motorcycles; H Transportation and storage; I Accommodation and food service activities; J 
Information and communication; K Financial and insurance activities; L Real estate activities; M 
Professional, scientific and technical activities; N Administrative and support service activities; R Arts, 
entertainment and recreation; S Other service activities.

Weighted Unweighted
Local authority district

% Number % Number

Torbay 5 22 19 75

Plymouth 8 32 26 102

Devon 52 209 27 107

Somerset 34 137 29 115

Weighted Unweighted
Industry sector

% Number % Number

Micro 90 359 85 340
Small 8 32 10 41
Medium 1 4 4 15
Large 1 4 1 3

Weighted Unweighted
Industry sector

% Number % Number

A to F 38 153 33 131
G to N, R + S 62 246 67 268

Page 93



20

Table 6: Directors/partners from minority groups

Residents
Table 7: Local authority district 

Table 8: Age 

Weighted Unweighted
Directors/Partners

% Number % Number

No BAME 94 358 93 346

Some BAME 4 14 5 20

All BAME 2 7 2 7

Weighted Unweighted
Local authority district

% Number % Number

Torbay 8 31 28 112

Plymouth 15 59 24 98

Devon 46 185 22 87

Somerset 32 127 26 105

Weighted Unweighted
Age 

% Number % Number

16-18 2 8 2 9

19-24 9 38 9 38

25-34 13 51 9 38

35-44 12 49 11 45

45-54 16 62 16 64

55-64 16 64 18 72

65-74 17 67 18 73

75-84 11 44 10 42

85+ <1 2 1 3

PNS 4 18 4 18

Page 94



21

Table 9: Gender 

Table 10: Ethnic background 

Table 11: Disability  

NOTE: 
The Equality Act 2010 defines someone as a disabled person if they have a physical or mental 
impairment which has long term and substantial adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day 
to day activities. Such examples may include; HIV, cancer, mobility, sight or hearing impairments or 
depression. When answering this question, you should not take into account the effect of any 
medication, treatment or adaptions which reduce the effects of impairment. You should think about the 
effect your impairments have if medication or treatments were not being used or made.

Weighted Unweighted
Gender 

% Number % Number

Female 52 207 53 211
Male 48 192 47 188
PNS <1 3 <1 3

Weighted Unweighted
Ethnic background  

% Number % Number

White 96 385 94 377

Mixed  <1 1 1 3

Asian 2 9 3 12

Black  1 2 1 5

PNS 1 5 1 5

Weighted Unweighted
Disability 

% Number % Number

Yes 13 54 18 72
No 77 311 76 306
PNS 9 37 6 23

Page 95



22

Table 12: Caring responsibilities

Weighted UnweightedCaring responsibilities 
(PC = Primary Carer) % Number % Number

PC of child/ren <2 yrs 2 9 2 8

PC of child/ren 2-18 yrs 10 42 11 45

PC of disabled child/ren <1 1 <1 2

PC of disabled adult 3 14 4 17

PC of adult (65+) 6 25 8 31

Secondary carer 2 9 2 10

No caring responsibilities 69 276 69 277

PNS 9 35 5 22

Page 96



23

Appendix II: Call outcomes
The following tables provide an overview of all the calls made as part of this research.

Businesses
Table 16: Call outcomes for business sample

Outcome Contacts Total 
(%)

In scope
Complete 399 27

Did not meet criteria = 5
Partial completes

Quota full = 21
2

Refusal 407 28
Respondent not available 623 43
Sub-total 1,455 100

Out of scope
Line engaged = 28
No answer = 1,438No answer

Answer machine = 536
72

Unusable 521 19
Non-qualifier 169 6
Unreachable 72 3
Sub-total 2,764 100
Total 4,219

Page 97



24

Residents
Table 17: Call outcomes for resident sample

Outcome Contacts Total 
(%)

In scope
Complete 402 24

Did not meet criteria = 13
Partial completes Quota full = 53 4

Refusal 723 43
Respondent not available 479 29
Sub-total 1,670 100

Out of scope
Line engaged = 47
No answer = 1,542No answer

Answer machine = 651
81

Unusable 275 10
Non-qualifier 187 7
Unreachable 64 2
Sub-total 2,766 100
Total 4,436

Page 98



APPENDIX F TO REPORT DSFRA/21/3

2021/22 Precept consultation online survey

1. Online survey overview

1.1 The online survey was available from 6 November - 18 December 2020. The 
consultation period was promoted through our website and social media, 
targeted adverts on Facebook, Devon and Somerset library services, Devon 
Communities Together, Somerset Resilient Forum, a press release and 
through internal channels. Examples of the Facebook adverts and promotion 
information can be found in Section 5 of this report. 

1.2 In that period a total of 737 completed responses were received, compared 
with 121 completed surveys last year. This is due to the increased targeted 
advertising we conducted this year and the lower response last year due to 
purdah.  

1.3 As only thirteen of these responses represented the business sector, the 
results have not been separated. 

1.4 The total number of responses differ for each question as some people chose 
not to respond to every question. 

1.5 Due to the Covid-19 restrictions, there was not an option for paper surveys this 
year. Any enquiries for an alternative to online would receive a telephone 
interview with DJS Research. There were no enquiries for this.

1.6 The survey had three main sections: general questions about the service to 
gauge level of understanding of what DSFRS do (section 3 of report), 
compulsory questions directly about precept (section 2 of report) and 
demographic questions (section 4 of report). 

1.7 This report summarises the main findings from the survey. 

Page 99



2. Results to compulsory questions (Question number 5-7):

2.1 Q5. How much do you agree that it is reasonable for the Authority to 
consider increasing its council tax charge for 2021/22?

Table 1: Responses to Question 5

Answer Option Response Response %
Strongly agree 198 26.9
Agree 272 36.9
Neither agree nor 
disagree

120 16.3

Disagree 57 7.7
Strongly disagree 78 10.6
Don't know 12 1.6
Total 737 100

Chart 1:  Results of agreement to consider increasing the precept

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree Don't know
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Response Percentage

 

2.2 The results indicate that nearly 64% answered positively to an increase whilst 
just over 18% answered negatively. Of those who answered negatively, more 
than half (nearly 11%) strongly disagree that the Authority should consider 
increasing its charges. This is a significant change to last year’s response 
where 35% strongly disagreed the Authority should consider increasing its 
charges although still accounts for 135 people who completed the survey. 

Page 100



2.3 Q6. What level of increase would you consider is reasonable for the 
Authority to increase its element of the council tax charge by?

Table 2: Responses to Question 6 who answered either strongly agree, agree, 
neutral or don’t know to question 5. 

Answer Option Response Response %
1% (An increase of 88p a year for a Band D 
property, increasing the total charge to 
£89.12)

103 17.1

1.99%  (An increase of £1.76 a year for a 
Band D property, increasing the total charge 
to £90.00)

125 20.8

2.99% (An increase of £2.64 a year for a 
Band D property, increasing the total charge 
to £90.88)

93 15.4

£5 (An increase of £5 a year for a Band D 
property (pro rata for other bands), increasing 
the total charge to £93.24)

281 46.7

Total 602 100

Chart 2: Responses to question 6 also including those who did not agree to an 
increase

No increase 1% 1.99% 2.99% £5
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Response Response %

2.4 The responses indicate that the most popular option overall is a £5 increase 
with 281 respondents choosing this (38% of everyone who completed the 
survey). 

Page 101



2.5 Just over two thirds (67.6%) of respondents considered a 1.99% increase or 
higher reasonable. 238 people opted for either no increase or 1% increase.

2.6 If you disagreed with Q5, why do you think it is not reasonable for the 
Authority to increase its element of the council tax charge?

2.7 Of the 135 who disagreed that it is reasonable for DSFRS to consider 
increasing its element of the council tax charge for 2020/21, 103 chose to 
answer why they disagreed.

2.8 The common emerging themes highlighted by respondents indicated:  

 Concerns about affordability for people in light of Covid-19, pay freezes 
and general financial worries. 

 The Service has too much resource, with a focus around salary of 
management, new fleet and buildings, time spent at stations rather than 
responding and the amount in Service reserves.

 The Service should look to make efficiency savings before increasing 
council tax contribution.

 Dissatisfaction at the cuts being made despite increases to council tax.

 Not seeing frontline or service improvements despite increases in the 
council tax precept and questions around value for money.

 Government support more and efficiency savings in councils.

2.9 A sample range of comments made by respondents are listed below:

 “First the Authority needs to prove it provides value for money and only if 
the statutory services cannot be met by the existing level of funding look at 
increasing it”

 “Why not introduce a Fire Call Out charge of £50 completely voluntary for 
the saved to pay and keep the council tax rates flat for now until Covid has 
levelled out. If the voluntary payment system works with extra cash 
entering each call out then perhaps (the idea) could be shared throughout 
all emergency services.”

 “Because you're constantly seeking to make savings by cutting frontline 
services which no matter what way you word it to us, is a reduction in fire 
cover and therefore we receive less and less for our money's worth. Also I 
cannot leave the question above blank which is a little flawed so I've 
marked the lowest possible but in reality it should be 0%.”

 “Should the Fire and Rescue Authority require extra funding consider: 
1.Slim down management structure - do you need asst Deputy of the 
Deputy. 2. Councils need to reallocate more of its overbloated budget, get 
the Councils out of non-core services and back to what the Council was 
set up for. Again slim down departments and management structures.”

Page 102



2.10 Q7. How strongly do you agree or disagree that Devon and Somerset Fire 
and Rescue Service provides value for money?

Table 3: Responses to value for money question

Answer Option Response Response %
Strongly agree 365 49.5
Agree 163 22.1
Neither agree nor disagree 104 14.1
Disagree 34 4.6
Strongly disagree 19 2.6
Don't know 52 7.1
Total 737 100

Chart 3: Results of value for money question

Strongly agree Agree Neither agree nor 
disagree

Disagree Strongly disagree Don't know
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Response Percentage

2.11 The results indicate that almost three quarters of respondents (71%) agree or 
strongly agree that the Service provides value for money. 

2.12 This is consistent with the 2019 HMICFRS perception survey in which 72% 
perceived their local service provided value for money.

2.13 If anyone disagreed, there was the opportunity to add why with a free text box. 
None of the 53 respondents who disagreed opted to complete this.

Page 103



3. Results to non-compulsory questions (Questions 1-4)

3.1 Q1. What do you think your local fire and rescue service does?

3.2 To contextualise the above and gauge the level of understanding of the public 
as to what DSFRS does, respondents were asked what they think DSFRS 
does.

Table 4: Response to Question 1

Answer Option Response Response %
Responding to fires 734 99.6
Rescuing people from 
road traffic collisions 727 98.6

Responding to 
emergencies such as 
flooding and terrorist 
incidents 

714 96.9

Preventing fires and 
promoting fire safety 721 97.8

Ensuring those 
responsible for public and 
commercial buildings 
comply with fire safety 
regulations

673 91.3

Obtaining information 
from landlords/building 
owners to improve 
response if a fire or other 
emergency occurs in the 
building

652 88.5

Collaborating with other 
organisations, for 
example the police and 
ambulance service 

705 95.7

None of the above 3 0.4
Don’t know 3 0.4

Page 104



Chart 4: what do you think our fire and rescue service does?

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800

Responding to fires

Rescuing people from road traffic collisions 

Responding to emergencies such as flooding and 
terrorist incidents 

Preventing fires and promoting fire safety 

Ensuring those responsible for public and commercial 
buildings comply with fire safety regulations

Obtaining information from landlords/building owners 
to improve response if a fire or other emergency...

Collaborating with other organisations, for example the 
police and ambulance service 

None of the above 

Don’t know

Percentage Response

3.3 The results indicate that there is a good level of understanding about what the 
Service does from those who have completed the survey, with the lowest level 
of knowledge about ‘Ensuring those responsible for public and commercial 
buildings comply with fire safety regulations’ at 88.5%. 

3.4 This is higher than the national findings of the 2019 HMICFRS public 
perception survey which had its highest response as 90% preventing fires and 
lowest as 61% ‘Ensuring those responsible for public and commercial buildings 
comply with fire safety regulations’.

3.5 Q2. Have you interacted with Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue 
Service in the last 12 months? (select all that apply)

Table 5: how people have interacted with DSFRS in the past 12 months

Answer Option Response Response %
Yes, house fire 53 7.6
Yes, road traffic collision 45 6.4
Yes, flooding 25 3.6
Yes, rescue 28 4
Yes, home fire safety 
check/visit 54 7.7

Yes, business safety 
check/audit 50 7.1

Yes, community use of 
fire station 33 4.7

Yes, youth education 31 4.4
Yes, community event 44 6.3

Page 105



Answer Option Response Response %
Yes, when we have 
worked with the 
ambulance service and 
the police 

29 4.1

Yes, through the Service 
social media channels 
(Facebook, Twitter and 
Instagram)

64 9.1

Yes, using the Service 
website 42 6.0

Yes, other engagement 50 7.1
No, I have not interacted 
with Devon and Somerset 
Fire and Rescue Service. 

400 57.1

Chart 4: how people have interacted with DSFRS in the past 12 months

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450

Yes, house fire
Yes, road traffic collision 

Yes, flooding
Yes, rescue

Yes, home fire safety check/visit 
Yes, business safety check/audit 

Yes, community use of fire station 
Yes, youth education 

Yes, community event
Yes, when we have worked with the ambulance service...

Yes, through the Service social media channels...
Yes, using the Service website

Yes, other engagement 
No, I have not interacted with Devon and Somerset...

Percentage Respondents

3.6 The results indicate that the highest level of interaction this year has been 
online (9.1%). This is likely to be due to the covid-19 pandemic. 

3.7 Over half of respondents (57%) have not had any interaction with DSFRS in the 
past 12 months. The number of respondents who have not interacted with the 
Service is just slightly higher than last year (55%) despite the covid-19 
pandemic.

3.8 Of the 50 respondents who selected ‘other’, 42 added what this was and 
included:

Page 106



Table 6: themed responses to ‘other’ interaction with the Service

Emerging theme Response
Seen an incident 16
Employee/ family member/ friend / 
cadet 

10

Partner organisation 5
Town Councillor/ parish council 2
Had fire training by the Service 2
Awareness event for prostate cancer 1
Protection services 1
Fire Service representative body 1
Seen at training exercise 1
Went to station to say thank you 1
Joined campaign to support fire station 
staffing

1

Fire hydrant check 1
3.9 Q3. How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the service provided by 

Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service (DSFRS)?
Table 7: Response to satisfaction question

 Answer Option Response Response %
Very satisfied 410 60.4
Satisfied 83 12.2
Neither satisfied or 
dissatisfied 75 11.0

Dissatisfied 17 2.5
Very dissatisfied 14 2.1
Don't know 80 11.8
Total 679 100

Chart 5: Results of levels of satisfaction with the service provided by DSFRS

Very satisfied Satisfied Neither satisfied 
or dissatisfied

dissatisfied Very dissatisfied Don't know
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Respondents Percentage

Page 107



3.10 The results indicate that almost 73% of respondents were satisfied or very 
satisfied with the level of service received by DSFRS, a rise from 47% last year 
most likely due to the Safer Together programme. 

3.11 This is in line with the 2019 HMICFRS perception survey in which 73% 
perceived their local service provided value for money.

3.12 What has influenced how you answered question 3?
Of the 679 who answered question 3, 347 chose to add to the free text box 
about what influenced their level of satisfaction/dissatisfaction with the service 
provided by DSFRS.

3.13 The response to emergency services with the Covid-19 pandemic may have 
had a positive influence on this question.

3.14 The common emerging themes from respondents highlighted:

 General positive comments referring to the service and staff as amazing, 
dedicated, knowledgeable, professional, heroes, helpful, hardworking 
amongst others.

 No interaction with the fire service so unable to answer

 Cuts including station closures and changes to fire engines

 Always there when you need them

 Quick response times

 Know/ was/ am a firefighter

 Received advice / prevention services

 Too much resource (eg. Paid to sleep, waste money) Too much resource 
(eg. Paid to sleep, waste money)

 Staff (lack of recruitment, low pay, lack of staff support)

 From social media/ media/ comms

3.15 A sample range of comments made by respondents are listed below:

 “Cuts have seen a deterioration in the protection offered to the public with 
inadequate numbers of firefighters and sub standard vehicles.”

 “The current top management have seriously reduced numbers and the 
wider public are unaware of the shortage and how long it could take to 
attend more remote property.”

 “The personnel themselves are superb BUT obviously very understaffed 
and very stretched. On top of that there's plans to close Frome fire station 
which will cost lives.”

 “Very happy with the way fire fighters and their direct support teams get 
the job done but not happy at all with the way management and the FSA 
put the public at risk by making cuts without assessing risks and engaging 
in an open and honest public discussion.”

Page 108



 “Always professional, organised, polite, friendly, calming, trustworthy, 
heroes.”

 “The crew were quick getting to us they showed sympathy and empathy 
and saved our home when it flooded and gave us good advice on how to 
dry our brand new carpets and floors”

 “The fire personnel are all local, they interact with the community area that 
they cover, local people have seen what it means to them when they have 
had to deal with a fatality or a fire in a local home or business. They care, 
they are there for everyone and involved with local companies. Most of all 
no matter how busy they are they still make the effort to wave to the little 
children on the way to a shout!”

3.16 Q4. Thinking about your local fire and rescue service, do you think they 
have a good reputation?

Table 8: response to reputation of DSFRS question

 Answer Option Response Response %
All of the time 496 67.7
Most of the time 153 20.9
Some of the time 32 4.4
Hardly ever 7 1.0
Never 3 0.4
Don't know 42 5.7
Total 733 99.74

Chart 6: response to reputation of DSFRS question

All of the time Most of the time Some of the time Hardly ever Never Don't know
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450
500
550

Response Response %

3.17 The results indicate that 88.6% of respondents feel DSFRS has a good 
reputation most of the time. 

3.18 This question was added this year to give opportunity for those who had not 
used the Service to answer based on reputation rather than satisfaction.

Page 109



3.19 What has influenced your answer to question 4?
Of the 733 people who answered this question, 291 completed the text box to 
answer what had influenced their answer. Emerging themes include:

 General positive experience/ perception of teams

 Not heard otherwise

 Have seen positive reports in press/ social media/ other communications

 Positive part of the community

 Cuts including station closures and changes to fire engines

 Too much resource (eg. Paid to sleep, waste money)

 Positive frontline, negative management or back office

 Never needed the fire service/ not enough information to answer fully

 General negative (eg. Too much discussion whilst deciding what to do at 
an incident, handling of hotel fire)

3.20 A sample range of comments made by respondents are listed below:

 “Firefighters have an excellent reputation, but the service's management 
has an appalling reputation.”

 “The way the current senior management are ripping the community heart 
out of retained stations by the way they treat new prospective employees.”

 “Too many hours sat in the station just in case an incident occurs most 
have two jobs. They moan to high heaven when they are asked to reduce 
costs etc.”

 “The local station is fine but your recent consultation and cuts were not 
right”

 “They always there when you need them in any issue you may be in from 
floods to car accident and to putting a fire out in a home.”

 “My local crew are totally respected by the local community”

 “I have never heard or seen adverse comments about them. Only praise.”

Page 110



4. Profile of Respondents 

4.1 The following questions provided an opportunity to gather local intelligence 
from respondents and ascertain whether a cross section of people had 
responded to the survey.

4.2 Q.8 Are you…? Respondents were asked whether they were completing the 
survey as a business or resident

Table 9: Responses to Question 8 

Answer Option Response Response %
A member of the public 722 98.2
Representing a business 13 1.8
Total 735 100

4.3 As only thirteen of these responses represented the business sector, the 
results have not been separated. Total number of responses differ for each 
question as some people chose not to respond to every question. Some who 
answered as a resident cited their business within an answer.

4.4 DJS Research were commissioned to interview 400 businesses so this data will 
be used to determine any disproportionate views to the views of the pubic.

4.5 Q.9: Which of the following age groups do you fall into?
Table 10: Respondents’ age group

Answer Option Response Response %
16-18 8 1.1
19-24 48 6.5
25-34 108 14.7
35-44 127 17.3
45-54 146 19.9
55-64 145 19.7
65-74 119 16.2
75-84 23 3.1
85+ 0 0
Prefer not to say 11 1.5
Total 735 100

   

Page 111



Chart 8: showing proportion of responses by age group 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160

16-18

19-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-74

75-84

85+

Prefer not to say

Age Group of repondent

4.6 The results indicate that the majority of respondents were aged between 35-44 
(17.3%), 45-54 (19.9%), 55-64 (19.7%) and 65-74 (16.2%). 

4.7 There was a very low response rate from those aged between 16-18 (1.1%) 
and those 75-84 (3.1%), although 23 responses is still a reasonable 
representation for 75-84. We received no responses from anybody 85+.

4.8 The low responses from the age group 85+ is consistent with previous years. 
This year we were unable to undertake any face to face engagement due to the 
Covid-19 restrictions so harder to engage this audience. 

4.9 Through the consultation term (6 November – 18 December) the responses 
were reviewed to ensure a good cross-section of our communities. Paid 
advertising was used to boost responses from those under 35 and 65+ from 27 
November. 

Table 11: respondents’ age group mid-term compared to after paid for advertising

Answer Option Responses up to 
27.11.20 Final Responses

16-18 1 (1.2%) 8 (1.1%)
19-24 1 (1.2%) 48 (6.5%)
25-34 7 (8.6%) 108 (14.7%)
35-44 17 (21%) 127 (17.3%)
45-54 24 (29.6%) 146 (19.9%)
55-64 15 (18.5%) 145 (19.7%)
65-74 10 (12.3%) 119 (16.2%)
75-84 2 (2.5%) 23 (3.1%)
85+ 0 (0%) 0 (0%)
Prefer not to say 4 (4.9%) 11 (1.5%)
Total 81 735

Page 112



4.10 Q10: Do you identify as:
Table 12: Responses to Question 10 (gender)

Answer Option Response Response %
Male 313 42.6
Female 382 52.0
Non-Binary 3 0.4
In some other way/self-
describe 1 0.1

Prefer not to say 35 4.8
Total 734 99.9

Chart 9: Chart showing gender of respondents 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Male 

Female

Non-Binary

In some other way/self-describe

Prefer not to say

Percentage of response Number of responses

4.11 Respondents that selected “In some other way/self-describe” commented;

 I change from female to male depending on my mood.

4.12 The majority of responses were received from females (52%) compared to 
males (42.6%).

4.13 More women answered positively to an increase of precept with 67.8% 
answering positively compared to 61.3% male. Women also indicated they 
would be happier to pay more with 45.3% answering £5 increase compared to 
35.5% men selecting a £5 increase.

4.14 Before this year’s precept consultation, the mean three year average for 
responses from female respondents was 25.85%. This means we have 
received over double the amount of female responses this year than the 
previous three year average. This is likely to be a result of targeted online 
advertising which started on 27 November.

Page 113



Table 13: answer to gender question mid-term and at the end of the survey

Answer Option Response up to 
27.11.20

Response at end of 
survey

Male 57 (70.4%) 313 (42.6%)
Female 16 (19.8%) 382 (52.0%)
Non-Binary 0 3 (0.4%)
In some other way/self-
describe 0 1 (0.1%)

Prefer not to say 8 (9.9%) 35 (4.8%)
Total 81 734

4.15 Q.11 Does your gender identity match your sex as registered at birth?
Table 14: responses to question 11

Answer Option Response Response %
Yes 687 94
No 2 0.3
Prefer not to say 42 5.7
Total 731 100

4.16 Q.12 - Which of the following best describes how you think about 
yourself?

Table 15: responses to question 12

Answer Option Response Response %
Heterosexual or straight 623 85.8
Gay man 6 0.8
Gay Woman 4 0.6
Bi-Sexual 16 2.2
In some other way/self-
describe 9 1.2

Prefer not to say 68 9.4
Total 726 100

4.17 Respondents that selected “In some other way/self-describe” commented;

 Chinese

 I am a straight woman

 Depends on how I feel on the day

 Post op transgender

 Married

 Pansexual x 2 

Page 114



 LGBT+

4.18 The majority of respondents selected Heterosexual or straight as their 
response (85.8%). 

4.19 More respondents selected Bi-Sexual (2.2%) than Gay Man and Gay Woman 
added together (1.4%).

4.20 Nearly 10% of respondents selected that they would “prefer not to say” (9.4%).

4.21 Q.13 – In relation to the definition of disability above, do you consider 
yourself to be disabled?

Table 16: Responses to Question 13

Answer Option Response Response %
Yes 87 11.9
No 596 81.2
Prefer not to say 51 6.9
Total 734 100

4.22 The results indicate that the majority of respondents (81.2%) stated that they 
did not have a disability, long term illness or health condition.

4.23 11.9% of respondents consider themselves to have a disability, long term 
illness or health condition. This is nearly double the responses we received last 
year (6%) from those that considered themselves to be disabled.

4.24 Only 6.9% of respondents selected “prefer not to say”, this is over 12% lower 
than last year (19.66%).

4.25 Q14: Do you have any caring responsibilities?
Table 17: Responses to Question 14 – Do you have any caring responsibilities? 
(Please select all that apply)

Answer Option Response Response %
None 434 59.5
Primary carer of a child or 
children (under 2 years) 26 3.6

Primary carer of a child or 
children (between 2 and 
18 years)

128 17.6

Primary carer of a 
disabled child or children 6 0.8

Primary carer or assistant 
for a disabled adult (18 
years and over)

19 2.6

Page 115



Answer Option Response Response %
Primary carer or assistant 
for an older person or 
people (65 years and 
over)

30 4.1

Secondary carer (another 
person carries out main 
caring role)

27 3.7

Shared primary carer 
responsibility, please 
provide details

8 1.1

Prefer not to say 51 7.0
Total 729 100

4.26 Respondents that selected “please provide details” commented;
 50/50 custody of daughter
 Both myself and my wife are equally responsible for the care of our two 

children (2 and 8 years old)
 Child under 2
 Children under 18
 Parental responsibility
 Provide support for my step-dad who has stage 3 Colon & liver cancer & also 

for my mum has depression.

4.27 The results indicate that nearly 60% of respondents do not currently have any 
caring responsibilities.

4.28 Question 15: What is your religion? 
Table 18: Responses to Question 15

Answer Option Response Response %
No Religion 343 46.8
Christian all 
denominations 300 40.9

Buddhist 3 0.4
Hindu 0 0
Jewish 0 0
Muslim 1 0.1
Sikh 0 0
Prefer not to say 69 9.4
Other 17 2.3
Total 733 99.9

Of the 17 respondents that selected “other”, 16 chose to comment:

 Agnostic x2

 Humanist x1

Page 116



 Jedi x1 

 Jehovah’s witness x1

 Pagan x7

 Polytheist x1

 Satanist x1

 Spiritual x1

 Spiritualist x1

4.29 The results indicate that almost half (47%) of respondents have no religion.

4.30 Almost 41% state their religion as Christian all denominations.

4.31 Q.16 How would you describe your national identity?
Table 19: Responses to Question 16 – regarding ethnic origin.

Answer Option Response Response %
English 509 69.6
Welsh 9 1.2
Scottish 9 1.2
Northern Irish 1 0.1
British 150 20.5
Prefer not to say 34 4.7
Other 19 2.6
Total 731 99.9

All 19 respondents who selected “other” commented:

 White American

 These questions are stupid and have nothing to do with emergency services, 
only office idiots need t

 Mixed English

 White American

 Somerset

 European 

 American

 Cornish 

Page 117



4.32 Q.17 What is your ethnic group?
Table 20: Responses to Question 17 – regarding ethnic origin.

Answer Option Response Response %
English / Welsh / Scottish 
/ Northern Irish / British 696 97.1

Irish 4 0.6
Gypsy or Irish Traveller 1 0.1
Any other white 
background 16 2.2

White and black 
Caribbean 2 0.3

White and black African 0 0
White and Asian 1 0.1
Any other mixed multiple 
ethnic background 1 0.1

Asian / Asian British - 
Indian 0 0

Asian / Asian British - 
Pakistani 0 0

Asian / Asian British - 
Bangladeshi 0 0

Asian / Asian British - 
Chinese 0 0

Any other Asian 
background 0 0

Black / black British - 
African 0 0

Black / black British - 
Caribbean 0 0

Any other black 
background 0 0

Other ethnic groups - 
Arab 0 0

Total 721 99.9

4.33 The results indicate that the majority of respondents (97.1%) stated they were 
White – English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / British.

4.34 Q.18 What is the first part of your postcode?

4.35 Respondents were asked to provide the first part of their postcode, this helps 
us to understand whether we received a cross section of responses from 
across Devon and Somerset. Of the 737 total respondents, 692 provided a 
postcode and thee have been displayed on the map below. Note: although 
some responses look out of our Service area, part of their postcode area is 
included. 

Page 118



Map 1: displaying respondents’ postcode areas

5. Promoting the consultation

5.1 The consultation was promoted using social media, press release and the 
website homepage. 

5.2 Paid for Facebook advertising was used throughout the consultation with these 
example adverts being used:

  

Page 119



5.3 The Facebook post reached 101,439 people and 3,855 people clicked through 
from Facebook to the survey page. Comments were generally positive and all 
replied to encouraging to follow the link to complete the survey so we could 
capture feedback formally.

5.4 Twitter was not paid for advertising and had less of a reach, with 1 retweet from 
and 4 likes.

 

5.5 The precept survey featured on the home page of the DSFRS website for the 
duration of the survey.

5.6 Devon and Somerset library services, Devon Communities Together and 
Somerset Resilience Forum promoted the survey through their channels. 
Posters had been due to be displayed in their locations but were cancelled due 
to restrictions from covid-19.

5.7 The press release was picked up by local media including Greatest Hits radio, 
BBC Radio Somerset, Heart FM and local media websites including:

Fire service asks Devon and Somerset council tax payers 'are ...
eastdevonnews.co.uk › News

Page 120

https://eastdevonnews.co.uk/2020/11/10/devon-and-somerset-fire-and-rescue-service-asks-devon-and-somerset-council-tax-payers-are-we-worth-it/
https://eastdevonnews.co.uk/2020/11/10/devon-and-somerset-fire-and-rescue-service-asks-devon-and-somerset-council-tax-payers-are-we-worth-it/


REPORT REFERENCE 
NO.

DSFRA/21/4

MEETING DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY (Budget 
Meeting)

DATE OF MEETING 19 FEBRUARY 2021

SUBJECT OF REPORT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 TO 2023-24

LEAD OFFICER Director of Finance and Resourcing (Treasurer)

RECOMMENDATIONS (a) that , as recommended by the Resources Committee at 
its budget meeting on 10 February 2021 (Minute RC/40 
refers, the Authority approves the draft Capital 
Programme 2021-22 to 2023-24 and associated Prudential 
Indicators, as detailed in this report and summarised at 
Appendices A and B respectively, be approved; and

(b) that, subject to (a) above, the forecast impact of the 
proposed Capital Programme (from 2024-25 onwards) on 
the 5% debt ratio Prudential Indicator as indicated in this 
report be noted.

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY

This report sets out the proposals for a three year Capital 
Programme covering the years 2021-22 to 2023-24 and also 
outlines the difficulties in meeting the full capital expenditure 
requirement for the Authority, given the number of fire stations, fire 
appliances and associated equipment required to be maintained 
and eventually replaced.  
The Authority has been advised over recent years of the difficulties 
in maintaining a programme that is affordable within the 5% 
Prudential Indicator against a reducing revenue budget. The 
Committee has supported the Treasurer’s recommendation that the 
Authority should seek alternative sources of funding other than 
external borrowing to support future capital investment. 
To inform longer term planning, the Prudential Indicator has been 
profiled for a further two years beyond 2023-24 based upon 
indicative capital programme levels for the years 2024-25 to 2025-
26.  

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS

As indicated within the report.

EQUALITY IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT

An initial assessment has not identified any equality issues 
emanating from this report.

APPENDICES A. Summary of Proposed Capital Programme 2021-22 to 2023-
24 (and indicative Capital Programme 2024-25 to 2025-26).

B. Prudential Indicators 2021-22 to 2023-24 (and indicative 

Page 121

Agenda Item 10b



Prudential Indicators 2024-25 to 2025-26). 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

None

Page 122



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Each year, the Capital Programme is reviewed and adjusted to include new 
projects and those carried forward, allowing the capital investment needs of the 
Service to be understood over a three year rolling programme. In constructing 
the programme, considerable effort is made to ensure that the impact of 
borrowing is maintained below the 5% ratio of financing costs to net revenue 
stream – one of several Prudential Indicators previously agreed by the Devon 
and Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Authority”).

1.2. Up until 2015-16, the Authority was in receipt of some direct grant funding 
towards capital spending as a share of a government allocation of £70m per 
annum towards Fire Sector capital investment. In 2014-15, this allocation was 
£1.4m and in previous years, as much as £2m. However, as part of government 
austerity measures, this funding has now been withdrawn meaning that from 
2015-16 onwards the Authority no longer receives any direct grant funding 
towards its capital investment plans.

1.3. To mitigate the impact of this withdrawal of funding to the 5% debt ratio, the 
Authority agreed as part of the previous year budget setting to replace this 
funding with a significant revenue base contribution to funding the capital 
programme and building a capital reserve for the medium term. Due to cost 
pressures and grant funding cuts, it is becoming increasingly difficult to sustain 
the revenue contribution to capital available in previous years. 

1.4. On 10January 2020, the Authority approved changes to the Service Delivery 
Operating Model, which has reduced some pressure on the proposed capital 
programme. However, due to the age of current fleet there are still ambitious 
plans to introduce new Medium Rescue Pumps (MRP, our largest fire 
appliances) into the fleet. The fleet replacement programme, when combined 
with multiple station rebuilds, will see a significant draw on the capital reserve 
which is now expected to be used up by 2024/25.

1.5. The Authority has set a strategy to reduce reliance on external borrowing. The 
proposed Capital Programme 2021-22 to 2023-24 and indicative Capital 
Programme 2024-25 to 2025-26 show that, despite the reduced number of 
assets, the Authority will need to borrow up to £5m. Alternatively, there may be a 
need to restrict the amount of funding available to the Capital Programme and 
task the Service with further rationalising its assets.

1.6. This report was previously considered by the Resources Committee at its 
budget meeting on 10 February 2021 which resolved to recommend that the 
Authority (Minute RC/40 refers):

(a) approve the draft Capital Programme 2021-22 to 2023-24 and 
associated Prudential Indicators, as detailed in the report and 
summarised at Appendices A and B respectively to (the) report; 
and

(b) note, subject to (a) above, the forecast impact of the proposed 
Capital Programme (from 2024-25 onwards) on the 5% debt ratio 
Prudential Indicator as indicated in the report.

Page 123



2. FINANCING OF THE PROPOSED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

2.1. The tests of affordability of future capital spending are measured by compliance 
with the Chartered Institute of Public Financial Accountants (CIPFA) Prudential 
Code for Capital Financing for Local Authorities. Under this code, the Authority 
is required to set a suite of indicators to provide assurance that capital spending 
is prudent, affordable and sustainable. The indicators are reviewed annually, 
although set for the three year period. They also include setting maximum 
borrowing limits to provide assurance around prudence and the setting of 
maximum debt ratios to provide assurances in relation to affordability and 
sustainability.

2.2. The proposed programme and funding, as contained in this report, decreases 
the external borrowing requirement to £23.8m by 2023-24 (£25.5m if Council 
Tax is not increased each year) from the current external borrowing of £24.9m 
as at 31 March 2021. The debt ratio remains below the 5% maximum limit 
throughout the planning period.

2.3. The focus of this Authority over many years has been to control spending within 
the 5% limit. To achieve this, the Service has utilised revenue funding wherever 
possible through allocation of budget or revenue underspends. This approach 
has been successful because neither the 5% prudential indicator has been 
breached nor has external borrowing increased.

2.4. With increasing pressure on revenue budgets, the revised programme has been 
prepared on the basis that increased Revenue Contributions to Capital will be 
limited to the amount saved from reduced borrowing, therefore maintaining the 
overall cost envelope for the Capital Programme. However, significant pressures 
still remain and the chart below shows that a gap will emerge between the costs 
of maintaining the new asset base and an affordable capital programme based 
on utilisation of revenue contribution, existing borrowing and the capital reserve.

Page 124



2.5. The funding gap demonstrates a clear requirement to consider further asset 
rationalisation in alignment with the Authority’s future Integrated Risk 
Management Planning and review the requirement for specialist vehicles. 

2.6. Due to current interest rates and the potential need to borrow in the future, it is 
not currently recommended that the Authority repay loans early. This means that 
existing loans will be applied to the current capital programme until repayment is 
made in order to avoid an over-borrowed situation. The debt portfolio and 
interest rates will be regularly reviewed to maximise economy of funding 
sources.

3. REVISED CAPITAL PROGRAMME FOR 2021-22 to 2023-24

3.1. Appendix A to this report provides an analysis of the proposed programme for 
the three years 2021-22 to 2023-24 as contained in this report. This programme 
represents a net decrease in overall spending of £9.6m (before application of 
optimism bias) over the previously agreed indicative programme as illustrated in 
Figure 1 below:
Figure 1

Estates
Fleet & 

Equipment
Total

£m £m £m
Existing Programme
2020-21 9.1 5.9 15.0
2021-22 5.9 6.8 12.7
2022-23 (provisional) 5.7 3.6 9.3
2023-24 (provisional) 5.6 3.8 9.4

Total 2020-21 to 2023-24 26.3 20.1 46.4

Proposed Programme
2020-21 (forecast spending) 3.3 3.3 6.6
2021-22 7.2 6.0 13.2
2022-23 (provisional) 3.6 7.4 11.0
2023-24 (provisional) 1.3 4.7 6.0

Total 2020-21 to 2023-24 15.4 21.4 36.8

Proposed change -10.9 1.3 -9.6

Page 125



Estates
3.2. The Service is currently refreshing its Estates Strategy and undertaking a full 

condition survey of the Estate, to inform a risk based approach to future 
investments. The strategy will also look to maximise opportunities to reduce the 
footprint of buildings as a result of new ways of working and to incorporate the 
Authority’s Green DSFRS environmental strategy. 

3.3. Mindful of the need to review strategy, the programme for 2021-22 has been 
limited to existing projects; particularly the new Plymstock fire station and a 
refurbishment of Camels Head fire station, alongside some minor works to 
ensure compliance such as improved sleeping accommodation and vehicle 
wash down facilities.

3.4. Public Consultation over proposed station closures clearly indicated a 
preference to merge fire stations; this would mean sourcing new sites and 
building new stations at a significant cost and the Service will commence 
feasibility studies for potential mergers in the next Integrated Risk Management 
Plan. Any such mergers would be subject to public consultation and decision by 
the Authority. No plans for merging stations are included in the Capital 
Programme at this stage, however the production of a new Community Risk 
Management Plan may identify locations that would benefit from such mergers 
to better match resources to risk.
Operational Assets

3.5. Through the Safer Together Programme a risk based review of the fleet profile 
of Rapid Intervention Vehicles (RIV), Light Rescue Pumps (LRP) and Medium 
Rescue Pumps (MRP) has been undertaken to confirm the operational 
requirements of the new Service Delivery Operating Model. It is anticipated that 
further RIVs will be introduced to the fleet.

3.6. The Service has a considerable number of assets due for replacement as they 
are beyond their recommended economic life, being expensive to service and 
repair, liable to more frequent reliability issues and increasingly difficult to source 
parts for. As an indicator of the scale of this project, the chart below shows the 
age profile of MRPs.

Page 126



3.7. A 10 year vehicle replacement programme has been developed along with an 
equipment replacement programme (which is funded from revenue due to the 
low value of each individual asset). The Asset Management Project will enable 
the Service to better assess the whole life costs of our assets in the future. 
However, as indicated in this paper, the programme will be subject to review due 
to affordability of the whole capital programme.

3.8. The benefits of the Fleet Replacement Programme are:

 Economic benefits of new fleet

 Standardisation of vehicles leading to reduced maintenance and training 
costs

 Environmental benefits from reduced emissions and savings on fuel 
consumption

3.9. The project to replace MRPs which are beyond economic life is well underway, 
with a contract awarded in January 2020 to renew a considerable number of 
vehicles over the next three year period. The first 20 vehicles are expected to be 
delivered in the 2021-22 financial year (COVID delays are being managed 
closely), which will see a significant draw on the capital reserve. The Service 
has also instigated a project to review and replace Aerial Ladder platforms and 
review other specialist appliances. 

3.10. The Fleet Replacement plan will look to replace some of our oldest appliances 
with new MRPs and RIVs and cascade existing vehicles to the reserve and 
training fleet. Currently we have:

 MRP – 65 front-line appliances of which 32 are overdue replacement and a 
further 8 due replacement this year. A total of 40 vehicles (60% are overdue 
replacement);

 MRP Reserves – There are currently 14 reserve appliances and all are 
overdue replacement. They are being subject to a review of numbers once 
the new MRP is introduced;

 LRP – We have 37 front-line LRP’s due to be 38 of which none are due 
replacement until 2027/28;

 LRP Reserves – There are 4 reserve LRP’s;

 RIV – We have 12 front-line RIV’s of which none will be due replacement 
until at least 2028/29;

 RIV Reserves – There are currently 2 reserve RIV’s;

 Training Appliances – 6 MRP’s all are overdue replacement plus one LRP 
and vehicles for Driver Training which are overdue replacement; and

 A station engagement process on the fleet profile is currently in progress and 
the final profile will be confirmed in April/May to support the fleet replacement 
plans.

Page 127



4. FORECAST DEBT CHARGES

4.1. Appendix A also provides indicative capital requirements beyond 2023-24 to 
2025-26. The estimated debt charge emanating from this revised spending 
profile is illustrated in Figure 2. 
Figure 2 - Summary of Estimated Capital Financing Costs and future borrowing 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
£m £m £m £m £m

Forecast Debt 
outstanding at year 
end

24.757 24.264 23.771 26.194 28.282

Base budget for 
capital financing 
costs and debt 
charges

3.274 3.026 2.942 3.042 3.295

Change over 
previous year

(0.248) (0.084) 0.100 0.253

Debt ratio 4.28% 3.91% 3.74% 3.87% 4.26%

4.2. The forecast figures for external debt and debt charges beyond 2023-24 are 
based upon the indicative programmes as included in Appendix A for the years 
2024-25 to 2025-26. The affordability of these programmes will need to be 
subject to annual review based upon the financial position of the Authority.

5. PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

5.1. Appendix B provides a summary of the Prudential Indicators associated with this 
level of spending over this period. It is forecast that Capital Financing 
Requirement (the need to borrow to fund capital spending) will have increased 
from current levels of £25.7m to £28.6m (including impact of proposed revenue 
contributions) by 2025-26.

5.2. The reducing revenue budget impacts significantly upon the borrowing capacity 
of this Authority and the ability to baseline revenue contribution. Whilst the 
programme now presented maintains borrowing within 5% to 2025-26, this will 
only be possible with appropriate annual revenue contributions to the capital 
programme to maintain an affordable and sustainable Capital Programme.

6. CONCLUSION

6.1. This report emphasises the difficulties in meeting the full capital expenditure 
requirement for the Service, given the geographical size, number of fire stations 
and fire appliances required to be maintained and eventually replaced, and also 
keeping debt charges within the 5% limit. 

Page 128



6.2. The capital programme has been constructed on the basis that the revenue 
budget contribution to capital will be maintained in future years and highlights 
that unless capital assets are further rationalised, there will be a need to borrow 
in 2024-25. The programme proposed in this report does not commit any 
spending beyond 2023-24. Decisions on further spending will be subject to 
annual review based upon the financial position of the Authority. The 
programme is therefore recommended for approval and a future affordability 
review will be undertaken.

  AMY WEBB
Director of Finance and Resourcing (Treasurer) 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A TO REPORT DSFRA/21/4

The “Optimism Bias” incorporates learning that these figures will change throughout 
the year, the reasons for any such changes will be outlined in subsequent papers

Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2025/26
2020/21 

£000
2020/21 

£000
2021/22 

£000
2022/23 

£000
2023/24 

£000
2024/25 

£000
2025/26 

£000

Budget Forecast 
Outturn Item PROJECT Budget Budget Budget Indicative 

Budget
Indicative 

Budget

Estate Development
3,557 1,907 1 Site re/new build (subject to formal authority approval) 2,150 0 0 0 0
5,591 1,437 2 Improvements & structural maintenance 5,089 3,600 1,300 3,500 3,700

9,148 3,344 Estates Sub Total 7,239 3,600 1,300 3,500 3,700

Fleet & Equipment
5,034 2,839 3 Appliance replacement 5,157 2,300 2,800 2,800 2,000

710 370 4 Specialist Operational Vehicles 440 5,100 1,900 700 700
0 0 5 Equipment 0 0 0 0 0

159 9 6 ICT Department 400 0 0 0 0
46 46 7 Water Rescue Boats 0

5,949 3,264 Fleet & Equipment Sub Total 5,997 7,400 4,700 3,500 2,700

(3,800) 0 9 Optimism bias Sub Total (2,600) 400 1,000 1,200 0

11,297 6,608 Overall Capital Totals 10,636 11,400 7,000 8,200 6,400

Programme funding
7,672 2,663 15 Earmarked Reserves: 6,575 7,998 3,417 1,667 0
2,037 2,037 16 Revenue funds: 2,037 2,037 2,300 2,300 2,300

60 380 17 Capital receipts: 0 0 0 0 0
1,528 1,528 18 Borrowing - internal 2,024 1,365 1,283 1,352 1,918

19 Borrowing - external 2,881 2,182

11,297 6,608 Total Funding 10,636 11,400 7,000 8,200 6,400

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B TO REPORT DSFRA/21/4

Page 133



Page 134



REPORT REFERENCE 
NO.

DSFRA/21/5

MEETING DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY (Budget 
Meeting)

DATE OF MEETING 19 FEBRUARY 2021

SUBJECT OF REPORT TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY (INCLUDING 
PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS REPORT 2021-
22 TO 2023-24)

LEAD OFFICER Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer)

RECOMMENDATIONS That, as recommended by the Resources Committee (budget) 
meeting on 10 February 2021, the Authority approves:
(a). the expansion of its approved counter parties to include 

subsidiary entities but the terms and conditions of any 
such arrangement be reserved to the Authority;

(b). the Treasury Management Strategy and the Annual 
Investment Strategy (including the Prudential and 
Treasury Management Indicators 2021-22 to 2023-24 as 
set out at Appendix A to this report); and

(c). the Minimum Revenue Provision statement for 2021-22, 
as contained as Appendix B

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY As agreed at the Authority meeting of 18 December 2017, there is 
a requirement for Resources Committee to review the Treasury 
Management Strategy for recommendation to the Authority. This 
report sets out a treasury management strategy and investment 
strategy for 2021-22, including the Prudential Indicators 
associated with the capital programme for 2021-22 to 2023-24 
considered elsewhere on the agenda of this meeting.  A Minimum 
Revenue Provision Statement for 2021-22 is also included for 
approval.

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS

As indicated in this report

EQUALITY RISKS AND 
BENEFITS ANALYSIS 

The contents of this report are considered compatible with existing 
human rights and equality legislation.

APPENDICES A. Prudential and Treasury Management Indicators 2021-22 to 
2023-24.

B. Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 2021-22.
C.       Link Treasury Solutions economic report

Page 135

Agenda Item 10c



BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

1 Local Government Act 2003.
2 Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountancy’s (CIPFA) 

Prudential Code and CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice 

Page 136



1. INTRODUCTION
Background

1.1. The Authority is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that 
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, 
with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low 
risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Authority’s low risk 
appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment 
return.

1.2. The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
the Authority’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the 
borrowing need of the Authority, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to 
ensure that the Authority can meet its capital spending obligations. This 
management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans, 
or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and 
economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Authority risk 
or cost objectives. 

1.3. The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is 
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the 
ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day 
revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations will see a balance 
of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from cash 
deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally result 
from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the 
sums invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General 
Fund Balance.

1.4. CIPFA defines treasury management as:
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.”

1.5. The Authority has not engaged in any commercial investments and has no non-
treasury investments.
Statutory requirements

1.6. The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations requires the 
Authority to  “have regard to” the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code of Practice to set Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
for the next three years to ensure that the Authority’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable.

Page 137



1.7. The Act therefore requires the Authority to set outs its treasury strategy for 
borrowing and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy (as required by 
Investment Guidance subsequent to the Act and included as paragraph 8 of this 
report); this sets out the Authority’s policies for managing its investments and for 
giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments.

1.8. MHCLG issued revised investment guidance which came into force from 1 April 
2018. This guidance was captured within the revised Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management Code 2017. 
CIPFA requirements

1.9. The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local 
authorities to prepare a capital strategy report which will provide the following: 

 a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision 
of services

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed

 the implications for future financial sustainability

1.10. The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full 
Authority fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting 
capital strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite.
Treasury Management reporting

1.11. The Authority is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three 
main treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, 
estimates and actuals.  

a. Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy (this 
report): The first, and most important report is forward looking and 
covers:

 the capital plans, (including prudential indicators);

 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital 
expenditure is charged to revenue over time);

 the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and 
borrowings are to be organised), including treasury indicators; and 

 an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to 
be managed).

b. A Mid-year Treasury Management Report: This is primarily a 
progress report and will update members on the capital position, 
amending prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies 
require revision. In addition, this Authority will receive quarterly update 
reports.

c. An Annual Treasury Report: This is a backward looking review 
document and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and 
treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the 
estimates within the strategy.

Page 138



1.12. The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Authority.  This role is undertaken by the Resources 
Committee.

1.13. The Authority has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management. The primary 
requirements of the Code are as follows: 

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
which sets out the policies and objectives of the Authority’s treasury 
management activities.

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set 
out the manner in which the Authority will seek to achieve those policies 
and objectives.

 Receipt by the Authority of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement – including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy for the year ahead, a mid-year review report and 
an annual report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 
previous year.

 Delegation by the Authority of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices - for the Authority 
the delegated body is Resources Committee - and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions - for the Authority the 
responsible officer is the Treasurer.

 Delegation by the Authority of the role of scrutiny of treasury management 
strategy and polices to a named body - for the Authority the delegated 
body is Resources Committee.

Treasury Management Strategy for 2021-22
1.14. The suggested strategy for 2021-22 in respect of the following aspects of the 

treasury management function is based upon the treasury officers’ views on 
interest rates, supplemented with leading market forecasts provided by the 
Authority’s treasury advisor, Link Group (Link).  

1.15. The strategy for 2021-22 covers two main areas:
Capital Issues

 capital plans and prudential indicators; and

 the Minimum Revenue Provision statement.
Treasury Management Issues

 treasury limits in force which will limit the treasury risk and activities of 
the Authority;

 treasury Indicators;

 the current treasury position;

 the borrowing requirement;

Page 139



 prospects for interest rates;

 the borrowing strategy;

 policy on borrowing in advance of need;

 debt rescheduling;

 the investment strategy;

 creditworthiness policy; and

 policy on use of external service providers
Training

1.16. The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.  The 
following training has been undertaken by members of the Resources Committee 
and further training will be arranged as required.  
Treasury Management Advisors

1.17. The Authority uses Link Group, Treasury solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors.

1.18. The Authority recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the Authority at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon the services of its external service providers. All decisions will be 
undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, its 
treasury advisers.

1.19. The Authority also recognises that there is value in employing external providers 
of treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills 
and resources. The Authority will ensure that the terms of their appointment and 
the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed, 
documented and subjected to regular review. 

1.20. This report was considered initially by the Resources Committee at its budget 
meeting on 10 February 2021, which resolved to recommend that the Authority 
approve the recommendations as set out (Minute RC/42 refers).

2. CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS FOR 2021-22 TO 2023-24

2.1. The Authority’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in 
the prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and 
confirm capital expenditure plans.

Page 140



2.2. This prudential indicator is a summary of the Authority’s capital expenditure 
plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle.  
Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts as proposed in 
the Capital Programme report considered elsewhere on the agenda. Other long 
term liabilities such as PFI (Private Finance Initiative) and leasing arrangements 
which already include borrowing instruments are excluded.

Proposed Capital 
Expenditure

2020-21 (forecast 
spending)

2021-22 2022-23 (provisional) 2023-24 (provisional)

£m £m £m £m
Estates 3.344 5.889 4.400 1.700
Fleet & Equipment 3.264 4.797 7.100 5.300

Total 6.608 10.686 11.500 7.000

2.3. The following table summarises the financing of the capital programmes shown 
above. Additional capital finance sources may become available during the year, 
for example, additional grants or external contributions. The Authority will be 
requested to approve increases to the capital programme to be financed from 
other capital resources as and when the need arises. 

Capital Financing
2020-21 (forecast 

spending)
2021-22 2022-23 (provisional) 2023-24 (provisional)

£m £m £m £m
Capital receipts/ 
contributions 0.380 0.000 0.000 0.000
Capital grants 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Capital reserves 2.663 6.625 8.098 3.417
Revenue 2.037 2.037 2.037 2.300
Existing and New 
borrowing 1.528 2.024 1.365 1.283

Total 6.608 10.686 11.500 7.000

Page 141



The Authority’s Borrowing Need (Capital Financing Requirement)
2.4. The second prudential indicator is the Authority’s Capital Financing Requirement 

(CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which 
has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially 
a measure of the Authority’s indebtedness and so its underlying borrowing need.  
Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid for, will 
increase the CFR.  

2.5. The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the Minimum Revenue Provision is a 
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line 
with each assets life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets 
as they are used.

2.6. The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance 
leases). Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Authority’s borrowing 
requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility by the PFI via a 
public-private partnership lease provider and so the Authority is not required to 
separately borrow for these schemes. The Authority currently has £1.010m of 
such schemes within the CFR.

2.7. The Authority is asked to approve the CFR projections below as included in 
Appendix A:

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR)

2020-21 (forecast 
spending)

2021-22 2022-23 (provisional) 2023-24 (provisional)

£m £m £m £m
Non-HRA expenditure 24.851 24.758 24.264 23.771
Other Long Term 
Liabilities 1.010 0.907 0.791 0.656

Total CFR 25.861 25.665 25.055 24.426
Movement in CFR (2.918) (2.410) (2.671) (2.107)

Less MRP (2.223) (2.220) (1.975) (1.911)
Net movement in CFR (0.695) (0.191) (0.695) (0.196)

      Core funds and expected investment balances
2.8. The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance 

capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will 
have an ongoing impact on investments unless resources are supplemented 
each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed overleaf are estimates 
of the year-end balances for each resource and anticipated day-to-day cash flow 
balances.

Page 142



Estimated Year end 
Resources

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

£m £m £m £m
Reserve Balances 29.824 27.090 13.901 9.529
Capital receipts/ 
contributions 0.380 0.000 0.000 0.000
Provisions 1.214 0.214 0.000 0.000
Other 12.432 14.455 15.821 17.104
Total core funds 43.850 41.759 29.721 26.633
Working capital* 1.000 1.000 1.000 1.000
Under/over borrowing 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Expected investments 44.850 42.759 30.721 27.633
*Working capital balances shown are estimated year-end; these may be higher 
mid-year
Minimum Revenue Provision Strategy

2.9. The Authority is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund 
capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the Minimum 
Revenue Provision), although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary 
payments if required (Voluntary Revenue Provision).  

2.10. MHCLG regulations have been issued which require the Authority to approve a 
Minimum Revenue Provision Statement in advance of each year. A variety of 
options are provided under which Minimum Revenue Provision could be made, 
with an overriding recommendation that the Authority should make prudent 
provision to redeem its debt liability over a period which is reasonably 
commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure is estimated to 
provide benefits. 

2.11. The Authority does not plan to make any Voluntary Revenue Provisions within 
the next three years.

2.12. Although four main options are provided under the guidance, the Authority has 
adopted:
The Asset Life Method

2.13. Where capital expenditure on an asset is financed wholly or partly by borrowing 
or credit arrangements, Minimum Revenue Provision is to be made in equal 
annual instalments over the life of the asset. In this circumstance the asset life is 
to be determined when Minimum Revenue Provision commences and not 
changed after that.

Page 143



2.14. Minimum Revenue Provision should normally commence in the financial year 
following the one in which the expenditure is incurred. However, when borrowing 
to construct an asset, the Authority may treat the asset life as commencing in the 
year in which the asset first becomes operational. It may accordingly postpone 
beginning to make Minimum Revenue Provision until that year. Investment 
properties should be regarded as becoming operational when they begin to 
generate revenues.

2.15. As some types of capital expenditure incurred by the Authority are not capable of 
being related to an individual asset, asset lives will be assessed on a basis which 
most reasonably reflects the anticipated period of benefit that arises from the 
expenditure.  Also, whatever type of expenditure is involved, it will be grouped 
together in a manner which reflects the nature of the main component of 
expenditure and will only be divided up in cases where there are two or more 
major components with substantially different useful economic lives.

2.16. A draft Minimum Revenue Provision statement for 2021-22 is attached as 
Appendix B for Authority approval.

2.17. The financing of the approved 2021-22 capital programme, and the resultant 
prudential indicators have been set on the basis of the content of this statement.
Prudential Indicators for Affordability

2.18. The previous sections of the report cover the overall limits for capital expenditure 
and borrowing, but within the overall framework indicators are also included to 
demonstrate the affordability of capital investment plans.

2.19. A key indicator of the affordability of capital investment plans is the ratio of 
financing costs to the net revenue stream; this indicator identifies the trend in the 
cost of capital financing (borrowing costs net of investment income) against the 
Authority’s net budget requirement.  Annual capital financing costs are a product 
of total debt outstanding, the annual repayment regime and interest rates. The 
forecast ratios for 2021-22 to 2022-23 based on current commitments and the 
proposed Capital Programme are shown below.

Page 144



3. BORROWING

3.1. The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service 
activity of the Authority. The treasury management function ensures that the 
Authority’s cash is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, 
so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity and the Authority’s 
capital strategy. This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, 
where capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities. 
The strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and 
projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy.
Current borrowing position 

3.2. The Authority’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2020 and current are 
summarised below. 

3.3. T

he Authority’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table 
shows the actual external debt (the treasury management operations), against 
the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - 
CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.

TREASURY PORTFOLIO

actual actual current current
31.3.20 31.3.20 31.12.20 31.12.20

Treasury investments £000 %  £000 %  

banks 23,201 62% 12,021 29%
building societies - unrated 0% 0%
building societies - rated 0% 0%
local authorities 11,500 31% 20,000 48%
DMADF (H.M.Treasury) 0% 0%
money market funds 2,720 7% 9,644 23%
certificates of deposit 0% 0%
Total managed in house 37,421 100% 41,665 100%
bond funds 0% 0%
property funds 0% 0%
Total managed externally 0 0% 0 0%
Total treasury investments 37,421 100% 41,665 100%

Treasury external borrowing
local authorities 0% 0%
PWLB 25,444 100% 25,397 100%
LOBOs 0% 0%
Total external borrowing 25,444 100% 25,397 100%

Net treasury investments / (borrowing) 11,977 0 16,268 0

Page 145



External Debt
2020-21 (forecast 

spending)
2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

£m £m £m £m
Debt at 1 April 24.851 24.757 24.264 23.771
Expected change in Debt (0.593) (0.093) (0.493) (0.493)
Other long-term 
liabilities (OLTL) 1.010 0.907 0.791 0.656
Expected change in OLTL (0.103) (0.117) (0.135) 0.252

Actual gross debt at 31 
March 25.165 25.455 24.427 24.185
CFR 25.861 25.665 25.055 24.426
Under/ Over borrowing 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

3.4. Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure 
that the Authority operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is 
that the Authority needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for 2021-22 and the following two financial years.  This allows 
some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that 
borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.      

3.5. The Authority complied with this prudential indicator in the current year and is not 
envisaging difficulties for the future.  This view takes into account current 
commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this budget report.  

            Limits to Borrowing Activity 
3.6. Two Treasury Management Indicators control the level of borrowing.  They are:

 The operational boundary. This is the limit beyond which external debt is 
not normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar 
figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of 
actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by other cash 
resources.

Estimated Operational 
Boundary

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

£m £m £m £m
Non-HRA expenditure 25,544 24,951 24,857 24,364
Other Long Term 
Liabilities 1,112 1,010 907 791

Total 26,656 25,961 25,765 25,155

Page 146



 The authorised limit for external debt. A further key prudential indicator 
represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a 
limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be 
set or revised by the Authority.  It reflects the level o external debt which, 
while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not 
sustainable in the longer term.  
This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either 
the total of all Authority’s plans, or those of a specific Authority, although 
this power has not yet been exercised.

3.7. The Authority is asked to approve the following authorised limit:

Estimated Authorised 
Limit

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

£m £m £m £m
Non-HRA expenditure 26,787 26,189 26,071 25,553
Other Long Term 
Liabilities 1,162 1,056 947 823

Total 27,949 27,244 27,018 26,376

Prospects for interest rates 
3.8. The Authority has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their 

service is to assist the Authority to formulate a view on interest rates. The 
following table and narrative within Appendix C - paragraphs C28 and C33 gives 
their view.

Page 147



Borrowing strategy
3.9. As reported in the separate report on this agenda “Capital Programme 2021-22 to 

2023-24”, it is the strategic intent of the Authority not to increase its exposure to 
external borrowing during the next three years. To achieve this a 
recommendation the Authority has supported the inclusion in the base revenue 
budget a revenue contribution to capital investment (£1.7m in 2021-22). 

3.10. This being the case there is no intention to take out any new borrowing during 
2021-22 as the Authority can rely on its prudent Capital Reserve. Should this 
position change then the Treasury Management Strategy will need to be 
reviewed to reflect any change to the borrowing strategy and would be subject to 
a further report to the Authority.
Policy on borrowing in advance of need 

3.11. Per statutory requirements, the Authority will not borrow more than, or in advance 
of, its needs purely in order to profit from the investment of the extra sums 
borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be considered carefully to 
ensure value for money can be demonstrated and that the Authority can ensure 
the security of such funds. 
Debt rescheduling 

3.12. Officers regularly engage with Link to review the PWLB loan portfolio and 
consider opportunities for early repayment, this is not currently economically 
viable due to the penalties applied.

3.13. Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as the 
100 bps increase in PWLB rates only applied to new borrowing rates and not to 
premature debt repayment rates.

3.14. If rescheduling was done, it will be reported to this Committee, at the earliest 
meeting following its action.

4. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY
Investment Policy

4.1. The Authority’s investment policy has regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on Local 
Government Investments (“the Guidance”), CIPFA Treasury Management in 
Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the 
Code”) and the CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018.  The 
Authority’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second, 
then yield.

4.2. In accordance with the above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA, and in 
order to minimise the risk to investments, the Authority applies minimum 
acceptable credit criteria in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy 
counterparties which also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the Short 
Term and Long Term ratings.  

Page 148



4.3. Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is 
important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro 
and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in 
which institutions operate. The assessment will also take account of information 
that reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration the 
Authority will engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing 
such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on top of the credit 
ratings. 

4.4. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and 
other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the 
most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment 
counterparties.
Creditworthiness Policy

4.5. The Authority applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group. This 
service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from 
the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s.  

4.6. The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the following overlays: 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;

 Credit Default Swap spreads to give early warning of likely changes in 
credit ratings;

 Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries.

4.7. This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches, credit outlooks 
and Credit Default Swap spreads in a weighted scoring system which is then 
combined with an overlay of Credit Default Swap spreads for which the end 
product is a series of colour code bands which indicate the relative 
creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are also used by the 
Authority to determine the duration for investments and are therefore referred to 
as durational bands.  The Authority is satisfied that this service now gives a much 
improved level of security for its investments.  It is also a service which the 
Authority would not be able to replicate using in house resources.  

4.8. The Link Group creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than 
just primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, it 
does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s ratings.

4.9. Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Authority use will be a Short 
Term rating (Fitch or equivalents) of   F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There 
may be occasions when the counterparty ratings from one rating agency are 
marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these instances 
consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use.

Page 149



4.10. All credit ratings will be monitored weekly.  The Authority is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link creditworthiness service.  
If a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer meeting 
the Authority’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be 
withdrawn immediately.  In addition to the use of Credit Ratings the Authority will 
be advised of information in movements in Credit Default Swap against the iTraxx 
benchmark and other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market 
movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal from the 
Authority’s lending list.

4.11. Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition the 
Authority will also use market data and market information, information on 
government support for banks and the credit ratings of that government support.
Approved Instruments for Investments

4.12. Investments will only be made with those bodies identified by the authority for its 
use through the Annual Investment Strategy. 

4.13. Country Limits The Authority will apply a sovereign rating at least equal to that 
of the United Kingdom for any UK based counterparty.  At the time of writing this 
was AA long term and F1+ short term. It is possible that the credit rating agencies 
could downgrade the sovereign rating for the UK but as we have no minimum 
sovereign rating applying to the UK this approach will not limit the number of UK 
counterparties available to the Authority. Therefore, to ensure our credit risk is 
not increased outside the UK, the sovereign rating requirement for investments 
was amended to “Non UK countries with a minimum sovereign rating of AA-“.

4.14. IFRS9 Lease Accounting As a result of the change in accounting standards for 
2019/20 under IFRS 9, the Authority will consider the implications of investment 
instruments which could result in an adverse movement in the value of the 
amount invested and resultant charges at the end of the year to the General 
Fund. (In November 2018, MHCLG concluded a consultation for a temporary 
override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled 
investments by announcing a statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 
9 for five years commencing from 1.4.18.). The Authority does not currently hold 
any finance leases to which this accounting standard would apply.
Non-specified Investments 

4.15. Non specified investments are those which do not meet the Specified Investment 
Criteria and covers those counterparties where there is either no recognised 
credit rating and/or an anticipation that an investment will be for greater than one 
year in duration. 

Page 150



4.16. The Authority had not previously placed non-specified investments as a result of 
its prudent approach to place security and liquidity over yield. However, from April 
2015 it was agreed that the strategy be amended to include investments with 
maturity of longer than 364 days. The maximum duration limit on any non-
specified deposit will be determined by the colour assigned to the Counterparty 
on the Link Group credit list on the date the investment is placed, but typically will 
be for no longer than 24 months. Where such investments are placed via the 
Secondary Market i.e. buying the remaining term of an existing instrument, then 
the term will be for 24 months. 

4.17. A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of 
the institution, and depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one 
of the categories outlined in Table 13 overleaf.

4.18. The maturity limits recommended will not be exceeded.  Under the delegated 
powers the Section 112 Officer (Treasurer) can set limits that are based on the 
latest economic conditions and credit ratings.

4.19. The following table shows those bodies with which the Authority will invest.

Specified Investments Non Specified Investments

Subsidiary entities
Deposits with the Debt 
Management Agency Deposit 
Facility
Term Deposits with UK 
government, UK local authorities, 
highly credit rated banks and 
building societies (including 
callable deposits and forward 
deals)

Term Deposits with UK government, 
UK local authorities, highly credit 
rated banks and building societies 
(including callable deposits and 
forward deals)
Non-credit rated building societies.

The total amount of non-specified 
investments will not be greater 
than £5m in value.

Banks nationalised/part 
nationalised or supported by the 
UK government

Banks nationalised/part nationalised 
or supported by the UK government

Money Market Funds 
Non UK highly credited rated 
banks
UK Government Treasury Bills

Certificates of Deposit

Corporate Bonds

Gilts

Page 151



4.20. The Authority’s detailed risk management policy is outlined in the Treasury 
Management Policy which is reviewed and considered on an annual basis. 

4.21. The above criteria has been amended since last year to reflect the potential for a 
loan to be made to the Authority’s subsidiary company, although this would be 
subject to terms and conditions as approved by the Authority.
Investment Strategy

4.22. In-house funds: The Authority’s in-house managed funds are mainly cash-flow 
derived and investments will accordingly be made with reference to the core 
balance and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates.  

4.23. Investment returns: Bank Rate is unlikely to rise from 0.10% for a considerable 
period.  It is very difficult to say when it may start rising so it may be best to 
assume that investment earnings from money market-related instruments will be 
sub 0.50% for the foreseeable future. 

4.24. The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to 100 days during each financial year are as follows:
 

2020/21 0.10%
2021/22 0.10%
2022/23 0.10%
2023/24 0.10%
2024/25 0.25%
Later years 2.00%

4.25. Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for 
greater than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Authority’s liquidity 
requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment and are 
based on the availability of funds after each year-end.

Maximum principal sums invested > 365 days
£m 2021-22 2021-22 2022-23
Principal sums 
invested > 365 
days

£5m £5m £5m

End of year investment report

Page 152



4.26. At the end of the financial year, the Authority will report on its investment activity 
as part of its Annual Treasury Report. 

Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation
The Authority;

 Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, 
practices and activities

 Approval of annual strategy

 Approval of/amendments to the Authority’s adopted clauses, 
treasury management policy statement and treasury management 
practices

 Budget consideration and approval

 Approval of the division of responsibilities 

 Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing 
terms of appointment. 

 Reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and 
making recommendations to the Authority. 

                  Resources Committee;
 Receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 

recommendations

 Review of annual strategy prior to recommendation to full authority
Role of the Section 112 officer (Director of Finance and Resourcing/ 
Treasurer)

 Recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for 
approval, reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance

 Submitting regular treasury management policy reports

 Submitting budgets and budget variations

 Receiving and reviewing management information reports

 Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function

 Ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and 
skills, and the effective division of responsibilities within the treasury 
management function

 Ensuring the adequacy of internal audit and liaising with external 
audit

 Recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

Page 153



5. SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1. The Authority is required to consider and approve the treasury management 
strategy to be adopted prior to the start of the financial year. This strategy must 
also include proposed prudential indicators and a Minimum Revenue Provision 
statement. Approval of the strategy for 2021-22 as contained in this report will 
also incorporate the adoption of the revised CIPFA Treasury Management Code 
of Practice. 

AMY WEBB
Director of Finance & Resourcing (Treasurer) 

Page 154



APPENDIX A TO REPORT DSFRA/21/5

Page 155



Page 156



APPENDIX B TO REPORT DSFRA/21/5

MINIMUM REVENUE STATEMENT 2021-22
Supported Borrowing
The Minimum Revenue Provision will be calculated using the regulatory method 
(option 1). Minimum Revenue Provision will therefore be calculated using the 
formulae in the old regulations, since future entitlement to RSG in support of 
this borrowing will continue to be calculated on this basis.
Un-Supported Borrowing (including un-supported borrowing prior to 1 
April 2008)
The Minimum Revenue Provision in respect of unsupported borrowing under 
the prudential system will be calculated using the asset life method (option 3). 
The Minimum Revenue Provision will therefore be calculated to repay the 
borrowing in equal annual instalments over the life of the class of assets which 
it is funding. The repayment period of all such borrowing will be calculated 
when it takes place and will be based on the finite life of the class of asset at 
that time and will not be changed. 
Finance Lease and PFI
In the case of Finance Leases and on balance sheet PFI schemes, the 
Minimum Revenue Provision requirement is regarded as met by a charge equal 
to the element of the annual charge that goes to write down the balance sheet 
liability. Where a lease of PFI scheme is brought, having previously been 
accounted for off-balance sheet, the Minimum Revenue Provision requirement 
is regarded as having been met by the inclusion of the charge, for the year in 
which the restatement occurs, of an amount equal to the write-down for the 
year plus retrospective writing down of the balance sheet liability that arises 
from the restatement. This approach produces a Minimum Revenue Provision 
charge that is comparable to that of the Option 3 approach in that it will run over 
the life of the lease or PFI scheme and will have a profile similar to that of the 
annuity method. 
Minimum Revenue Provision will normally commence in the financial year 
following the one in which the expenditure was incurred. However, when 
borrowing to construct an asset, the authority may treat the asset life as 
commencing in the year in which the asset first becomes operational. It may 
accordingly postpone the beginning to make Minimum Revenue Provision until 
that year. Investment properties will be regarded as becoming operational when 
they begin to generate revenues.
Minimum Revenue Provision Overpayments 
A change introduced by the revised MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision 
Guidance was the allowance that any charges made over the statutory 
Minimum Revenue Provision, Voluntary Revenue Provision or overpayments, 
can, if needed, be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.  In 
order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must 
disclose the cumulative overpayment made each year.  Up until the 31 March 
2020 the total Voluntary Revenue Provision overpayments were £nil.

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C TO REPORT DSFRA/21/5

LINK TREASURY SOLUTIONS ECONOMIC REPORT

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND
Global Outlook 
UK

C.1 The key quarterly meeting of the Bank of England Monetary Policy 
Committee kept Bank Rate unchanged on 5.11.20. However, it revised its 
economic forecasts to take account of a second national lockdown from 
5.11.20 to 2.12.20 which is obviously going to put back economic recovery 
and do further damage to the economy.  It therefore decided to do a 
further tranche of quantitative easing (QE) of £150bn, to start in January 
when the current programme of £300bn of QE, announced in March to 
June, runs out.  It did this so that “announcing further asset purchases now 
should support the economy and help to ensure the unavoidable near-term 
slowdown in activity was not amplified by a tightening in monetary 
conditions that could slow the return of inflation to the target”.

C.2 Its forecasts appeared, at that time, to be rather optimistic in terms of 
three areas: 

 The economy would recover to reach its pre-pandemic level in Q1 
2022

 The Bank also expected there to be excess demand in the 
economy by Q4 2022.

 CPI inflation was therefore projected to be a bit above its 2% target 
by the start of 2023 and the “inflation risks were judged to be 
balanced”.

C.3 Significantly, there was no mention of negative interest rates in the 
minutes or Monetary Policy Report, suggesting that the MPC remains 
some way from being persuaded of the case for such a policy, at least for 
the next 6 -12 months. However, rather than saying that it “stands ready 
to adjust monetary policy”, the MPC this time said that it will take 
“whatever additional action was necessary to achieve its remit”. The latter 
seems stronger and wider and may indicate the Bank’s willingness to 
embrace new tools.

C.4 One key addition to the Bank’s forward guidance in August was a new 
phrase in the policy statement, namely that “it does not intend to tighten 
monetary policy until there is clear evidence that significant progress is 
being made in eliminating spare capacity and achieving the 2% target 
sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if inflation 
rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the 
MPC to raise Bank Rate – until they can clearly see that level of inflation 
is going to be persistently above target if it takes no action to raise Bank 
Rate. Our Bank Rate forecast currently shows no increase, (or decrease), 

Page 159



through to quarter 1 2024 but there could well be no increase during the 
next five years as it will take some years to eliminate spare capacity in the 
economy, and therefore for inflationary pressures to rise to cause the 
MPC concern. Inflation is expected to briefly peak at just over 2% towards 
the end of 2021, but this is a temporary short lived factor and so not a 
concern.

C.5 However, the minutes did contain several references to downside risks. 
The MPC reiterated that the “recovery would take time, and the risks 
around the GDP projection were judged to be skewed to the downside”. It 
also said “the risk of a more persistent period of elevated unemployment 
remained material”. Downside risks could well include severe restrictions 
remaining in place in some form during the rest of December and most of 
January too. Upside risks included the early roll out of effective vaccines.  

C.6 COVID-19 vaccines.  We had been waiting expectantly for news that 
various COVID-19 vaccines would be cleared as being safe and effective 
for administering to the general public. The Pfizer announcement on 9th 
November was very encouraging as its 90% effectiveness was much 
higher than the 50-60% rate of effectiveness of flu vaccines which might 
otherwise have been expected.  However, this vaccine has demanding 
cold storage requirements of minus 70c that impairs the speed of 
application to the general population. It has therefore been particularly 
welcome that the Oxford University/AstraZeneca vaccine has now also 
been approved which is much cheaper and only requires fridge 
temperatures for storage. The Government has 60m doses on order and 
is aiming to vaccinate at a rate of 2m people per week starting in January, 
though this rate is currently restricted by a bottleneck on vaccine 
production; (a new UK production facility is due to be completed in June). 

C.7 These announcements, plus expected further announcements that other 
vaccines could be approved soon, have enormously boosted confidence 
that life could largely return to normal during the second half of 2021, with 
activity in the still-depressed sectors like restaurants, travel and hotels 
returning to their pre-pandemic levels; this would help to bring the 
unemployment rate down. With the household saving rate having been 
exceptionally high since the first lockdown in March, there is plenty of 
pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up for these services. A 
comprehensive  roll-out of vaccines might take into late 2021 to fully 
complete; but if these vaccines prove to be highly effective, then there is a 
possibility that restrictions could start to be eased, beginning possibly in 
Q2 2021 once vulnerable people and front-line workers have been 
vaccinated. At that point, there would be less reason to fear that hospitals 
could become overwhelmed any more. Effective vaccines would radically 
improve the economic outlook once they have been widely administered; 
it may allow GDP to rise to its pre-virus level a year earlier than otherwise 
and mean that the unemployment rate peaks at 7% in 2021 instead of 9%. 

C.8 Public borrowing was forecast in November by the Office for Budget 
Responsibility (the OBR) to reach £394bn in the current financial year, the 
highest ever peace time deficit and equivalent to 19% of GDP.  In normal 

Page 160



times, such an increase in total gilt issuance would lead to a rise in gilt 
yields, and so PWLB rates. However, the QE done by the Bank of 
England has depressed gilt yields to historic low levels, (as has similarly 
occurred with QE and debt issued in the US, the EU and Japan). This 
means that new UK debt being issued, and this is being done across the 
whole yield curve in all maturities, is locking in those historic low levels 
through until maturity.  

In addition, the UK has one of the longest average maturities for its entire 
debt portfolio, of any country in the world.  Overall, this means that the 
total interest bill paid by the Government is manageable despite the huge 
increase in the total amount of debt. The OBR was also forecasting that 
the government will still be running a budget deficit of £102bn (3.9% of 
GDP) by 2025/26.  However, initial impressions are that they have taken a 
pessimistic view of the impact that vaccines could make in the speed of 
economic recovery.

C.9 Overall, the pace of recovery was not expected to be in the form of a rapid 
V shape, but a more elongated and prolonged one. The initial recovery 
was sharp after quarter 1 saw growth at -3.0% followed by -18.8% in 
quarter 2 and then an upswing of +16.0% in quarter 3; this still left the 
economy 8.6% smaller than in Q4 2019. It is likely that the one month 
national lockdown that started on 5th November, will have caused a 
further contraction of 8% m/m in November so the economy may have 
then been 14% below its pre-crisis level.  

C.10 December 2020 / January 2021. Since then, there has been rapid back-
tracking on easing restrictions due to the spread of a new mutation of the 
virus, and severe restrictions were imposed across all four nations. These 
restrictions were changed on 5.1.21 to national lockdowns of various initial 
lengths in each of the four nations as the NHS was under extreme 
pressure. It is now likely that wide swathes of the UK will remain under 
these new restrictions for some months; this means that the near-term 
outlook for the economy is grim. However, the distribution of vaccines and 
the expected consequent removal of COVID-19 restrictions, should allow 
GDP to rebound rapidly in the second half of 2021 so that the economy 
could climb back to its pre-pandemic peak as soon as late in 2022.  
Provided that both monetary and fiscal policy are kept loose for a few 
years yet, then it is still possible that in the second half of this decade, the 
economy may be no smaller than it would have been if COVID-19 never 
happened. The significant caveat is if another mutation of COVID-19 
appears that defeats the current batch of vaccines. However, now that 
science and technology have caught up with understanding this virus, new 
vaccines ought to be able to be developed more quickly to counter such a 
development and vaccine production facilities are being ramped up 
around the world.

Chart: Level of real GDP   (Q4 2019 = 100)

Page 161



C.11 This recovery of growth which eliminates the effects of the pandemic by 
about the middle of the decade would have major repercussions for public 
finances as it would be consistent with the government deficit falling to 
around 2.5% of GDP without any tax increases.  This would be in line with 
the OBR’s most optimistic forecast in the graph below, rather than their 
current central scenario which predicts a 4% deficit due to assuming much 
slower growth.  However, Capital Economics forecasts assumed that 
there is a reasonable Brexit deal and also that politicians do not raise 
taxes or embark on major austerity measures and so, (perversely!), 
depress economic growth and recovery.

                 Chart: Public Sector Net Borrowing (as a % of GDP)

C.12 There will still be some painful longer term adjustments as e.g. office 
space and travel by planes, trains and buses may not recover to their 

Page 162



previous level of use for several years, or possibly ever, even if vaccines 
are fully successful in overcoming the current virus. There is also likely to 
be a reversal of globalisation as this crisis has exposed how vulnerable 
long-distance supply chains are. On the other hand, digital services are 
one area that has already seen huge growth.

C.13 Brexit: While the UK has been gripped by the long running saga of 
whether or not a deal would be made by 31.12.20, the final agreement on 
24.12.20, followed by ratification by Parliament and all 27 EU countries in 
the following week, has eliminated a significant downside risk for the UK 
economy.  The initial agreement only covers trade so there is further work 
to be done on the services sector where temporary equivalence has been 
granted in both directions between the UK and EU; that now needs to be 
formalised on a permanent basis.  As the forecasts in this report were 
based on an assumption of a Brexit agreement being reached, there is no 
need to amend these forecasts.

C.14 Monetary Policy Committee meeting of 17 December.  All nine Committee 
members voted to keep interest rates on hold at +0.10% and the 
Quantitative Easing (QE) target at £895bn. The MPC commented that the 
successful rollout of vaccines had reduced the downsides risks to the 
economy that it had highlighted in November. But this was caveated by it 
saying, “Although all members agreed that this would reduce downside 
risks, they placed different weights on the degree to which this was also 
expected to lead to stronger GDP growth in the central case.” So, while 
the vaccine is a positive development, in the eyes of the MPC at least, the 
economy is far from out of the woods. As a result of these continued 
concerns, the MPC voted to extend the availability of the Term Funding 
Scheme, (cheap borrowing), with additional incentives for small and 
medium size enterprises for six months from 30.4.21 until 31.10.21. (The 
MPC had assumed that a Brexit deal would be agreed.)

C.15 Fiscal policy. In the same week as the MPC meeting, the Chancellor 
made a series of announcements to provide further support to the 
economy: - 

 An extension of the COVID-19 loan schemes from the end of 
January 2021 to the end of March. 

 The furlough scheme was lengthened from the end of March to the 
end of April.

 The Budget on 3.3.21 will lay out the “next phase of the plan to 
tackle the virus and protect jobs”. This does not sound like tax rises 
are imminent, (which could hold back the speed of economic 
recovery).

C.16 The Financial Policy Committee (FPC) report on 6.8.20 revised down their 
expected credit losses for the banking sector to “somewhat less than 
£80bn”. It stated that in its assessment, “banks have buffers of capital 
more than sufficient to absorb the losses that are likely to arise under the 
MPC’s central projection”. The FPC stated that for real stress in the 

Page 163



sector, the economic output would need to be twice as bad as the MPC’s 
projection, with unemployment rising to above 15%. 

USA 

C.17 The result of the November elections meant that while the Democrats 
gained the presidency and a majority in the House of Representatives, it 
looks as if the Republicans could retain their slim majority in the Senate 
provided they keep hold of two key seats in Georgia in elections in early 
January. If those two seats do swing to the Democrats, they will then 
control both Houses and President Biden will consequently have a free 
hand to determine policy and to implement his election manifesto. 

C.18 The economy had been recovering quite strongly from its contraction in 
2020 of 10.2% due to the pandemic with GDP only 3.5% below its pre-
pandemic level and the unemployment rate dropping below 7%. However, 
the rise in new cases during quarter 4, to the highest level since mid-
August, suggests that the US could be in the early stages of a fourth 
wave. While the first wave in March and April was concentrated in the 
Northeast, and the second wave in the South and West, the third wave in 
the Midwest looks as if it now abating. However, it also looks as if the 
virus is rising again in the rest of the country. 

The latest upturn poses a threat that the recovery in the economy could 
stall. This is the single biggest downside risk to the shorter term outlook – 
a more widespread and severe wave of infections over the winter months, 
which is compounded by the impact of the regular flu season and, as a 
consequence, threatens to overwhelm health care facilities. Under those 
circumstances, states might feel it necessary to return to more draconian 
lockdowns.

COVID-19 hospitalisations per 100,000 population

                                     

Page 164



C.19 The restrictions imposed to control the spread of the virus are once again 
weighing on the economy with employment growth slowing sharply in 
November and retail sales dropping back. The economy is set for further 
weakness in December and into the spring. However, a $900bn fiscal 
stimulus deal passed by Congress in late December will limit the 
downside through measures which included a second round of direct 
payments to households worth $600 per person and a three-month 
extension of enhanced unemployment insurance (including a $300 weekly 
top-up payment for all claimants).  GDP growth is expected to rebound 
markedly from the second quarter of 2021 onwards as vaccines are rolled 
out on a widespread basis and restrictions are loosened. 

C.20 After Chair Jerome Powell unveiled the Fed's adoption of a flexible 
average inflation target in his Jackson Hole speech in late August 2020, 
the mid-September meeting of the Fed agreed by a majority to a toned 
down version of the new inflation target in his speech - that "it would likely 
be appropriate to maintain the current target range until labour market 
conditions were judged to be consistent with the Committee's 
assessments of maximum employment and inflation had risen to 2% and 
was on track to moderately exceed 2% for some time." This change was 
aimed to provide more stimulus for economic growth and higher levels of 
employment and to avoid the danger of getting caught in a deflationary 
“trap” like Japan. 

It is to be noted that inflation has actually been under-shooting the 2% 
target significantly for most of the last decade, (and this year), so financial 
markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely to be in the 
pipeline; long-term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. The FOMC’s 
updated economic and rate projections in mid-September showed that 
officials expect to leave the fed funds rate at near-zero until at least end-
2023 and probably for another year or two beyond that. There is now 
some expectation that where the Fed has led in changing its inflation 
target, other major central banks will follow. The increase in tension over 
the last year between the US and China is likely to lead to a lack of 
momentum in progressing the initial positive moves to agree a phase one 
trade deal. 

C.21 The Fed’s meeting on 5 November was unremarkable - but at a politically 
sensitive time around the elections. At its 16 December meeting the Fed 
tweaked the guidance for its monthly asset quantitative easing purchases 
with the new language implying those purchases could continue for longer 
than previously believed. Nevertheless, with officials still projecting that 
inflation will only get back to 2.0% in 2023, the vast majority expect the 
fed funds rate to be still at near-zero until 2024 or later. Furthermore, 
officials think the balance of risks surrounding that median inflation 
forecast are firmly skewed to the downside. The key message is still that 
policy will remain unusually accommodative – with near-zero rates and 
asset purchases – continuing for several more years. This is likely to 

Page 165



result in keeping Treasury yields low – which will also have an influence 
on gilt yields in this country.

EU

C.22 In early December, the figures for Q3 GDP confirmed that the economy 
staged a rapid rebound from the first lockdowns. This provides grounds 
for optimism about growth prospects for next year. In Q2, GDP was 15% 
below its pre-pandemic level. But in Q3 the economy grew by 12.5% q/q 
leaving GDP down by “only” 4.4%. That was much better than had been 
expected earlier in the year. However, growth is likely to stagnate during 
Q4 and in Q1 of 2021, as a second wave of the virus has affected many 
countries: it is likely to hit hardest those countries more dependent on 
tourism. The €750bn fiscal support package eventually agreed by the EU 
after prolonged disagreement between various countries, is unlikely to 
provide significant support, and quickly enough, to make an appreciable 
difference in the countries most affected by the first wave. 

C.23 With inflation expected to be unlikely to get much above 1% over the next 
two years, the ECB has been struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target. 
It is currently unlikely that it will cut its central rate even further into 
negative territory from -0.5%, although the ECB has stated that it retains 
this as a possible tool to use. The ECB’s December meeting added a 
further €500bn to the PEPP scheme, (purchase of government and other 
bonds), and extended the duration of the programme to March 2022 and 
re-investing maturities for an additional year until December 2023. Three 
additional tranches of TLTRO, (cheap loans to banks), were approved, 
indicating that support will last beyond the impact of the pandemic, 
implying indirect yield curve control for government bonds for some time 
ahead. The Bank’s forecast for a return to pre-virus activity levels was 
pushed back to the end of 2021, but stronger growth is projected in 2022. 

The total PEPP scheme of €1,850bn of QE which started in March 2020 is 
providing protection to the sovereign bond yields of weaker countries like 
Italy. There is therefore unlikely to be a euro crisis while the ECB is able 
to maintain this level of support. However, as in the UK and the US, the 
advent of highly effective vaccines will be a game changer, although 
growth will struggle before later in quarter 2 of 2021. 

CHINA

C.24 After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1, economic 
recovery was strong in Q2 and then into Q3 and Q4; this has enabled 
China to recover all of the contraction in Q1. Policy makers have both 
quashed the virus and implemented a programme of monetary and fiscal 
support that has been particularly effective at stimulating short-term 
growth. At the same time, China’s economy has benefited from the shift 
towards online spending by consumers in developed markets. These 
factors help to explain its comparative outperformance compared to 
western economies. However, this was achieved by major central 
government funding of yet more infrastructure spending. After years of 

Page 166



growth having been focused on this same area, any further spending in 
this area is likely to lead to increasingly weaker economic returns in the 
longer term. This could, therefore, lead to a further misallocation of 
resources which will weigh on growth in future years.

JAPAN

C.25 A third round of fiscal stimulus in early December took total fresh fiscal 
spending this year in response to the virus close to 12% of pre-virus 
GDP. That’s huge by past standards, and one of the largest national fiscal 
responses. The budget deficit is now likely to reach 16% of GDP this year. 
Coupled with Japan’s relative success in containing the virus without 
draconian measures so far, and the likelihood of effective vaccines being 
available in the coming months, the government’s latest fiscal effort 
should help ensure a strong recovery and to get back to pre-virus levels 
by Q3 2021 – around the same time as the US and much sooner than the 
Eurozone.

WORLD GROWTH 

C.26 World growth will have been in recession in 2020. Inflation is unlikely to be 
a problem for some years due to the creation of excess production 
capacity and depressed demand caused by the coronavirus crisis.

C.27 Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by increasing 
globalisation i.e. countries specialising in producing goods and 
commodities in which they have an economic advantage and which they 
then trade with the rest of the world.  This has boosted worldwide 
productivity and growth, and, by lowering costs, has also depressed 
inflation. However, the rise of China as an economic superpower over the 
last thirty years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, 
has unbalanced the world economy. 

The Chinese government has targeted achieving major world positions in 
specific key sectors and products, especially high tech areas and 
production of rare earth minerals used in high tech products.  

It is achieving this by massive financial support, (i.e. subsidies), to state 
owned firms, government directions to other firms, technology theft, 
restrictions on market access by foreign firms and informal targets for the 
domestic market share of Chinese producers in the selected sectors. This 
is regarded as being unfair competition that is putting western firms at an 
unfair disadvantage or even putting some out of business. It is also 
regarded with suspicion on the political front as China is an authoritarian 
country that is not averse to using economic and military power for 
political advantage. The current trade war between the US and China 
therefore needs to be seen against that backdrop.  It is, therefore, likely 
that we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world 
globalisation and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on 
China to supply products.  This is likely to produce a backdrop in the 
coming years of weak global growth and so weak inflation.  

Page 167



INTEREST RATE FORECASTS

C.28 Brexit. The interest rate forecasts provided by Link were predicated on an 
assumption of a reasonable agreement being reached on trade 
negotiations between the UK and the EU by 31.12.20. There is therefore 
no need to revise these forecasts now that a trade deal has been agreed. 
Brexit may reduce the economy’s potential growth rate in the long 
run. However, much of that drag is now likely to be offset by 
an acceleration of productivity growth triggered by the digital revolution 
brought about by the COVID crisis. 

C.29 The balance of risks to the UK: 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably now 
skewed to the upside, but is still subject to some uncertainty due to the 
virus and the effect of any mutations, and how quick vaccines are in 
enabling a relaxation of restrictions.

 There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or decreases in 
Bank Rate and significant changes in shorter term PWLB rates. The Bank 
of England has effectively ruled out the use of negative interest rates in 
the near term and increases in Bank Rate are likely to be some years 
away given the underlying economic expectations. However, it is always 
possible that safe haven flows, due to unexpected domestic 
developments and those in other major economies, could impact gilt 
yields, (and so PWLB rates), in the UK.

C.30 Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 
currently include: 

 UK government takes too much action too quickly to raise taxation or 
introduce austerity measures that depress demand in the economy.

 UK - Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the 
next three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic 
growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently 
anticipate. A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. The 
ECB has taken monetary policy action to support the bonds of EU 
states, with the positive impact most likely for “weaker” countries. In 
addition, the EU agreed a €750bn fiscal support package.  These 
actions will help shield weaker economic regions for the next two or 
three years. However, in the case of Italy, the cost of the virus crisis 
has added to its already huge debt mountain and its slow economic 
growth will leave it vulnerable to markets returning to taking the view 
that its level of debt is unsupportable.  There remains a sharp divide 
between northern EU countries favouring low debt to GDP and 
annual balanced budgets and southern countries who want to see 
jointly issued Eurobonds to finance economic recovery. This divide 
could undermine the unity of the EU in time to come.  

Page 168



 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, which could be 
undermined further depending on extent of credit losses resultant of 
the pandemic.

 German minority government & general election in 2021. In the 
German general election of September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU 
party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on the 
fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity 
of the anti-immigration AfD party. The CDU has done badly in 
subsequent state elections but the SPD has done particularly badly. 
Angela Merkel has stepped down from being the CDU party leader 
but she will remain as Chancellor until the general election in 2021. 
This then leaves a major question mark over who will be the major 
guiding hand and driver of EU unity when she steps down.  

 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, 
Netherlands, Ireland and Belgium also have vulnerable minority 
governments dependent on coalitions which could prove fragile. 

 Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now form a 
strongly anti-immigration bloc within the EU, and they had 
threatened to derail the 7 year EU budget until a compromise was 
thrashed out in late 2020. There has also been a rise in anti-
immigration sentiment in Germany and France.

 Geopolitical risks, for example in China, Iran or North Korea, but also 
in Europe and other Middle Eastern countries, which could lead to 
increasing safe haven flows. 

C.31 GILT yields / Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rates.  There was much 
speculation during the second half of 2019 that bond markets were in a 
bubble which was driving bond prices up and yields down to historically 
very low levels. The context for that was a heightened expectation that the 
US could have been heading for a recession in 2020. In addition, there 
were growing expectations of a downturn in world economic growth, 
especially due to fears around the impact of the trade war between the US 
and China, together with inflation generally at low levels in most countries 
and expected to remain subdued. Combined, these conditions were 
conducive to very low bond yields.  While inflation targeting by the major 
central banks has been successful over the last thirty years in lowering 
inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central rates has fallen 
considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers. This means 
that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major 
impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. 

The consequence of this has been the gradual lowering of the overall level 
of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets over the last 30 
years.  Over the year prior to the coronavirus crisis, this has seen many 
bond yields up to 10 years turn negative in the Eurozone. In addition, there 
has, at times, been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10 year 
yields have fallen below shorter term yields. In the past, this has been a 
precursor of a recession.  

Page 169



The other side of this coin is that bond prices are elevated as investors 
would be expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in 
anticipation of a downturn in corporate earnings and so selling out of 
equities.  

C.32 Gilt yields had therefore already been on a generally falling trend up until 
the coronavirus crisis hit western economies during March 2020. After gilt 
yields spiked up during the financial crisis in March, we have seen these 
yields fall sharply to unprecedented lows as investors panicked during 
March in selling shares in anticipation of impending recessions in western 
economies, and moved cash into safe haven assets i.e. government 
bonds. However, major western central banks took rapid action to deal 
with excessive stress in financial markets during March, and started 
massive quantitative easing purchases of government bonds: this also 
acted to put downward pressure on government bond yields at a time 
when there has been a huge and quick expansion of government 
expenditure financed by issuing government bonds. Such unprecedented 
levels of issuance in “normal” times would have caused bond yields to rise 
sharply.  Gilt yields and PWLB rates have been at remarkably low rates so 
far during 2020/21.

C.33 As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates in paragraph 3.7 
shows, there is expected to be little upward movement in PWLB rates over 
the next two years as it will take economies, including the UK, a prolonged 
period to recover all the momentum they have lost in the sharp recession 
caused during the coronavirus shut down period. From time to time, gilt 
yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to exceptional levels of 
volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging market 
developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment, (as shown on 9th 
November when the first results of a successful COVID-19 vaccine trial 
were announced). Such volatility could occur at any time during the 
forecast period. 

C.34 Investment and borrowing rates
 Investment returns are likely to remain exceptionally low during 

2021/22 with little increase in the following two years. 
 Borrowing interest rates fell to historically very low rates as a result 

of the COVID crisis and the quantitative easing operations of the 
Bank of England: indeed, gilt yields up to 6 years were negative 
during most of the first half of 20/21. The policy of avoiding new 
borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served local 
authorities well over the last few years.  The unexpected increase of 
100 bps in PWLB rates on top of the then current margin over gilt 
yields of 80 bps in October 2019, required an initial major rethink of 
local authority treasury management strategy and risk management.  
However, in March 2020, the Government started a consultation 
process for reviewing the margins over gilt rates for PWLB borrowing 
for different types of local authority capital expenditure. 

Page 170



 On 25.11.20, the Chancellor announced the conclusion to the review 
of margins over gilt yields for PWLB rates; the standard and certainty 
margins were reduced by 1% but a prohibition was introduced to 
deny access to borrowing from the PWLB for any local authority 
which had purchase of assets for yield in its three year capital 
programme. The new margins over gilt yields are as follows: -.

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)
 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points(G+100bps)
 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)
 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

 While this authority will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance new 
capital expenditure in the medium term following the rundown of 
reserves there will be a cost of carry, (the difference between higher 
borrowing costs and lower investment returns), to any new short or 
medium-term borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash 
balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost.

Investment Strategy
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is 

probably now skewed to the upside, but is subject to major 
uncertainty due to the virus and how quickly successful vaccines 
may become available and widely administered to the population. It 
may also be affected by what, if any, deal the UK agrees as part of 
Brexit.

 There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or decreases in 
Bank Rate and significant changes in shorter term PWLB rates. The 
Bank of England has effectively ruled out the use of negative interest 
rates in the near term and increases in Bank Rate are likely to be 
some years away given the underlying economic expectations. 
However, it is always possible that safe haven flows, due to 
unexpected domestic developments and those in other major 
economies, or a return of investor confidence in equities, could 
impact gilt yields, (and so PWLB rates), in the UK.

 Negative investment rates: While the Bank of England said in 
August / September 2020 that it is unlikely to introduce a negative 
Bank Rate, at least in the next 6 -12 months, and in November 
omitted any mention of negative rates in the minutes of the meeting 
of the Monetary Policy Committee, some deposit accounts are 
already offering negative rates for shorter periods.  As part of the 
response to the pandemic and lockdown, the Bank and the 
Government have provided financial markets and businesses with 
plentiful access to credit, either directly or through commercial 
banks.  

Page 171



In addition, the Government has provided large sums of grants to 
local authorities to help deal with the COVID crisis; this has caused 
some local authorities to have sudden large increases in cash 
balances searching for an investment home, some of which was only 
very short term until those sums were able to be passed on. 

 As for money market funds (MMFs), yields have continued to drift 
lower. Some managers have already resorted to trimming fee levels 
to ensure that net yields for investors remain in positive territory 
where possible and practical. Investor cash flow uncertainty, and the 
need to maintain liquidity in these unprecedented times, has meant 
there is a surfeit of money swilling around at the very short end of 
the market. This has seen a number of market operators, now 
including the DMADF, offer nil or negative rates for very short term 
maturities. This is not universal, and MMFs are still offering a 
marginally positive return, as are a number of financial institutions for 
investments at the very short end of the yield curve. 

Inter-local authority lending and borrowing rates have also declined due to 
the surge in the levels of cash seeking a short-term home at a time when 
many local authorities are probably having difficulties over accurately 
forecasting when disbursements of funds received will occur or when 
further large receipts will be received from the Govern

Page 172



REPORT REFERENCE 
NO.

DSFRA/21/6

MEETING DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY (Budget 
Meeting)

DATE OF MEETING 19 FEBRUARY 2021

SUBJECT OF REPORT LOCALISM ACT 2011 – PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2021-22

LEAD OFFICER Director of Governance & Digital Services

RECOMMENDATIONS That the Pay Policy Statement 2021-22 as appended to this 
report be approved and published on the Authority’s website.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY The Authority is required under the Localism Act 2011 to approve 
and publish a Pay Policy Statement, by 31 March of each year, to 
operate for the forthcoming financial year.  This Statement sets 
out the Authority’s policy towards a range of issues relating to the 
pay of its workforce and in particular the senior staff and the 
lowest paid employees.  
This paper provides further background information in relation to 
the requirements of the Localism Act and includes a draft Pay 
Policy Statement for the forthcoming (2021-22) financial year.
The draft Pay Policy Statement for 2021-22 has been updated to 
reflect current levels of pay for senior officers and other 
employees but other than that, it is unchanged to the previous 
year and is recommended to the Authority for approval.

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS

There are no resource implications associated with production of 
the Pay Policy Statement.  Funding for staffing costs etc. are 
contained within the approved Authority revenue budget.

EQUALITY RISKS & 
BENEFITS ANALYSIS 

The contents of this report are considered compatible with existing 
equalities and human rights legislation. 

APPENDICES A. Draft Pay Policy Statement 2021-22

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

1. Localism Act 2011 Sections 38 to 43.
2. “Pay Policy and Practice in Local Authorities: A Guide for 

Councillors” produced by the Local Government Association, 
published January 2013. 

3. Code of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities on 
Data Transparency.

4. Fire and Rescue National Framework for England – May 
2018

Page 173

Agenda Item 11



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”) introduced a new requirement for all public 
authorities, including combined fire and rescue authorities, to approve and 
publish annually a Pay Policy Statement. The reasons for the introduction of this 
new duty, included: 

 the estimation that, between 2001 and 2008 median top salaries in local 
government grew at faster rate than entry salaries and that, in that context, 
around 800 local government employees were in the top 1% of all earners; 

 the commitment of the Government at that time to strengthen councillors 
powers to vote on large salary packages for council officers; 

 the outcome of the Hutton review into fair pay in the public sector which 
made several recommendations for promoting pay fairness in the public 
sector by increasing transparency over pay and tackling disparities 
between the lowest and the highest paid in public sector organisations. 

1.2 The provisions on pay in the Act are designed to bring together the strands of 
Government thinking to address pay issues in local government as outlined 
above. 

1.3 Pay Policy Statements must articulate an authority’s policy towards a range of 
issues relating to the pay of its workforce, particularly its senior staff (or “chief 
officers”) and its lowest paid employees. Pay Policy Statements must be 
prepared and approved by the Authority by 31 March in each year and be 
published as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. Publication can be in 
such a manner as the Authority considers appropriate, but must include 
publication on the Authority’s website. A Pay Policy Statement may be amended 
“in year” but, should it be amended, the revised Statement must again be 
published. 

1.4 In essence, the purpose of the Pay Policy Statement is to ensure that there is the 
appropriate accountability and transparency of top salaries in local government. 
Under the Act, elected Members have the ability to take a greater role in 
determining the pay for top earners and therefore ensuring that these decisions 
are taken by those who are directly accountable to the local people. In addition, 
communities should have access to the information they need to determine 
whether remuneration, particularly senior remuneration, is appropriate and 
commensurate with responsibility.

2. CONTENT OF THE PAY POLICY STATEMENT

2.1 The Act requires that each authority’s Pay Policy Statement must include its 
policies on: 

 the level and elements of remuneration for each chief officer; 

 the remuneration of its lowest paid employees (together with its 
definition of “lowest paid employees” and its reasons for adopting that 
definition); 

Page 174



 the relationship between the remuneration of its chief officers and other 
employees; 

 other specific aspects of chief officers’ remuneration namely: 
o remuneration on recruitment; 
o increases and additions to remuneration; 
o use of performance-related pay and bonuses; termination 

payments; and
o transparency (i.e. the publication and access to information on the 

remuneration of chief officers). 

2.2 The term remuneration is defined as the chief officer’s salary, any bonuses 
payable, any charges, fees or allowances payable, any benefits in kind to which 
the chief officer is entitled as a result of their office or employment, any increase 
in or enhancement of the chief officer’s pension entitlement where the increase or 
enhancement is as a result of the resolution of the Authority and any amounts 
payable by the Authority to the chief officer on the chief officer ceasing to hold 
office under or be employed by the Authority other than amounts that may be 
payable by virtue of any enactment. 

2.3 The term “chief officers” in a fire and rescue service context will refer to the Chief 
Fire Officer but “chief officers” are defined in Section 43 of the Act to include a 
Head of Paid Service, a Monitoring Officer, any other statutory chief officer, or a 
deputy chief officer or other non-statutory chief officer as defined in the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 (these include officers reporting directly either 
to the Head of Paid Service or the Authority). 

3. SENIOR EMPLOYEES AND PAY RATIOS 

3.1. Whilst the Localism Act 2011 does not require details on salary levels to be 
published in the Pay Policy Statement, Schedule 1 to the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 requires the published Statement of Accounts for an authority 
to include information on the number of senior employees who are paid over 
£50,000. These numbers are to be reported in bands of £5,000. Any senior 
employee earning in excess of £150,000 must be identified by name. 

3.2. “Senior employees” are defined as per the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 (see para. 2.3 above) but also include “a person who has responsibility for 
the management of the relevant body to the extent that the person has power to 
direct or control the major activities of the body (in particular activities involving 
the expenditure of money), whether solely or collectively with other persons”. 

Page 175



3.3. The Localism Act requires authorities to explain what they think the relationship 
should be between the remuneration of its chief officers and its employees who 
are not chief officers. The Hutton Review of Fair Pay recommended the 
publication of the ratio between the highest paid employee and the median pay-
point of the organisation’s whole workforce as a way of illustrating that 
relationship. Guidance produced by the [then] Department for Communities and 
Local Government (DCLG) on openness and accountability in local pay provides 
that:  

“While authorities are not required to publish data such as a pay multiple 
within their pay policy statement, they may consider it helpful to do so, for 
example, to illustrate their broader policy on how pay and reward should 
be fairly dispersed across their workforce. In addition, while they are not 
required to develop local policies on reaching or maintaining a specific pay 
multiple by the Act they may wish to include any existing policy”. 

3.4. Section 5 of the proposed Pay Policy Statement shows two pay multiples. The 
first being comparison with the median earnings of the whole workforce (as 
recommended by Hutton), using the basic pay for full-time equivalents.  

3.5. The second multiple is for the lowest pay point, which has previously been used 
as a benchmark following suggestions by the Government that a ratio of 20:1 
should be regarded as a maximum level which public sector organisations should 
not exceed.  The Service revised its pay grading structure for professional, 
technical and support staff in 2019/20 which resulted in a reduction in the number 
of pay increments within a salary grade from five to four for grades 3 to 11.  For 
grade 2, the number of pay increments was decreased to three and for grade 1 
this was reduced to two (although the Service does not currently have any jobs at 
Grade 1).  The effect of this was that the pay multiple ratio between the Chief Fire 
Officer and the lowest paid employee decreased from 12.8:1 to 8.5:1 in that year.  
The lowest pay point is currently £18,933, giving a ratio of 8.4:1.

4. RE-EMPLOYMENT OF OFFICERS 

4.1 In 2013, the Local Government Association (LGA) published guidance titled “Pay 
Policy in Practice in Local Authorities – A Guide for Councillors”. However, unlike 
other guidance published by [the then] DCLG, it does not constitute statutory 
guidance and is perhaps best viewed as “best practice”. In November 2013, the 
LGA specifically issued the guidance to all fire and rescue authorities in England 
and Wales. Within the covering letter the LGA highlighted that the practice of re-
employment of individuals who have been made redundant or have retired and 
are in receipt of a pension should be used only in exceptional and justifiable 
circumstances (such as business continuity). Within the guide is an LGA model 
Pay Policy Statement which suggests the following paragraph: 

“It is not the council’s policy to re-employ or to contract with senior 
managers who have been made redundant from the council unless there 
are exceptional circumstances where their specialist knowledge and 
expertise is required for a defined period of time or unless a defined period 
of (define number of years) has elapsed since the redundancy and 
circumstances have changed.” 

Page 176



4.2 The covering letter to this LGA guidance suggests that this paragraph should be 
widened to incorporate retirements in addition to redundancies.  These 
modifications were incorporated into the 2014-15 Pay Policy Statement and 
remain unchanged in the draft now attached for 2021-22.

4.3 Additionally, the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England, published by 
the Home Office in May 2018, included a section of “Re-engagement of Senior 
Officers”.  Paragraph 6.8 of the Framework sets out that:

“Fire and rescue authorities must not re-appoint principal fire officers after 
retirement to their previous, or a similar, post save for in exceptional 
circumstances when such a decision is necessary in the interests of public 
safety. Any such appointment must be transparent, justifiable and time 
limited”. 

4.4 Principal Officers in this respect is defined as Area Managers and above, or those 
with comparable responsibilities to those roles.  The Authority’s Pay Policy 
Statement previously set out strict controls regarding the re-employment of 
employees who had retired and those controls were revised in previous versions 
of the Pay Policy Statement to reflect the 2018 National Framework.  

5. THE TRANSPARENCY CODE

5.1 The Local Government (Transparency Requirements) (England) Regulations 
2015 imposed additional requirements in terms of publishing data relating to the 
Authority. The requirements are set out in the Local Government Transparency 
Code 2015. The Local Government Association produced a set of revised 
practical guidance documents to support local authorities in understanding and 
implementing the Transparency Code and to help them publish the data in a 
meaningful and consistent way. The Code covers information on spending and 
procurement, organisational information and asset and parking information.

5.2 The Transparency Code requirements overlap to a degree with certain staffing 
information required to be published both as part of the annual Statement of 
Accounts and the Pay Policy Statement. There are, however, some additions 
including requirements for further details of Senior Managers, including grading 
and responsibilities, where salary levels are in excess of £50,000 and also Trade 
Union Facility time.

6. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2021-22

6.1 This is now the tenth iteration of the Pay Policy Statement, the Authority having 
approved and published a Statement for each of the last nine consecutive years 
following introduction of the requirement by the Localism Act 2011.

6.2 The draft Pay Policy Statement to operate for the 2021-22 financial year is now 
attached at Appendix A to this report.  There are no substantial changes to the 
Pay Policy Statement as approved by the Authority for 2020-21. 

Page 177



7. CONCLUSION 

7.1 The Localism Act requires the Authority to adopt, prior to the commencement of 
each financial year, a Pay Policy Statement to operate for the forthcoming 
financial year.  This Statement sets out, amongst other things, the Authority’s 
policy towards a range of issues relating to the pay of its workforce and in 
particular the senior staff and the lowest paid employees.  

7.2 The Authority is now invited to approve the Pay Policy Statement 2021-22 as 
appended to this report.

MIKE PEARSON
Director of Governance & Digital Services

Page 178



APPENDIX A TO REPORT DSFRA/21/6

DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY

LOCALISM ACT 2011 – PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2021-22

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Under section 38(1) of the Localism Act 2011, Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue 
Authority (the Authority) is required to prepare a Pay Policy Statement.  The 
Authority is responsible for ensuring that its pay policy will set out the issues 
relating to the pay of the workforce and in particular, the senior officers and the 
lowest paid employees.  This will ensure that there is the appropriate 
accountability and transparency of the salaries of the Authority’s senior staff.  The 
Authority will also publish the statement on its website and update it on an annual 
basis or at such times as it is amended.  The purpose of the statement is to 
provide greater transparency on how taxpayer’s money is used in relation to the 
pay and rewards for public sector staff. 

1.2 This is the tenth such Pay Policy Statement that the Authority has produced and it 
will continue to be reviewed and refined by the Authority as part of its rewards & 
recognition strategies.  

1.3 It should be noted that the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require 
authorities to disclose individual remuneration details for senior employees and 
these can be viewed here:  Senior Management Salaries

1.4 In addition, the rates of pay for all other categories of staff can be found at:  
Rates of Pay

1.5 The Local Government (Transparency Requirements) (England) Regulations 
2015 imposed additional requirements in terms of publishing data relating to the 
Authority. The requirements are set out in the Local Government Transparency 
Code 2015. The Local Government Association produced a set of revised 
practical guidance documents to support local authorities in understanding and 
implementing the Transparency Code and to help them publish the data in a 
meaningful and consistent way. The Code covers information on spending and 
procurement, organisational information and asset and parking information and 
this open data is accessible via the following link: Transparency Data

1.6 There is some overlap within the Transparency Code with certain staffing 
information that is already required as part of the annual Statement of Accounts 
and the Pay Policy Statement but there are also some additions including further 
details of organisational structures relating to Senior Managers, including grading 
and responsibilities, where salary levels are in excess of £50,000 and also Trade 
Union Facility time.

Page 179

http://www.dsfire.gov.uk/AboutUs/WhatWeSpend/SeniorManagementSalaries/Index.cfm?siteCategoryId=2&T1ID=11&T2ID=138
http://www.dsfire.gov.uk/AboutUs/WhatWeSpend/StaffPayAndGrading/documents/PayRates.pdf
http://www.dsfire.gov.uk/aboutus/DataTransparency/DataTransparency.cfm?siteCategoryId=2&T1ID=162


2. CATEGORIES OF STAFF

2.1 As part of the Pay Policy Statement, it is necessary to define the categories of 
staff within the Service and by which set of Terms and Conditions they are 
governed.

2.2 Executive Board Officers (including Chief Fire Officer):  The Executive Board 
is a mix of uniformed Brigade Managers and non-uniformed Officers who are the 
Directors of the Service.  The salary structure for Brigade Managers and other 
Executive Board members has previously been determined by the Authority and 
is subject to annual reviews in accordance with the Constitution and Scheme of 
Conditions of Service of the National Joint Council for Brigade Managers of Local 
Authorities’ Fire Brigades (the “Gold Book”).  The two non-uniformed Executive 
Board Officers are conditioned to the Gold Book for pay purposes only.  The 
minimum remuneration levels for Chief Fire Officers are set nationally in relation 
to population bands and in accordance with the Gold Book.   At a national level, 
the National Joint Council for Brigade Managers of Fire and Rescue Services 
reviews annually any cost of living increase applicable to all those covered by the 
national agreement and determines any pay settlement.  All other decisions about 
pay levels and remuneration over and above the minimum levels for Chief Fire 
Officers are taken locally by fire authorities, arrangements for which are set out in 
paragraphs 3.8 to 3.10.

2.3 Uniformed Staff:  This includes Whole-time and On-call staff and also the 
Control Room uniformed staff.  The remuneration levels for these staff are subject 
to national negotiation as contained in the Scheme of Conditions of Service of the 
National Joint Council for Local Authority Fire & Rescue Services which is known 
as the “Grey Book”. Any other remuneration is subject to local agreement.

2.4 Support Staff:  This category is the non-uniformed employees who support our 
Operational Service.  The Scheme of Conditions of Service for these employees 
is set out within the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services 
known as the ”Green Book”.  The National Joint Council negotiates the level of 
any annual pay increases applicable to the nationally recognised local 
government pay spine and these increases are applied across the Authority’s 
“Green Book” staff grading structure. 

3. REMUNERATION OF THE CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AND EXECUTIVE BOARD

3.1. The position of Chief Fire Officer is subject to minimum remuneration levels as 
set out in the “Gold Book” and according to population bands.  The Authority is in 
Population Band 4 (1.5m people and above).  The minimum salary level for this 
position is currently £128,263 per annum.  The Authority is the largest non-
metropolitan fire and rescue authority in the UK.  

Page 180



3.2. In 2006, prior to the combination of Devon Fire & Rescue Service and Somerset 
Fire & Rescue Service, the [then] Shadow Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue 
Authority reviewed the remuneration of the Chief Fire Officer and undertook a 
salary survey of other fire & rescue services within the same population band.  
The average salary, based on 2005 data, was found to be £124,184 and the 
salary level for the Chief Fire Officer for the new, combined service, was set at a 
notional level of £124,800 per annum for 2007.  Since then, national annual pay 
awards, and the review of Executive Board Officers’ pay conducted by the 
Authority in 2015, have increased the salary to £159,666.

3.3. The other positions within the Executive Board are as follows: 
Deputy Chief Fire Officer
Assistant Chief Fire Officer – Director of Service Delivery
Assistant Chief Fire Officer – Director of Service Improvement
Director of Governance & Digital Services 
Director of Finance & Resourcing

3.4. Further details of our Executive Board can be found at Devon and Somerset Fire 
and Rescue Service - Organisational Structure

3.5. The Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Chief Fire Officer salaries had 
previously been set locally at 80% and 75% respectively of the Chief Fire Officer 
salary, which reflected the previous minimum salary level set by the National 
Joint Council.  However, following the review of Executive Board Officers’ pay 
conducted by the Authority in 2015, the percentage link to the Chief Fire Officer 
salary was removed.  The current salary for the Deputy Chief Fire Officer is 
£132,522.  The current salary for an Assistant Chief Fire Officer is 119,747.  
Uniformed Brigade Managers (Chief Fire Officer, Deputy Chief Fire Officer and 
Assistant Chief Fire Officer) also provide “stand-by” hours outside of the normal 
working day within a Brigade Manager rota.

3.6. The remaining two “non-uniformed” Executive Board positions are the Director of 
Governance & Digital Services and the Director of Finance & Resourcing, both of 
which are on Grade 3 within a four point grading structure, which was determined 
by the [then] Shadow Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority in 2006 
following an external, independent Job Evaluation process. The salary levels for 
these grades were set as a percentage of the Chief Fire Officer’s salary but 
following the review of Executive Board Officers’ pay conducted by the Authority 
in 2015, the percentage link to the Chief Fire Officer salary was removed. The 
current salary levels for the four grades are:

Grade Salary
4 £99,791
3 £91,474
2 £83,159

Page 181

http://www.dsfire.gov.uk/AboutUs/WhoWeAre/OrganisationStructure/Index.cfm?siteCategoryId=2&T1ID=9&T2ID=5
http://www.dsfire.gov.uk/AboutUs/WhoWeAre/OrganisationStructure/Index.cfm?siteCategoryId=2&T1ID=9&T2ID=5


1 £74,843

3.7. The Gold Book NJC recommended that minimum increases are implemented 
with effect from 1 January of each year.

3.8. The relevant sections 9 – 11 from the Gold book in relation to salary increases 
are set out below:

Salaries 
The NJC will publish annually recommended minimum levels of salary 
applicable to chief fire officers/chief executives employed by local authority fire 
and rescue authorities. 
There is a two-track approach for determining levels of pay for Brigade 
Manager roles.  At national level, the NJC shall review annually the level of 
pay increase applicable to all those covered by this agreement.  In doing so, 
the NJC will consider affordability, other relevant pay deals and the rate of 
inflation at the appropriate date. Any increase agreed by the NJC will be 
communicated to fire authorities by circular. 
All other decisions about the level of pay and remuneration to be awarded to 
individual Brigade Manager roles will be taken by the local Fire and Rescue 
Authority, who will annually review these salary levels. 

3.9. Any locally determined increases in the Executive Board Officers’ remuneration 
are subject to approval by the Authority. In accordance with the conditions within 
the Gold Book, the Authority is required to conduct an annual review of the 
remuneration afforded to members of the Executive Board. Any such reviews will 
be conducted by way of an expert, independent report to a full Authority meeting 
which will contain such relevant data as to enable the Authority to reach a 
determination on levels of appropriate remuneration. As a minimum, comparative 
benchmark data will be provided on chief executive and other senior officer salary 
levels in other relevant public bodies as may be determined, e.g. other fire and 
rescue authorities, constituent authorities, neighbouring police forces etc. The 
annual review will also consider the level of pay awards made for other groups of 
employees and the relationship between the remuneration of the Chief Fire 
Officer and the median basic pay of the Authority’s whole workforce.

3.10. In 2015, the Authority conducted a review of Executive Board Officers’ pay.  
Following that review, it was agreed that:

i) the percentage link to the Chief Fire Officer salary for other Executive 
Board Officers would be removed;

ii) the annual review process will be considered on an individual basis;
iii) in conducting the annual review, any pay rise above the annual cost of 

living increases agreed nationally by the NJC for Brigade Managers, will 
be no greater than the percentage pay rise received by a Firefighter, 
unless such a pay rise is as a result of good performance, a 
reorganisation, restructure or other substantial reason.

Page 182



4. REMUNERATION OF THE LOWEST PAID EMPLOYEES

4.1 The lowest grade in the Service is within the Support Staff category which has a 
grading structure from Grade 1 to 11.  However, following the outsourcing of 
cleaning, there are no employees on Grade 1 so the lowest grade for substantive 
employees is Grade 2.  Each grade has a number of spinal column points and a 
new joiner will progress through these with increasing service. The salary range 
at Grade 2 is currently £18,933 to £19,698 for a 37 hour week and is usually 
subject to review from 1 April each year. For contextual purposes the salary level 
for a competent full-time firefighter is £31,767 per annum and is usually subject to 
review from 1 July each year. 

5. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE REMUNERATION OF CHIEF OFFICERS 
AND THE REMUNERATION OF THOSE EMPLOYEES WHO ARE NOT CHIEF 
OFFICERS.

5.1 In terms of pay multiples, in line with recommendations contained within the 
Hutton Review of Fair Pay, the Authority will use two ratios to explain the 
relationship between the remuneration of the Chief Fire Officer and the 
remuneration of those employees who are not chief officers.  The first is a 
comparison with the median earnings of the whole workforce using the basic pay 
for full-time equivalents (currently £31,767).  The second multiple is for the lowest 
pay point (currently £18,933).  This multiple has previously been used as a 
benchmark following suggestions by the Government that a ratio of 20:1 should 
be regarded as a level which public sector organisations should not exceed. 

5.2 The current pay multiple ratios are:

median basic pay 5.0 : 1
lowest pay point 8.4 : 1

5.3 In terms of the pay multiple between the Chief Fire Officer and other staff across 
the organisation, the Authority’s Pay Policy is that this will be 5.0 : 1 when 
compared with the median basic pay across the organisation, subject to the 
national pay settlements and any review by the Authority.  The Pay Policy 
Statement for future years will continue to be determined by the full Authority. 

6. ADDITIONAL ELEMENTS OF THE REMUNERATION FOR THE CHIEF 
OFFICER

6.1 These additional elements relate to the following:

 Bonuses or Performance Related Pay;

 Charges, Fees or Allowances;

 Benefits in Kind; 

 Any increase or enhancement to the pension entitlement as a result of the 
resolution of the Authority;

Page 183



 Any amounts payable by the Authority to the Chief Fire Officer on the Chief 
Fire Officer ceasing to hold office other than amounts that may be payable 
by virtue of any enactment.

6.2 The Chief Fire Officer does not receive any additional bonuses, performance 
related pay, charges, fees or allowances.  The Chief Fire Officer has an 
operational requirement for a Service provided emergency response vehicle.  
This is provided in accordance with the Service’s Provided Car Policy and, as 
Brigade Managers operate on continuous duty, no Benefit in Kind is attributable. 

6.3 In relation to the pension entitlement, the Chief Fire Officer is eligible to be a 
member of the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme.  All members of this pension 
scheme (which is closed to new members) can retire on reaching age 50, 
provided they have at least 25 years’ service.  The maximum pension entitlement 
that a member of the pension scheme can accrue is 30 years’ service.  Chief Fire 
Officers appointed before 2006 are required to seek approval to retire before age 
55 whilst those appointed after 2006 do not.  All other members of the pension 
scheme are not required to obtain such approval.  This requirement for Chief Fire 
Officers to have to seek approval has been recognised nationally as being 
potentially discriminatory on the grounds of age but can be overcome by 
agreement with the Authority to permit retirement from age 50.  The Authority has 
previously given approval for the Chief Fire Officer to retire at age 50 subject to 
any pensions benefit payable before the age of 55 not representing an 
unauthorised payment as defined in the Finance Act 2004.  

6.4 The notice period from either the employee or employer for termination of 
employment for the post of Chief Fire Officer is three months.  There are no 
additional elements relating to the Chief Fire Officer ceasing to hold this post 
other than those covered under any other enactments.

7. REMUNERATION OF CHIEF OFFICERS ON RECRUITMENT

7.1 Within the Localism Act there is a requirement to state the remuneration of Chief 
Officers on recruitment.  The pay level for the Chief Fire Officer was determined 
by the Authority in 2006, based on 2005 data, in preparation for the new 
combined Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Service commencing on 1 April 
2007.  The appointment of a Chief Fire Officer is subject to approval by the 
Authority. The current rate of remuneration would apply to any new Chief Fire 
Officer on recruitment, subject to any review that may take place in accordance 
with the arrangements set out within this Pay Policy Statement. 

8. RE-EMPLOYMENT OF EMPLOYEES

8.1 The Authority will not normally re-employ or contract with employees who have 
been made redundant by the Authority unless:

 there are exceptional circumstances where their specialist knowledge and 
expertise is required for a defined period of time and there has been a 
break in service of at least one month; or

 a defined period of 12 months has elapsed since the redundancy and 
circumstances have changed; or

Page 184



 the re-employment is in a different role and there has been a break in 
service of at least six months; or

 the re-employment is in the same role but at a lower cost and is within the 
context of an approved business case at the time of the redundancy and 
there has been a break in service of at least one month.

8.2 For each of the above scenarios:

 the approval of the Human Resources Management and Development 
Committee will be required for the re-employment, following redundancy, 
of any former employee up to Area Manager or non-uniformed equivalent 
posts; or 

 the approval of the full Authority will be required for the re-employment, 
following redundancy, of any post-holder at Area Manager or above 
(including non-uniformed equivalent); and

 for both of the above two approval processes, the Authority may require 
the repayment of one 24th part of any redundancy payment made by the 
Authority for every month less than 24 months between the date of 
redundancy and the date of re-employment. 

8.3 The Authority will, in principle, allow the re-employment of employees who have 
retired, subject to a break in service of at least one month, because it is 
recognised that this often represents an effective way of retaining specialist 
knowledge and skills without any increase in cost to the Authority (and noting that 
costs to the Pension Scheme are no more than would be the case for normal 
retirement).

8.4 However, the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England, published by the 
Home Office in May 2018, sets out that “fire and rescue authorities must not re-
appoint principal fire officers after retirement to their previous, or a similar, post 
save for in exceptional circumstances when such a decision is necessary in the 
interests of public safety”.  In this context, Principal Officers refers to those 
officers at Area Manager and above, or those with comparable responsibilities to 
those roles. The Fire and Rescue National Framework also states that fire and 
rescue authorities will “have regard to this principle when appointing at any level”.  

8.5 With this in mind, the re-employment of any employee who has retired will be 
subject to:  

 the approval of the Human Resources Management & Development 
Committee for all employees up to Area Manager or non-uniformed 
equivalent; or 

 the approval of the full Authority for any post-holder at Area Manager or 
above (including non-uniformed equivalent).

Page 185



8.6 Where retired uniformed staff are re-employed, then the Fire-Fighters’ Pension 
shall be abated such that the income from the gross annual rate of pay whilst re-
employed together with the gross annual pension (after commutation) will not 
exceed the gross annual rate of pay immediately prior to retirement. For staff 
within the Local Government Pension Scheme, where an individual is re-
employed on the same terms and conditions [salary] as previously, the same 
abatement rules as apply to those within the Fire Fighters Pension Scheme will 
be applied.  However, the Authority’s policy on Pension Discretions refers to 
flexible retirement and states that this “may be subject to abatement during such 
time as the individual remains employed by the Service”.  This allows the 
Authority to use flexible retirement opportunities where key employees may wish 
to continue working as they get older but step down in grade or reduce their 
working hours.  This can be beneficial to the Authority in retaining key skills, 
knowledge and experience whilst also reducing costs.  The authorisation of any 
such flexible retirement arrangements will be subject to the approval mechanism 
detailed above.

8.7 The appointment of any members of the Executive Board (the Chief Fire Officer, 
Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Assistant Chief Fire Officers, Director of Corporate 
Services and Director of Finance and Treasurer to the Authority) are subject to 
approval of the Authority and any re-employment following redundancy or 
retirement will be subject to consideration, by the Authority, of a robust business 
case and fully scrutinised against the above criteria.

9. THE PUBLICATION OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION RELATING TO 
REMUNERATION OF CHIEF OFFICERS

9.1 In order to make this information in relation to the Pay Policy Statement 
accessible to members of the public, the statement will be published on the 
Authority website.

10. REVIEW OF THE PAY POLICY STATEMENT

10.1 This document will be reviewed at least annually by the Authority. 

Page 186



REPORT REFERENCE 
NO.

DSFRA/21/7

MEETING DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY (Budget 
Meeting)

DATE OF MEETING 19 FEBRUARY 2021

SUBJECT OF REPORT RED ONE LTD. – APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

LEAD OFFICER Director of Governance & Digital Services

RECOMMENDATIONS (a). that, in accordance with the Articles of Association of 
Red One Ltd., the current Independent Non-Executive 
Director (Board Chair) and two Authority Non-Executive 
Directors be re-appointed to these roles for a further 
twelve months, subject to latter two remaining serving 
Members of the Authority; and

(b). that the Director of Governance & Digital Services be 
authorised to undertake an appointments process to 
identify potential successors for recommendation to the 
Authority in sufficient time to enable an appropriate 
transition in 2022. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY The current Articles of Association (v3) for Red One Ltd. (“the 
company”) provide:

 for the Authority (as sole shareholder) to appoint both an 
Independent Non-Executive Director (Board Chair) and 
Authority Member Non-Executive Directors; and

 for such appointments to be for an initial period of three 
years;

 that such Non-Executive Directors will be eligible for re-
appointment on expiry of their initial appointment.

The current occupants of these posts were appointed in 2018, 
meaning that in accordance with the company’s Articles they 
should retire from office in 2021.
The Authority has previously been advised of the disruptive effects 
of the Covid-19 pandemic both on operation of the company and 
the Authority itself. Despite this, the company has been successful 
in securing a major contract which it has recently started to 
deliver. 
Given that delivery of this contract is significant to the ongoing 
success of the company and that the Covid-19 pandemic still 
imposes considerable restrictions on normal activities, it is 
suggested that – rather than commencing a re-appointments 

Page 187

Agenda Item 12



MIKE PEARSON
Director of Governance & Digital Services

process at this stage – a period of stability may be more prudent. 
On this basis, the Authority is asked to approve the extension of 
the existing Non-Executive Director appointments by 12 months to 
enable an appropriate transition in 2022.  The current post-holders 
have indicated that they are prepared to continue in role until this 
time.

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS

Nil.

EQUALITY RISKS AND 
BENEFITS ANALYSIS 

N/A

APPENDICES Nil.

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

Red One Ltd. Articles of Association (third edition).

Page 188



REPORT REFERENCE 
NO.

DSFRA/21/8

MEETING DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY (Budget 
Meeting)

DATE OF MEETING 19 FEBRUARY 2021

SUBJECT OF REPORT AUTHORITY GOVERNANCE

LEAD OFFICER Director of Governance & Digital Services

RECOMMENDATIONS (a). that the Authority considers the contents of this report 
and approves either Option 1 or Option 1a as a revised 
governance structure to operate from the Authority’s 
Annual Meeting in 2021;

(b). that, in so doing, the Authority:
(i). determines the size of the Audit & Governance 

Committee as being nine Members and the Policy 
& Performance Working Group (if appointed) as 
being five members;

(ii). determines whether it wishes to remove the 
requirement for requests for retirement and re-
employment of officers below Area Manager to be 
determined by Members and if so for this change 
to be reflected in the Pay Policy Statement 
considered elsewhere on this agenda;

(iii). authorises the Clerk to make consequential 
amendments to the Authority’s constitutional 
framework documents (to align to the new 
structure), with any such amendments reported to 
the Authority Annual Meeting in 2021; and

(iv). authorises the Clerk to undertake a review of the 
Authority’s approved Scheme of Members 
Allowances, commissioning external support as 
required, for report to the Authority Annual 
Meeting in 2021;

(c). that the Authority determines whether it would wish to 
make, from the Annual Meeting in 2021, a reduction in 
the number of Members appointed by constituent 
authorities to 20 Members and in this event authorises 
the Clerk to advise the constituent authorities 
accordingly.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY This report sets out the outcomes from the review of the 
Authority’s governance structure, commissioned in 2020 and 
supported by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS). 

Page 189

Agenda Item 13



In particular, it sets out the findings of CfGS (as contained in the 
appended report) and the work undertaken by the Governance 
Review Working Group established to progress the issues 
identified in the draft CfGS report as considered at three initial 
workshops held for Authority Members.
The report identifies options to amend the Authority’s governance 
structure, as recommended by the Governance Review Working 
Group.

RESOURCE 
IMPLICATIONS

Implementation of one of the options could have implications for 
the Authority’s approved Scheme of Members’ Allowances. It is 
envisaged that any such financial implications would be contained 
within existing resources.

EQUALITY RISKS AND 
BENEFITS ANALYSIS 

This report and the options proposed are considered compatible 
with existing Equalities and Human Rights legislation 

APPENDICES A. “Supporting a Governance Review” – final report from the 
Centre for Governance & Scrutiny.

B. Governance Review Working Group Terms of Reference
C. Option 1 Meeting Cycle
D. Option 1a Meeting Cycle
E. Extract from Scheme of Delegations

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

1. “Leading the Fire Sector: Oversight of fire and rescue service 
performance” published by the Local Government 
Association in November 2019

2. “State of Fire and Rescue: The Annual Assessment of Fire 
and Rescue Services in England 2019” published by Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS) in January 2020

Page 190

https://fireauthority.dsfire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD317&ID=317&RPID=501392426
https://fireauthority.dsfire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD317&ID=317&RPID=501392426
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/state-of-fire-and-rescue-annual-assessment-2019/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/state-of-fire-and-rescue-annual-assessment-2019/


1. BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority (“the Authority”) was established 
in 2007 as a combined fire and rescue authority by a Combination Scheme Order 
(“the Order”) – a statutory instrument made under the Fire & Rescue Services Act 
2004. The Authority is a body corporate i.e. it is a separate legal entity, able to 
both employ staff and enter into contracts for the provision of goods and services.

1.2. When initially established, the Authority adopted the governance structure of the 
former Devon Fire Authority (established in 1997). This provided for a full 
Authority, with places allocated to the constituent authorities in accordance with 
the provisions of the Order, and a number of Committees to assist the Authority 
in discharging its functions.

1.3. This was because the primary legislation relating to governance of the Authority 
was – and continues to be – the Local Government Act 1972. In broad 
governance terms, this allows the Authority to establish committees and sub-
committees and/or to delegate functions to officers. There are some exceptions 
(for example, setting the budget) which cannot be delegated and must be 
exercised by the full Authority. Unlike other principal authorities, though, the 
Authority cannot delegate the exercise of functions to individual Members as the 
statutory provisions for this, as contained in the Local Government Act 2000, do 
not apply to combined fire and rescue authorities. 

1.4. Consequently, a governance model with an Executive (comprising individual 
Cabinet Members, each with delegated responsibilities) and separate, distinct 
committees/panels to scrutinise decisions of the Executive, is not available to this 
Authority. Rather, it is the Authority itself that has responsibility for strategic policy 
setting (including financial considerations) and then holding officers to account for 
the effective and efficient delivery of the strategic policy agenda.

1.5. The Authority commenced a review of its governance arrangements in December 
2018 and a number of Member workshops were held during 2019.

2. AUTHORITY FUNCTIONS, GOVERNANCE ROLE AND THE ROLE OF 
SENIOR OFFICERS
Authority Functions

2.1. Unlike principal authorities, the Authority has the single purpose of ensuring the 
provision of effective and efficient fire and rescue services for the area it serves. 

2.2. The Fire & Rescue Services Act 2004 (“the Act”) provides that the core functions 
(“must do” duties) of fire and rescue authority are to make provisions to:

Prevention
(a). promote fire safety (Section 6);
Response
(b). when fires occur, extinguish them and protect life and property (Section 

7);
(c). rescue people involved in road traffic collisions (Section 8); and

Page 191



(d). deal with the following other types of emergency as specified by the 
Secretary of State (Section 9). The Secretary of State has, to date, 
specified the following:

(i) chemical, biological, radiological and nuclear emergencies;
(ii) collapsed buildings (urban search and rescue);
(iii) emergencies involving trains, trams or aircraft.

2.3. Additionally, Section 11 of the Act gives a fire and rescue authority the power 
(“can do”) to respond to other situations which cause, or are likely to cause:

(a). one or more individuals to die, be injured or become ill; and/or
(b). harm to the environment (including the life and health of plants and 

animals).

2.4. The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 places protection functions on 
the Authority by regulating fire safety standards. This is a “self-compliant” regime 
which is enforced by fire and rescue authorities through a risk-based inspection 
programme.

2.5. The Act also requires the Secretary of State to prepare a National Framework 
which all fire and rescue authorities must “have regard to” when discharging their 
functions. The current iteration of the National Framework lists the following 
priorities for fire and rescue authorities:

1. identify and assess foreseeable risks and make appropriate provision for 
managing them through prevention, protection and response activities 
(integrated risk management planning);

2. collaborate with emergency services and other partners to increase 
efficiency and effectiveness;

3. be accountable to the communities for the services they provide; and
4. develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, skilled, 

flexible and diverse.
Authority Governance Role

2.6. In November 2019 the Local Government Association published a useful guide 
on governance in the fire and rescue sector “Leading the Fire Sector: Oversight 
of fire and rescue service performance”.  This guide set out the key 
responsibilities in discharging the governance role of a fire and rescue authority 
as:

1. determining the strategic policy agenda for the fire and rescue service;
2. setting an appropriate budget to fund delivery of that policy agenda; and
3. ensuring that the policy agenda is delivered, i.e. scrutinising performance 

and “holding to account”.
Role of Senior Officers and Interface with the Authority Governance Role

2.7. The Chief Fire Officer is the operational head of the fire and rescue service which 
should deliver, effectively and efficiently, the intended outcomes of the strategic 

Page 192



policy agenda for the benefit of the communities served by the fire and rescue 
authority. 

2.8. Additionally, the Chief Fire Officer – along with that of the other statutory officers 
(i.e. the Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring Officer) – is responsible for 
supporting the Authority in undertaking its governance role. This provides the 
interface between governance and operational matters.

2.9. This interface requires an effective, professional relationship between Members 
and senior officers. In turn, this relationship should be characterised by 
openness, honesty, mutual respect and high levels of trust. While senior officers 
should provide Members with high-quality, reliable information to support them, it 
is also important that Members provide constructive challenge. 

2.10. In exercising this performance review/scrutiny role, Members should seek 
assurance on the advice and information provided by officers both in support of 
strategic policy setting and subsequent performance oversight. In the context of 
performance oversight, “assurance” may be differentiated from “reassurance” in 
the following lay terms:

Reassurance: when someone you trust tells you that all is well.
Assurance: when someone you trust tells you what’s happening; shows you 
the evidence; encourages questions and constructive challenge; and allows 
you to judge for yourself if everything’s fine.   

2.11. To secure assurance, effective scrutiny should be an integral component and fire 
and rescue authority governance arrangements. It should also be noted that the 
National Framework requires each fire and rescue authority to hold the Chief Fire 
Officer to account for the exercise of their functions and the functions of persons 
under their direction and control.

3. GOVERNANCE REVIEW AND COMMISSIONING OF CENTRE FOR 
GOVERNANCE & SCRUTINY (CfGS)

3.1. In 2020 the Centre for Governance & Scrutiny (CfGS) was commissioned to build 
on work commenced in December 2018 with the intention of strengthening 
governance arrangements to ensure the Authority was best placed to:

 provide political leadership and have effective arrangements in place for 
oversight of the Service ; and

 to assist in driving forwards continuous improvement in all areas.

3.2. In addition, there were a number of external drivers making such a review timely, 
including comments made by Sir Thomas Winsor (Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector 
of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services) in the “State of Fire and Rescue: 
The Annual Assessment of Fire and Rescue Services in England 2019”. The 
Annual Assessment was in turn based on inspections of fire and rescue services 
undertaken by HMICFRS between June 2018 and August 2019.

Page 193



3.3. The Annual Assessment commented on “unclear demarcation between political 
oversight and operational leadership” and concluded that “Chief fire officers 
should have operational independence to run their services effectively and 
efficiently to meet the priorities and commitments in their integrated risk 
management plans”. Consequently, the Annual Assessment recommended that 
the Home Office should issue clear guidance on the demarcation between 
governance and operational decision-making to clarify and protect the role of the 
Chief Fire Officer.

3.4. CfGS is an independent national charity founded by the Local Government 
Association, the Local Government Information Unit and the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance Accountants and has a respected and trusted track record for 
providing independent and impartial advice. It is the leading national body for 
promoting and supporting excellence in governance and scrutiny with a well-
developed methodology for reviewing governance and scrutiny across the public 
sector

3.5. The methodology for the Authority governance review featured:

 desktop research of this Authority’s and other fire authority documents;

 a survey of all Authority Members; and

 interviews with a range of stakeholders including the Authority Chair and 
Vice-Chair, Committee Chairs; groups of Members as requested; the 
Service Executive Board; and other key stakeholders (including Police & 
Crime Commissioners and the leaders of the four constituent authorities).

3.6. This resulted in production of an initial draft report that was then considered by 
Authority Members at three workshops during November 2020. The report 
findings identified clear drivers for change, including:

(1) The majority of Members interviewed felt that improvements were 
needed for the Authority to operate in a more strategic and efficient way.

(2) A lack of clarity of roles and responsibilities, increased operational focus 
and time spent in Committees with minimal impact beyond advising or 
information sharing.

(3) The need to move to a more streamlined and proportionate governance 
model was recognised.

(4) A perceived lack of clarity in the legislation about where accountability 
for operational decisions lie is the rationale for the existing approach and 
focus on operations.

(5) The LGA governance guide for Members is clear that the Authority 
should be setting strategic policy objectives in keeping with its 
responsibility in the statutory framework and holding the Chief Fire 
Officer to account.

Page 194



(6) The Authority’s existing scheme of delegation provides clarity on roles 
and responsibilities but this is not regularly applied or reinforced by 
either the Authority or senior Officers. This often leads to a blurring of 
lines with time being spent on operational areas and decisions beyond 
the remit of the Authority.

(7) There is a significant range in Members’ understanding of the Authority’s 
role and purpose. Many of those interviewed felt that it would be 
beneficial to refresh understanding of the statutory responsibilities of the 
Authority and delineation of the Member and Officer roles.

(8) The existing Committee structure is largely historical and broadly similar 
committees have been in place since 1997. It was felt that the structure 
no longer appeared to be fit for purpose to achieving the Authority’s 
ambitions of strategic outcomes, managing risk, delivering value for 
money and reflecting changing service demands.

(9) It was felt that the cycle of committee meetings, rather than strategic 
risks and priorities, is driving the agenda and taking up significant Officer 
and Member time.

(10) There would be more value if Committees could have decisions 
delegated to them or they were assigned overview and scrutiny type 
responsibilities.

3.7. In summary, the feedback from the three Member workshops was that:

 overall, there was acceptance of the report findings and analysis, although 
for some Members it did not match their experience;

 there was understanding of the drivers for change, with the majority of 
Members feeling that it was important to own governance modernisation 
rather than wait until this was imposed externally; and

 there was broad acceptance of the review recommendations relating to 
strategic focus and prioritisation, clarity of roles and responsibilities, 
meeting management, training and development.

3.8. The feedback was used to inform the final review report, a copy of which is 
attached at Appendix A. It was suggested at the third workshop that there would 
be benefit in establishing a small working group, supported by CfGS and officers, 
to explore the issues in greater depth with a view to proposing options for 
alternative governance models to the Authority. In line with this proposal, a 
Governance Review Working Group was established with Terms of Reference 
and Membership as set out in Appendix B.

Page 195



4. GOVERNANCE REVIEW WORKING GROUP

4.1. The Working Group met virtually on three occasions – 9 December 2020, 11 and 
27 January 2021 – supported on each occasion by CfGS and officers. To assist 
discussions, the Working Group was provided with copies of both the CfGS 
report and “Leading the Fire Sector: Oversight of fire and rescue service 
performance” published by the Local Government Association in November 2019. 
At the outset it was agreed that a systematic approach should be followed, with 
the following “road map” used to inform discussions at the three meetings:

1. Assessment and analysis;
2. Structure options;
3. Consideration and recommendation of proposed models.

4.2. The discussions at each of the Working Group meetings are summarised briefly 
below.
9 December 2020

4.3. The Working Group considered both the internal and external drivers for change, 
the statutory functions of the Authority, the collective role of the Authority, the 
roles of both Members and Officers and what comprised “good governance” – 
see Section 2 above. 

4.4. In summary, the Working Group reached a consensus that:
1. good governance comprised the arrangements put in place to ensure that 

the intended outcomes for stakeholders were defined and achieved;
2. good governance would enable the Authority to:

a. set a strategic policy agenda to meet the needs of communities and 
discharge the Authority’s statutory responsibilities efficiently and 
effectively (i.e. policy setting); and

b. ensure the policy agenda in question (i.e. the defined outcomes) is 
delivered on time, on budget, to the required standard and in 
accordance with statutory responsibilities (i.e. scrutinising 
performance and “holding to account”); and

3. the underlying principle supporting overall governance arrangements 
should be one of “form follows function”.

11 January 2021
4.5. Building on the discussions from the first meeting, this meeting examined, 

amongst other things, the governance structures in place for the other nineteen 
combined fire and rescue authorities. It was identified that, irrespective of the 
overall size of Authority, the most common governance structures provided for a 
maximum of two committees, one of which would exercise an audit function.

4.6. The Working Group asked that, for the third meeting, further work (to include a 
Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats – SWOT – analysis) be 
undertaken on three possible options:

Page 196



Option 1 – Full Authority and one Committee (Audit & Standards), supported 
by an increase in the number of Member Champions, ad-hoc Task & Finish 
Groups as required and the Members’ Forum;
Option 2 – Full Authority and two Committees (Audit & Standards; People), 
supported by a smaller increase in the number of Member Champions, Task 
& Finish Groups as required and the Members’ Forum; and
Option 3 – Full Authority and three Committees aligned to the main pillars of 
the HMICFRS current inspection regime (i.e. Effectiveness Committee; 
Efficiency Committee; and People Committee), supported by the Members’ 
Forum.

27 January 2021
4.7. The Options as identified above were further developed to include indicative 

remits and submitted to this meeting, together with the SWOT analysis for each 
option as requested by the Working Group.

4.8. At an early stage in the meeting, the Working Group reached a consensus, based 
on the information provided, to discount Option 3 as:

 the HMICFRS inspection pillars were intended to assess service delivery, 
not governance functions. Additionally, while effectiveness, efficiency and 
people were the current inspection pillars, these could change over time;

 it did not provide for a separate, audit committee, with these functions 
instead being undertaken by the full Authority. Establishment of a 
separate, audit committee had been identified as “best practice” in the 
research previously undertaken;

 with the inclusion of a separate, audit committee, the structure would 
effectively be no different from that operating at present (albeit with 
different committee names);

 that it represented the least joined-up, fully “inclusive” model in terms of 
involvement by all Members with all significant interdependencies.

4.9. Following further discussion, Option 2 was also discounted as there was no 
strong rationale, from a governance perspective, for a separate People 
Committee if additional separate committees for other policy areas were not to be 
established. If additional separate committees were established, this would in 
effect be a version of Option 3 (which had already been discounted).

4.10. The Working Party was of the view, however, that there were two potential 
options that could be advanced to the Authority for consideration:

Option 1 – Full Authority and one Committee (Audit & Standards), supported 
by an increase in the number of Member Champions, ad-hoc Task & Finish 
Groups as required and the Members’ Forum; and
Option 1a – as per Option 1, but with a standing Working Group, with regular, 
diarised meetings, established to replace ad-hoc Task & Finish Groups to 
undertake detailed scrutiny of performance and work with officers on policy 
development.

Page 197



4.11. These Options are expanded on in Section 5 below. 

5. OPTIONS

5.1. In expanding on the options proposed by the Governance Review Working 
Group, the opportunity was taken to amend the name of the Audit & Standards 
Committee to Audit & Governance Committee to better reflect its remit.
Option 1

5.2. This would provide for a full Authority and one Committee (Audit & Governance), 
supported by an increase in the number of Member Champions, ad-hoc Task & 
Finish Groups as required and the Members’ Forum. The respective remit for 
each of these is set out below.

FULL AUTHORITY
Strategic 
1. Approval of all strategic policy objectives (including Community Risk 

Management Plan [CRMP]; Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy; 
Climate Change Strategy)

2. Approval of Service revenue budget (including Council Tax precept) 
and Capital Programme and Prudential Indicators

3. Approval of strategic financial documents (e.g. Medium Term 
Financial Plan; Reserves Strategy; Capital Strategy; Treasury 
Management Strategy) 

4. Approval of both internal and external facing performance metrics for 
all strategic policy objectives

5. Performance review monitoring against all strategic policy objectives 
– proactive programme

Other
6. Annual approval of constitutional governance documents (e.g. 

Standing Orders; Financial Regulations; Scheme of Delegations)
7. Annual appointments to:

a. Audit & Governance Committee;
b. Chief Fire Officer’s Appraisals Panel (min. 2 meetings per year)
c. Member Champions
d. Outside bodies

8. Annual approval of Pay Policy Statement
9. Annual Approval of Members’ Allowances Scheme
10. Approval of Members’ Code of Conduct (as and when required)
11. Determination of Appointments Panels for posts of Chief Fire Officer, 

Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Treasurer and 
Monitoring Officer 

Page 198



12. Dismissal of a statutory officer (Chief Fire Officer, Monitoring Officer 
and Treasurer)

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Audit & Assurance
1. Approval of internal and external audit arrangements for the Authority 

(including annual internal audit plan)
2. Receipt of external and internal audit reports and approval of 

associated action plans as required
3. Approval of Annual Statement of Accounts and Annual Assurance 

Statement
Finance
4. Financial performance monitoring (incl. Red One performance),
5. Approval of budget virements (value threshold to be determined but 

could be aligned to limit for Resources Committee in existing 
Financial Regulations)

Governance and Conduct
6. Oversee and review Corporate Risk Register
7. Approval of Authority RIPA Policy
8. Receive Local Pension Board annual report
9. To promote high standards of Member conduct and specifically to:  

a. review the Code of Members’ Conduct (recommending changes 
to full Authority)

b. determine the procedure for and deal with any Member Code of 
Conduct complaints

10. Appoint Disciplinary Sub-Committees (as required) with responsibility 
for complaints against statutory officers

Other
11. Approval of retirement and re-employment requests below AM level 

(but this could be delegated to the Chief Fire Officer)
12. Annual appointment to the Stage 2 firefighter’s pension disputes 

resolution panel (IDRP).

MEMBERS’ FORUM
1. To raise awareness of emerging issues of importance and, 

collectively, to act as a “sounding board” to contribute towards all 
strategic policy development (including budget), drawing on personal 
and political experience

2. To receive updates on matters for information 
3. Interim performance review updates in specific areas as required
4. Member development opportunities

Page 199



MEMBER CHAMPIONS
Member Champions could be appointed to focus on key areas of the policy 
agenda, e.g.:

a. Environment;
b. People (Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy; Health & Safety; 

Member & Employee conduct and behaviours);
c. Service delivery (prevention, protection, response);
d. Finance (Economy and Efficiency)

Member Champions would support relevant officers in the development of 
policy (including appropriate performance monitoring metrics) for eventual 
consideration by the full Authority. 

TASK & FINISH GROUPS
These would be established as and when required, either by the full Authority 
or the Clerk in consultation with the Authority Chair (as per existing Standing 
Orders), to:

a. work with relevant Member Champions and officers in the development 
of strategic policy;

b. undertake reactive policy performance “deep dives” as directed by the 
Authority; and

c. undertake other, ad-hoc, issues as may be directed.
Task & Finish Groups would be advisory only and would report back to the full 
Authority.

5.3. In this Option the Authority operates as strategic board providing political 
leadership in setting the strategic policy agenda. The structure is simple and easy 
to understand from a Member, Officer and public transparency perspective, and 
has the potential to provide greater clarity between strategic policy decision 
making (the Authority) and operational leadership and management (the 
Service). The structure also seems more proportionate in balancing effective and 
productive use both of Member and Officer time. It allows all Authority Members 
to be involved in all aspects of strategic policy development and “holding to 
account”/performance monitoring, which would provide for a better whole Service 
understanding.  

5.4. There is a risk that Authority meetings could become longer if the existing 
committee business is simply replicated at the Authority. This, however, can be 
managed by using the Member Forums for issues that are for information only 
and by using task and finish groups, as required, for more “in-depth” analysis of 
any specific performance areas or ad hoc issues that may arise.

5.5. An indicative cycle of meetings for Option 1 is shown diagrammatically in 
Appendix C.

Page 200



Option 1a
5.6. This is similar to Option 1, but replaces ad-hoc Task & Finish Groups with a 

Policy & Performance Working Group. This Working Group would meet on a 
regular, diarised basis and would:

a. work with officers and relevant Member Champions in the development of 
strategic policy;

b. undertake regular performance review/scrutiny of delivery against the 
policy agenda; and

c. undertake both planned and reactive policy performance “deep dives” as 
directed by the Authority.

5.7. As with Task & Finish Groups, this Working Group would be advisory only and 
would report back to the full Authority. 

5.8. This Option would provide for a core group of Members to undertake 
performance scrutiny work and policy development (supported by relevant 
Member Champions and officers). It would also allow for focussed training and 
development to enable the Members to discharge the role effectively and assist 
Members in managing their other time commitments (by having some regular, 
diarised meetings).

5.9. An indicative cycle of meetings for Option 1a is shown diagrammatically in 
Appendix D.

6. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
General 

6.1. In adopting either Option 1 or Option 1a, there are a number of other issues that 
would need to be taken into consideration. These are:
(1) The Authority’s constitutional framework documents would need revision to 

align to the new structure. For each Option, though, it is not anticipated that 
significant revisions would be required but indicative revisions include, not 
exclusively:

a. Standing Orders (e.g. references to appointments to 
Committees/Sub-Committees; appointment of either Task & Finish 
Groups or Policy & Performance Working Group; appointment of 
Member Champions);

b. Financial Regulations (e.g. references to Committees; virement 
limit thresholds);

c. Member Officer Protocol.
(2) Committee Terms of Reference would require revision to align to either 

Option 1 or 1a and a role description developed for any enhanced Member 
Champion role;

(3) Potential revisions to the Authority’s approved Scheme of Members’ 
Allowances (e.g. introduction of an allowance to recognise an enhanced 
Member Champion role);

Page 201



(4) The overall size of the Audit & Governance Committee. Given the proposed 
Terms of Reference for the Committee, it is suggested that it should 
comprise of nine members.  This would allow for the selection of members 
to form various panels as required to manage, as necessary, any 
complaints under the Authority’s Member Code of Conduct; and

(5) If Option 1a is selected, the overall size of the Policy & Performance 
Working Group.  It is suggested that the Working Group should have five 
members, supplemented as required by Member Champions depending on 
the policy agenda area being scrutinised.  Additionally, whilst in terms of 
spreading the workload on Members it might be practical to seek to have no 
duplication between membership of this Working Group and the Audit & 
Governance Committee, as the Working Group is non-decision making it is 
not thought necessary for this to be an established principle. 

Scheme of Delegations
6.2. The CfGS review report comments that the Authority’s existing Scheme of 

Delegations provides clarity on roles and responsibilities but that this is not 
regularly applied or reinforced either by the Authority or senior officers. For ease 
of reference, an extract from the Scheme of Delegations is showing those 
matters currently delegated to the Chief Fire Officer is set out at Appendix E to 
this report. 

6.3. It can be seen that the Chief Fire Officer already has considerable delegated 
authority in relation to a wide range of operational and other matters. While it is 
not proposed that these require extension, approval of either Option 1 or 1a 
would assist in clarifying and reinforcing the Scheme of Delegations by reducing 
the potential for confusion and/or duplication that currently exists [through custom 
and practice] on when issues should be exercised by the Chief Fire Officer or 
potentially referred to one (or more) of the existing Committees.  

6.4. The Authority may wish to consider, though, removing the requirement for 
requests for retirement and re-employment of officers below Area Manager to be 
determined by Members (this currently is delegated to the HRMD Committee). If 
this was delegated to the Chief Fire Officer, any such decisions would be 
reported to the subsequent Authority meeting for transparency purposes.

6.5. The National Framework requires that decisions to re-employ senior officers (i.e. 
Area Managers and above) are taken by the full Authority and that re-
appointments should only be approved in exceptional circumstances and in the 
interests of public safety.  No changes are proposed in this respect.

7. OVERALL AUTHORITY SIZE

7.1. Paragraphs 6 and 7 of the Combination Scheme Order (“the Order”) provide that 
the Authority shall comprise a maximum of 25 Members (excluding Police & 
Crime Commissioners), with the places allocated to each constituent authority in 
accordance with relative electoral roll. The maximum number of 25 may be 
exceeded only if this is a result of application of the apportionment formula.

Page 202



7.2. Legal advice has confirmed that, subject to not exceeding the maximum 
permitted number (unless by application of the apportionment formula) and to 
retaining the relative apportionment of places to constituent authorities (i.e. by 
reference to electoral roll), it is within the gift of the Authority to determine its 
overall size. Of the 19 other combined fire and rescue authorities, 15 have 
already reduced their total size from the 25 stipulated in their Combination 
Scheme Orders, with numbers now ranging from 10 to 23. For reference, each of 
the initial Combination Scheme Orders stipulated a maximum of 25 Members and 
was based on a standard model produced by the [then] Fire Brigades Advisory 
Council. 

7.3. The issue of overall Authority size was subject to some discussion at the final 
meeting of the Governance Review Working Party on 27 January 2021 (the 
priority being to first establish options for an optimum governance structure). 
While a significant reduction was not considered appropriate, some views were 
expressed that a revised governance structure for the Authority should also 
feature a reduced overall number of Members on the Authority, but with any 
reduction not being so great as to result in appointments by Torbay Council being 
reduced down to only one.

7.4. Taking account of the most recent electoral roll figures (as at 1 March 2020), the 
Working Group noted that a model of 20 Members in total (excluding the Police 
and Crime Commissioners) would achieve this, apportioned as indicated below:

Devon County Council – 9 Members (reduction of 3);
Somerset County Council – 6 Members (reduction of 2);
Plymouth City Council – 3 Members (reduction of 1);
Torbay Council – 2 Members (no reduction).

7.5. Based on either Options1 or 1a, 20 Members would be sufficient to allow for: nine 
appointments to the Audit and Governance Committee; five appointments to the 
Policy & Performance Working Group; four Member Champions; and an Authority 
Chair and Vice Chair.  There is, of course, no reason why Members cannot have 
more than one role (as exists at present), so a model with fewer Members could 
work but that was not considered by the Working Group for the reasons set out at 
paragraph 7.3 above.

7.6. However, it should be noted that as places are allocated to each constituent 
authority in accordance with relative electoral roll, the actual number of places 
allocated to each constituent authority can vary year on year by virtue of 
application of the apportionment formula. This has happened a number of times 
in previous years and as a result numbers on the Authority have varied between 
24 and 26 (excluding the Police and Crime Commissioners).

7.7. While overall size is a matter for the Authority to determine (subject to retaining 
the relative electoral roll ratio), by virtue of Paragraph 7 of the Order actual 
appointments are matter for each individual constituent authority to determine. In 
making appointments to outside bodies, the individual constituent authorities 
need to take account of political proportionality.

Page 203



7.8. The Authority is invited to indicate whether, in approving one of the proposed 
governance options, it would also wish to make a reduction in overall number of 
Members appointed by constituent authorities, i.e. excluding the Police and 
Crime Commissioners.

8. CONCLUSION

8.1. This report sets out the functions of a fire and rescue authority, the governance 
role of a fire and rescue authority and the respective roles both of the fire and 
rescue authority and the officers which support it.

8.2. It also concludes the governance review of this Authority that commenced in 
December 2018 and which, since 2020, has been independently supported by 
the Centre for Governance & Scrutiny (CfGS). I would like to place on record my 
thanks for the support provided by CfGS (in particular, Ian Parry) and for the 
positive engagement and constructive contribution made by those Members of 
the Governance Review Working Party in assessing, in more detail, the nature of 
good governance and proposing options for a revised governance structure for 
this Authority.

MIKE PEARSON
Director of Governance & Scrutiny

Page 204



 

Page: 1 of 23  

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
  
  

  
 

 

 

 

Supporting a governance review  
  

 

 

 

Final Report  

December 2020  

  

  

  

  

  

APPENDIX A TO REPORT DSFRA/21/8 

Page 205



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 2 of 23  

  

1. Introduction  
   
1.1. The Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority (the Authority) wanted to step 

back and check that it is effective in its role and that its structures, processes 
and other arrangements are fit for purpose and are able to serve the 
community now and in the future. 

 
1.2. Within the context of HMG’s objectives for fire sector reform and the HMICFRS 

programme, the effectiveness and resilience of the Authority is likely to be 
subject to scrutiny in the future and Members wish to ensure it can robustly 
meet such scrutiny of its capability and capacity to secure the delivery of high 
quality fire and rescue services across the counties of Devon and Somerset.  

 

1.3. Building of the work done in 2019, the Authority sought to review its 
governance arrangements to ensure that it has in place the right framework to 
maximise its value and contribution. 

 

1.4. The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) was invited to advise and 
support the Authority Members and Officers in the review of the Authority’s 
governance arrangements to ensure that it is effective in discharging its 
statutory functions by providing quality oversight and accountability in policy 
and decision making (including corporate, financial and service plans) to 
secure overall improvements in the delivery of fire and rescue services. 

 
 
2. The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny  
 
2.1. CfGS is the leading national body promoting and supporting excellence in 

governance and scrutiny. Its work has a strong track record of influencing 
policy and practice nationally and locally. CfGS is respected and trusted across 
the public sector to provide independent and impartial advice.  

 
2.2. CfGS is an independent national charity founded by the Local Government 

Association (LGA), Local Government Information Unit (LGIU) and Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance Accountants (CIPFA). Its governance board is 
chaired by Lord Bob Kerslake.  

   
 
3. Review scope and methodology   
  
3.1. The Authority has a constitutional governance framework which is subject to 

regular review and amended as necessary to reflect either legislative change 
or best practice. It wished to explore its overall governance arrangements, 
however, to see how it can strengthen and develop its impact and value in 
relation to its core functions. 

Page 206



 

Page: 3 of 23  

3.2. Scope:  

• Culture. The relationships, communication and behaviours 
underpinning the operation of the Authority. Is there a shared mission 
within the Authority?  This will also involve the Authority’s corporate 
approach in developing policy and strategies and its working 
relationships with its respective parent councils and the Fire and 
Rescue Service itself.  

• Information. How information is prepared, shared, accessed and used 
in the service of the Authority.  

• Impact. How effective is the Authority, what value does it contribute? 
How does it make a tangible and positive difference to the effectiveness 
of the Service, and to local people?   

• Focus. How the Authority, through its committee structure, focuses on a 
programme of work designed to provide oversight, direction and 
accountability.    

• Structure. Test the shape of the Authority - is it fit for purpose and does 
its committee structure provide the most effective platform for its 
Members to perform its keys tasks responsibilities?  

• Member/Officer relations. Assess the quality of Member/Officer 
relations and clarity of respective roles. 

• Member development. Assess the opportunity for Member 
development arrangements.  

3.3. CfGS proposed the following broad areas of focus, which were explored 
through the review:  

• Prioritisation and focus. Is the Authority focused on the right 
priorities? How do Members and committees lead and drive 
improvement and change?   

• Outcomes and impact. How is the Authority making a difference? 
Where and how is this demonstrated and presented?  

• Policy and strategy development. Where and how do Members play 
an active and leading role in the core plans of the Service, including 
corporate and service plans, budgets and medium-term financial plans?  

• Holding to account. How effective is the Authority in discharging its 
function to hold the CFO and the Service to account for the delivery of 
an effective service plan and ensuring public safety? Is there open and 
objective scrutiny?  

3.4. Evidence sourcing:  

The following elements acted as a framework for the evidence gathering:  

1. Organisational commitment and clarity of purpose  

2. Members leading and fostering good relationships  

3. Prioritising work and using evidence well  

4. Having an impact   
  

Page 207



 

Page: 4 of 23  

3.5. The evidence gathering consisted of:  

• Desktop work – a review of the Authority’s constitutional governance 
framework, core strategic plans and a review of agendas, minutes, work 
plans.  

• Interviews – interviews with elected Members in Chair roles, committee 
Members, PCC, senior Officers and governance leads, and partners. All 
Members were given the opportunity to be interviewed. We are 
confident that sufficient evidence was captured from a range of elected 
Members, Officers, and partners.             

• Survey – we carried out a survey of Members to invite comment more 
generally. A summary of the findings can be found at Appendix A.  

 
Observation – due to the current Covid-19 restrictions, planned meeting of the 
Authority have been disrupted. Meetings are now held virtually and are available for 
public viewing via the Authority’s YouTube channel. We have observed those 
committees which were accessible including: Audit & Performance Review 
Committee, Standards Committee, Resources Committee, Community Safety & 
Corporate Planning Committee, Human Resources Management & Development 
Committee and the full Authority. 

 

• Member workshops – three virtual workshops to take feedback on the 
draft report and recommendations. The outcome of these is reflected in 
the final version of this report.   

 
 

4. Summary of findings - Overall assessment:  
 

4.1. The Authority is ambitious to ensure that its governance arrangements are fit 
for purpose, today and to meet future challenges. Whilst it is confident of 
compliance with governance codes, it is keen to ensure the culture, structure 
and processes support efficient and effective decision-making which respond 
to community needs. With potential national developments impacting on its 
governance, a new inspection regime and elections expected in May 2021, it is 
a timely opportunity to review and consider improvements.  

 
4.2. There was a strong view that, in recent years, there have been improvements 

in the governance culture with increased Member involvement, holding to 
account and joint working with the Chief Fire Officer, the Executive Board and 
Committee Chairs. Relations overall between Members, Officers and partners 
are positive and respectful, and the role of democratic accountability is valued 
and respected.  

 

4.3. The majority of those interviewed felt that improvements were however needed 
for the Authority to operate in a more strategic and efficient way. For many, the 
current governance model and approach acts as a barrier rather than an 
enabler to effective decision-making. Consequences of this included 
frustrations over a lack of clarity of roles and responsibilities, increased 
operational focus and time spent in Committees with minimal impact beyond 
advising or information sharing.  

 

Page 208



 

Page: 5 of 23  

4.4. Whilst a minority of people were content with how things were working, most 
recognised that changes were needed to enable a clearer focus on strategic 
priorities, greater clarity of roles and responsibilities, and potentially a move to 
a more streamlined and proportionate governance model.  

 

4.5. Many people recognised that introducing a more strategic approach will require 
a change in culture and mindset. Without this, process or structure changes 
will only have a limited impact. Many believed that it was essential for the 
Authority to lead, and be seen to be leading, its own governance 
modernisation programme.  

  
 
5. Governance context  

 
5.1. The COVID pandemic required an immediate change in how the Service 

operated to continue to protect citizens and communities. During this period, 
adjustments were also made to how the Authority worked and engaged with 
the Service, recognising the pressures on resources and lockdown restrictions. 
Meetings have been moved online and for many people this is working well.  

 
5.2. Whilst the ongoing restrictions continue to present a challenges, particularly 

with regard to maintaining Member accountability and engagement, those 
interviewed also saw longer-term benefits from some online working, including 
less travel, accessibility and a better balance with other commitments and, 
sometimes, a better quality debate.  

 

5.3. The pending local authority elections in May 2021 are seen as a further driver 
for change. There was a desire to use this opportunity to achieve the ambition 
of raising governance standards and creating a safe foundation for any 
potential change to the membership of the Authority.  

 

5.4. Nationally, there has been further discussions about the potential merging of 
blue light services and reorganisation of local government. Many of those 
interviewed were aware of this and there was a mix of views, seeing both risks 
and opportunities. It was recognised that these changes should also be a 
driver for the Authority to carry-out this external assessment and agree an 
improvement plan.  

 

5.5. In January 2020, Her Majesty’s Chief inspector of Fire and Rescue Services, 
Sir Thomas Winsor, published his first annual assessment of fire and rescue 
services in England1 based on the inspections carried out between June 2018 
and August 2019. He reported that fire and rescue services had not been 
formally inspected for more than a decade. The National Audit Office published 
a report on fire and rescue services in 2015, but its focus was solely on their 
financial sustainability. It was seen as a landmark report and the HMI 
inspection framework and recommendations is being seen as a significant 
driver for all fire authorities’ strategic priorities.  
 

 
1 https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-
2.pdf 
 

Page 209

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-2.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-2.pdf


 

Page: 6 of 23  

5.6. Pertinent to this report, the annual assessment described potential barriers to 
becoming more effective and efficient, which included ‘unclear demarcation 
between political oversight and operational leadership’. The Chief Inspector 
concluded that ‘Chief fire officers should have operational independence to run 
their services effectively and efficiently to meet the priorities and commitments 
in their integrated risk management plans’. It recommended that the Home 
Office should issue clear guidance on the demarcation between governance 
and operational decision-making to clarify and protect the role of chief fire 
officer.  
 

 
6. Strategic impact  
 
6.1. Authority Members are articulate and passionate about ensuring the Service is 

able to deliver the support required to the counties’ communities. 
Improvements have been made in involving Members in setting the strategy 
and holding to account. It was however felt that that the Authority did not 
consistently provide the necessary democratic leadership in terms of setting 
direction, providing strategic oversight and assuring value for money.  

 
6.2. Time and attention is given to strategic priorities such as the Safer Together 

Strategy, Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) and HMI inspection 
framework, but this is alongside time also being allocated to issues and 
decisions that could be considered as operational. The majority of those 
interviewed were keen to see the Authority focus more of their time on key 
strategic decisions, risk and the budget in particular.  

 

6.3. The size of the Authority membership and committee structure also drives how 
policy, decision-making and oversight is managed. There was evidence of 
attempts to be strategic by a small number of elected Members, including the 
Chairs, and Officers, but it is stifled by embedded historical practice and the 
committee model. Overall this leads to a traditional approach to the Authority’s 
business focused primarily on ensuring effective operational performance 
rather than looking 3-5 years ahead and having a wider view.   

 

6.4. The desire to improve was described by several interviewees: “the Authority 
needs to have clear public outcomes”; “I want the Authority to understand their 
role and when necessary hold the officers to account. This means that we’ll be 
able to challenge and support. I don’t think we are fully equipped to a make an 
impact” and “We can’t stay as we are, so we’ve got to improve matters. All 
Members take their role seriously and feel a real responsibility, there is no one 
there who takes it lightly.” 

 

6.5. Many people recognised that introducing a more strategic approach will require 
a change in culture and mindset. Without this, changes such as those resulting 
from new Home Office guidance or any structural change will only have a 
limited impact. A range of improvement measures will be needed to give the 
Authority the focus and flexibility to align more easily with strategic priorities 
and risks as identified through the strategy.  

 

Page 210



 

Page: 7 of 23  

7. Clarity of purpose and roles  
 

7.1. There is a perceived lack of clarity in the legislation about where accountability 
for operational decisions lie, as per the HMI annual inspection report reference, 
which for some Authority Members is the rationale for the existing approach 
and focus on operations. The LGA governance guide for Members2 is however 
clear that the Authority should be setting strategic policy objectives, keeping 
with its responsibility in the statutory framework and holding the Chief Fire 
Officer to account.  

 
7.2. The Authority’s existing scheme of delegation also provides clarity on roles and 

responsibilities but this is not regularly applied or reinforced by either the 
Authority or senior Officers. This often leads to a blurring of lines with time 
being spent on operational areas and decisions beyond the remit of the 
Authority. The expected new Home Office guidance gives a further impetus for 
the Authority review and implement a clearer demarcation.  

 

7.3. There is a significant range in Members’ understanding of the Authority’s role 
and purpose. Also levels of engagement vary across the Authority, beyond 
what you may usually expect in a democratic setting. Some Members are 
working hard to be strategic, offer insight and challenge and be evidence-led. 
Others are more comfortable in the operational space, keen to stray into 
operational detail or are less willing to challenge senior Officers. The team and 
family ethos is a huge strength of the fire service and some Members have 
been involved for a long time and see their role as a supportive, civic duty. It is 
however important to balance this with the strategic responsibilities and the 
requirement to hold to account.  

 

7.4. Many of those interviewed felt that it would be beneficial to refresh 
understanding of the statutory responsibilities of the Authority and delineation 
of the Member and Officer roles from Member induction onwards. One 
interviewee with experience of organisational change said “Experience showed 
that if you get governance right everything will flow from it. It will however take 
time and needs investment in training and development to support the 
change”.  

 

7.5. There were regular references to Member’s responsibility to scrutinise and 
hold Officers to account. There was debate about whether this should be 
happening in a more formal structural way, similar to the leader/ cabinet/ 
scrutiny model (within the limits of what the law allows for combined fire 
authorities) or for scrutiny to form an integral part of their role as described by 
an interviewee: “We need Members to be acting more like scrutineers and to 
stress test ideas”. 
 

7.6. Members also raised concerns about the lack of public understanding of the 
role and purpose of the Authority and if there was more that should be done to 
engage directly with the public, outside of formal consultations.  

 
 

 
2 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/10.35_New_Fire_Authority_Members_Guide_W
EB_0.pdf 
 

Page 211

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/10.35_New_Fire_Authority_Members_Guide_WEB_0.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/10.35_New_Fire_Authority_Members_Guide_WEB_0.pdf


 

Page: 8 of 23  

8. Relationships, behaviours and culture 
 
8.1. Overall, the governance culture is one of positive working relationships 

between Members and Officers. There is regular and good engagement 
between the Authority Chair, Chief Fire Officer and the Executive Board. 
Officers talked positively and understood the role and value of democratic 
leadership, accountability and decision-making, and work hard to make the 
current arrangements add value.  

 
8.2. Some Members shared concerns about Officers not sharing information in a 

timely manner, feeling unsure about what information they could request. 
Some interviewees cited previous issues relating to commercialisation (Red 
One), the consultation regarding fire station closures, and transparency of the 
budget spend as examples.  

 

8.3. Relationships between political groups is co-operative and there is no evidence 
of politics in decision-making. Whilst there are differences in approach, 
Members work together to achieve similar goals in Committees. The culture is 
sometimes traditional and hierarchical in its approach, behaviours were 
generally respectful and views listened to in meetings. There could be value in 
introducing a working protocol focused on values and behaviours, particularly if 
challenging transformation work is undertaken.  

 

8.4. The Chairs appear to work well together and the Chairs meeting is effective 
and meets regularly with the Chief Fire Officer and other officers on the 
Executive Board. Members particularly valued the monthly ‘Member Forum’ 
which was an informal briefing session and often used to inform policy 
discussions.  

 
 

9. Membership and the governance model  
  

9.1. The Authority currently consists of 26 Member representatives of the local 
authorities plus the two Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs). The PCCs 
joined in 2020 and this is seen as a valuable and important partnership. The 
Authority membership is the largest in the country and whilst the original 
rationale in terms of political and geographical representation is understood, 
many people felt it was now too big to support effective and efficient decision-
making. The size of the group limited the quality of debate and time that can be 
allocated to agenda items to hear views. There were also costs associated 
with such a large membership.  
 

9.2. The Chair has worked hard to improve the focus, content and quality of 
Authority meetings and the regular Committee Chairs meetings enable 
improved co-ordination of business. Chairs of the Committees also work 
closely with the senior officers. However, the level of engagement can vary 
and in some instances a lack of understanding of roles and responsibilities in 
terms of agenda setting in the broadest sense and involvement in operational 
issues.  

Page 212



 

Page: 9 of 23  

9.3. The Committee structure itself is largely historical in that broadly similar 
committees have been in place since 1996/97. Again, whilst this will have been 
appropriate for a period, it was felt that the structure no longer appears to be fit 
for purpose, in particular to achieving the Authority’s ambitions of strategic 
outcomes, managing risk and delivering value for money and reflecting 
changing service demands.  

 

9.4. Some of those interviewed saw value in the Committee structure in that it 
enabled a wider group of more Members to be involved, thorough 
consideration of issues and enabled people to build up knowledge and 
understanding. Most however felt that there were potentially too many 
committees, with overlaps leading to duplication, particularly as most 
decisions-making is held by the Authority.  

 

9.5. From feedback, it was reported that there is not always enough meaningful 
work for each Committee and they do not consistently add value. It was felt 
that the cycle of meetings, rather than strategic risks and priorities, is driving 
the agenda and taking up significant Officer and Member time. One 
interviewee described the committee structure as being “relevant in theory and 
then you go along as a committee Member and wonder what you’ve achieved 
at the end of it”.  

 

9.6. It was felt that there is value in operating committees if they have a clear 
purpose aligned to the Authority’s priorities or another suggestion was aligning 
committees with the HMI inspection criteria. There would also be more value if 
Committees could have decisions delegated to them or they were assigned 
overview and scrutiny type responsibilities.  

 

9.7. Formal changes to the governance model which would provide an option for 
the Authority to operate as an ‘executive’ type function is limited by the 
legislation. Although variations on these arrangements have been 
implemented elsewhere (see section below) and it is therefore possible to 
introduce some changes within the legislation.  

 
 

10. Meetings  

(It is necessary to note that due to the Covid-19 restrictions, meetings of the 
Authority have been disrupted and we are aware that virtual meeting can lack 
some of features and benefits of normal physical meetings. We have tried to 
take account of this in our observations and evidence). 
 

10.1. Meeting agendas - Reflecting the various roles of the Authority’s Committees, 
meeting agendas vary quite considerably and suggest that some Committees 
have much more to do than others. Overall, agendas tend to be information or 
reporting matters, with much less focus on strategy and forward planning. 
Some Committees appear to struggle to find suitable agenda subjects which 
may indicate that there could be options for consolidation. The main Authority 
meeting also includes a regular set of information reports and receives minutes 
and recommendations from committees. This may not be an efficient use of its 
time and may unnecessarily prolong the meeting. For the full Authority, as the 
key decision-making body, there could be more focus on executive decision-
making around policy, strategy and improvement. 

 
Page 213



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 10 of 23  

  

10.2. Quality of discussion – Members are generally quite knowledgeable about 
the Service and are capable of asking questions. However, these can often be 
information gathering questions. Members may see their role in some 
Committees as providing oversight and scrutiny, rather than shaping and 
leading strategy. Some Committees by their nature can be rather internally 
focused. There is limited use of additional knowledge briefings, drawing on 
external research, benchmarking etc. to assist Members in their deliberations 
(see para 11.3 below).  

 

10.3. Chairs - play a useful role in scene-setting and leading discussion in 
Committees, although engagement can vary widely. There is a need for 
greater clarity and understanding on the role of officers and chairs in agenda 
planning and setting. Whilst it is for officers to set the agendas, Chairs and 
members should have the opportunity to discuss items to be considered. At the 
meetings, there was very limited (sometimes no) involvement from some 
Members and a familiar smaller group of Members who tend to take on much 
of the discussion. It is worth exploring the reasons for this, especially where 
some Members may need additional support. 

 

10.4. Quality of papers/evidence - Committees tend to be served by reports or 
presentations produced by Officers. These are high quality and 
comprehensive, especially finance and performance reports. However, given 
the number of Committees, it would suggest that a considerable amount of 
resource is used in serving, reporting and organising committees. 

 
 
11. Support and training  
 
11.1. A Director with responsibility for governance and a small and experienced 

team of Officers (two FTE) support the Authority and Committees. In addition, 
the Authority draws on wider support from the Chief Fire Officer and senior 
officers. The team is proactively engaged in advising Members and Officers.  

 
11.2. It was agreed that Member services deliver a comprehensive induction for new 

Members which is valued. With regard to ongoing training and development, it 
was felt that there is a balance to be struck with the training Members receive 
at their local authority.  

 

11.3. Members and Officers did however feel there was more scope for focused 
sessions on statutory responsibilities, roles and responsibilities, strategic 
priorities, what good looks like, and this could be regularly reinforced/ 
refreshed. There could also be a more bespoke training and development 
offered for Chairs, Committee Members on questioning skills, and specific 
knowledge briefings as required. Also, to be able to draw on external support 
and expert contributions from the LGA or similar bodies.   

  
 

Page 214



 

Page: 11 of 23  

12. Governance Models - Comparisons  
 

12.1. Devon & Somerset has the highest number of Members serving on its full 
authority at 26 (excluding the two PCCs), compared to other CFAs. The Devon 
and Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority (Combination Scheme) Order 2006 
states “the Authority shall consist of not more than 25 members” and the 
existing population formula would currently support a membership of 15; 18; 
19; or 20 members. 

 

12.2. Other membership levels below 15 and above 20 would also be possible.  
However, from a good governance perspective, there are many factors at play 
when considering an ideal size for a decision-making board, for the Authority 
this includes population and local authority representation. Taking this into 
account, we would support a Board size of between 15-20 to provide sufficient 
depth and diversity, and reflect democratic and political representation.  

 

12.3. Membership on other combined fire authorities range from 10 to 25, the 
Median being 18 and Average being 19. 

 

 
 

12.4. When considering a committee structure comparison, although some of the 
other authorities’ committees are ad-hoc, Devon & Somerset has the least 
‘lean’ committee structure compared to all other combined fire authorities – the 
most common number of committees being two. 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

CFRA by size

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

No. of Committees per CFRA

Page 215

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/2790/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/2790/made


      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 12 of 23  

  

 
13. Recommendations  

 
13.1. The draft recommendations were considered during a series of Member 

workshops which took place in November 2020, overall there was acceptance 
of the report findings and analysis, although for some it did not match their 
experience.  
 

13.2. The majority of members understood the external drivers for change and felt it 
was important for the Authority to own governance modernisation. There was 
broad acceptance of the majority of recommendations.  
 

13.3. In relation to the recommendation on the governance model, there was a 
mixed response from Members, with some agreeing that fundamental change 
was needed, others felt changes should focus on ways of working, and others 
did not accept the need for any change. Following consideration of the 
workshop feedback, our independent review remains that a fundamental 
change is needed to the update and modernise its governance model to 
support the Authority’s ambitions and pre-empt external drivers which could 
impose radical change on fire authorities and there structures..  
 

13.4. At the third workshop Members agreed to set up a task group to lead the co-
design and feasibility testing of possible new governance model options. The 
group will report back to the Fire Authority meeting in February 2021 with a 
view to any accepted being implemented in May 2021.  
 

   Review recommendations:  

 
13.5. Review and agree the strategic focus and prioritisation – reflecting on the 

Authority’s statutory purpose and guidance, undertake a review of the 
Authority’s role in leading development of its strategy and overseeing its 
delivery.  

 This process could involve:  

• agreement of the public outcomes for the Authority and how they will be 
communicated.  

• explaining how the Authority will oversee their achievement e.g. through 
the development and oversight of the IRMP, budget setting, 
performance reviews, programme board updates and HMI inspection 
action plan and preparation.  

• describing how policy development, key decisions and oversight will be 
managed to inform the agreement of a work programme.   

 

13.6. Clarity of roles and responsibilities – flowing from the agreement of the 
strategic focus and plans, review the scheme of delegation as necessary, 
reflecting on the need to create a stronger strategic focus and a clear 
demarcation between political oversight and operational leadership.  

 

Page 216



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 13 of 23  

  

13.7. Governance model review – with agreement on the strategic focus and roles 
and responsibilities, it is possible to design an appropriate governance model 
(form following function).  

The overall governance model of the Authority has remained unchanged for a 
considerable time, whilst the Fire Service itself has undergone several 
restructures over recent years. Updating its governance model would enable 
the Authority to demonstrate that it is mindful of the need to ensure that its 
governance arrangements are effective, efficient and provide value for money. 

Our review suggests that a fundamental review of the Authority’s structure is 
overdue and is in need of modernising and simplifying. We are recommending 
the introduction of a more streamlined, agile and innovative governance model 
which supports effective and efficient decision-making and oversight. 

Two models were presented for consideration and will from part of the work of 
the task group:  

a. A smaller Authority model with fifteen Members which acts as the main 
decision-making and policy setting forum. It would meet every six 
weeks and be supported by an Audit, Governance and Standards 
Committee to provide oversight and assurance.  

To manage the distribution of workloads, Lead Members roles are 
recommended, these roles would create a simple structure for some 
Members to take on extra responsibility (albeit in a non-decision taking 
capacity) and grow expertise to support the Authority’s capacity and 
capability.  

b. A larger Authority model with twenty Members with a streamlined 
Committee structure with delegated decision-making. The Authority 
would meet quarterly and in designing the Committee structure, 
Members would need to be confident that there would be sufficient 
decisions which can be formally delegated.  

For both options, due to a potentially larger Member commitment, it is 
recommended that the Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances should be 
reviewed. 
 

13.8. Meeting management - update the terms of reference to reflect the new 
working parameters, including frequency, Member and Officer engagement, 
etc. and provide new guidance to provide clarity of roles and responsibilities 
and how this works in practice e.g. agenda setting. Also consider how the 
experience of online meetings can be used to inform new arrangements.  

 

13.9. Training and development - implement a new member training and 
development programme with a new package of support which equips 
Members to undertake their role in the Authority.  

The programme should include regular refresher briefings, core knowledge 
sessions, bespoke offers to chairs and others in key roles that includes 
coaching, mentoring, alongside a more general offer that reflects the skills 
needed to achieve the Authority outcomes e.g. questioning skills, 
commercialisation, finance, performance management, data analysis. Also 

Page 217



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 14 of 23  

  

consider what independent support can be made to the Authority and 
Members.  
 

13.10. Adopt a protocol - Changing will require a new culture, mindset and 
openness to challenge, this tool is helpful in reinforcing how everyone should 
be treated and how they should treat others, and Members and staff at all 
levels will be empowered to challenge any behaviour contrary to the code. 

 
 
 
14. Acknowledgments and thank you 
 
15.1. CfGS was commissioned by Devon and Somerset Fire Authority to advice and 

support in the review of the Authority’s governance arrangements. We would 
like to thank the Members, Officers and partners for their time, insights and 
open views.  

 
 
15. CfGS Project Management and Delivery 

Jacqui McKinlay – Chief Executive – Jacqui.mckinlay@cfgs.org.uk 

Ian Parry – Head of Consultancy - ian.parry@cfgs.org.uk  

Kate Grigg – Senior Research Officer – kate.grigg@cfgs.org.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 218

mailto:Jacqui.mckinlay@cfgs.org.uk
mailto:ian.parry@cfgs.org.uk
mailto:kate.grigg@cfgs.org.uk


      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 15 of 23  

  

 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A  
 
Q1: What would you say, in a short sentence or two, is the role of the Fire 
Authority? 
 
(All answers below displayed using word frequency cloud) 

 
 

Page 219



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 16 of 23  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

Q2: Is there shared understanding and agreement on the 
strategic priorities for the Authority across Members and 

Officers?

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

Q3: Are Members and Officers involved in the Authority 
clear on their distinct roles and responsibilites?

Page 220



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 17 of 23  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Extremely
effective

Effective Moderately
Effective

Not very effective Not effective at
all

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

Q4: How effective is the Authority in setting a clear 
strategic direction and supporting the development of key 

strategic documents e.g. the Fire & Rescue Plan and 
Integratred Risk Management Plan?  

Extremely
effective

Effective Moderately
Effective

Not very effective Not effective at
all

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

Q5: How effective is the Authority in holding to account 
the Chief Fire Officer and other senior officers for delivery 

of these plans? 

Page 221



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 18 of 23  

  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mainly forward looking at
strategy, policy development

and holding to account

Mainly focused on
operational management

An equal mix

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

Q6: Where does the Authority spend most of its time -
looking into strategy, policy development and holding to 

account or operational management?

The process is fully
Member-led and

co-ordinated

Members are
involved in the

early stages and
drive the process

It is mainly
involved in the

later stages when
it is finalised

It is hardly
involved in

strategy and
budget planning,
its mainly officer-

led

The authority
tends to focus on
how the budget is
spent and tracking

performance

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Q7: What is the Authority’s role in setting the strategic 
direction including developing the budget? (Select all that 

apply)

Page 222



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 19 of 23  

  

 

 
 
 

Strongly agree Agree Not sure Disagree Strongly disagree

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

Q8: Are there sufficient opportunities for the public to 
input into the work of the Authority?

Extremely
effective

Effective Moderately
Effective

Not very effective Not effective at
all

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

Q9: Is the Authority effective in communicating with the 
public during strategy setting and in terms of its 

accountability? 

Page 223



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 20 of 23  

  

 
 
 
Q10 Answer Choices 

▪ Those involved in governance have easy access to the right information to 
make decisions 

▪ It is open and transparent 

▪ The Authority makes decisions that are ethical and based on evidence 

▪ There are good working relationships between the Authority and officers – 
trust, confidence and open to challenge 

▪ There are good working relationships between members – trust, confidence 
and open to challenge 

▪ The Authority is focused on the right priorities 

▪ It is making an impact and adding value to the Service 

▪ There is clarity of purpose, roles and responsibilities including delegation 

▪ The Authority welcomes external scrutiny 
 

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Q10: How would you describe the governance culture at 
the Authority? (Select all that apply)

Page 224



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 21 of 23  

  

 
 

adding value and
impacting on the

authorities
performance

focusing on the
right issues

avoiding
duplication and

supporting
effective decision-

making

offering value for
money and
efficiency

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

Q11: Is the current approach to governance, based on 
committees, working in terms of:

Yes

Not sure

No

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Q12: In terms of the Fire Authority governance model, 
which of the following statements do you agree with? 

(Select all that apply)

Page 225



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 22 of 23  

  

 
 
Q14: Is there any specific training or development that would help you be more 
effective in your role? 
 
Answers included: 

▪ “Aims and objectives of committees.” 

▪ “Further training on the role of Members with the Authority Trading Arm 
company. More training for leadership roles/strategic policy making.” 

 
Q15: Is there any aspect of the governance of the Authority you would describe 
as good practice and be keen to keep? 
 
Answers included: 

▪ “I feel that not enough use is made of the excellent Members Forums.  
Authority Members should be actively encouraged to make these meeting 
mandatory.  Much good work and understanding of the wider issues comes 
from these Forums.” 

▪ “I like the use of the Members Forum to discuss issues in depth ahead of main 
Authority Meetings.” 

▪ “A free open vote on all issues.” 
 
Q16: Is there any specific aspect of the governance of the Authority you would 
like to improve or change? 
 
Answers included: 

▪ “Reform the Committee Structure, avoid duplication, speed up decision 
making. Have more thorough Member involvement in the budget setting 
process.” 

Very satisfied Quite satisfied Not sure Quite unsatisfied Very unsatisfied

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

Q13: Are you satisfied that you are supported enough in 
your role regarding training and development?

Page 226



      
Devon & Somerset Governance Review Final Report – December 2020  

    

  

Page: 23 of 23  

  

▪ “I think the Authority is too large for its role, though reducing its size would 
make the representative function more problematic.” 

▪ “Better scrutiny and more defined targets/KPI's. All members of the authority 
need to understand better what we do so that we are willing to challenge. 
Subgroups can help build knowledge and involvement.” 

Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B TO REPORT DSFRA/21/8

Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Authority

GOVERNANCE REVIEW WORKING GROUP - TERMS OF REFERENCE

Statement of Purpose and Scope

1. The purpose of the Working Group is to consider and develop options for the 
most effective and efficient governance structure for the Authority having regard 
to:

(a) the functions of the Authority
(b) the review report produced by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny
(c) the LGA governance guide: Leading the fire sector - Oversight of fire and 

rescue service performance (Nov 2019)
(d) the report by Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Fire and Rescue Services: 

State of Fire and Rescue - The Annual Assessment of Fire and Rescue 
Services in England (2019)

2. The Working Group shall consider options that include the overall size of the 
Authority (subject to any Combination Scheme requirements on maximum 
numbers and apportionment of places to constituent authorities) and any 
committee structures with a view to the effective discharge of the Authority’s 
functions.

3. The appointment of Police and Crime Commissioners to the Authority are not 
included in the scope.

4. Members of the Working Group may take soundings from other Members of the 
Authority as necessary during the course of the Group’s activity.

5. Officers of the Service will support the work of the Working Group.

6. Officers will produce a report to the meeting of the Authority on 19 February 
2021 on the Governance options developed by the Working Group.

Membership

7. The Working Group will comprise a maximum of seven Members of the 
Authority reflecting, insofar as possible: political balance; proportional 
representation from each constituent authority; and a balance of views 
expressed during the workshops facilitated by the Centre for Governance and 
Scrutiny.

Page 229



8. Initial membership to be:
Name Constituent Authority Party
Brazil, Julian Devon County Council Lib Dem
Saywell, Andrew Devon County Council Con
Trail, Jeffrey Devon County Council Con
Buchan, Pam Plymouth City Council Lab
Coles, Simon Somerset County Council Lib Dem
Healey, Mark Somerset County Council Con
Thomas, David Torbay Council Con

9. Substitute representatives are not permitted because of the nature and balance 
of the Working Group.

Appointment of Chair

10. The Working Group may appoint a Chair from its members at the first meeting 
of the Working Group.

Meetings

11. The Working Group shall meet as required.

12. Meetings will be called by the Clerk to the Authority who will make a record of 
the meeting for the purpose of informing the report to be submitted to the 
Authority meeting in February 2021.

Quorum

13. The total number of members required to be present for a meeting to be quorate 
will be one third of the total membership (i.e. at least three Members).

Powers

14. The Working Group has no delegated authority, its purpose is to make 
recommendations to the Authority on potential governance options.

Voting

15. The Chair, if appointed, shall determine when consensus has been reached.

16. Where consensus is not achieved this should be recorded and reflected in the 
report for submission to the Authority meeting in February 2021.

Page 230



APPENDIX C TO REPORT DSFRA/21/8

P
age 231



P
age 232



APPENDIX D TO REPORT DSFRA/21/8

P
age 233



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E TO REPORT DSFRA/21/8

EXTRACT FROM CURRENT AUTHORITY APPROVED SCHEME OF 
DELEGATIONS

1. MATTERS DELEGATED TO THE CHIEF FIRE OFFICER
(a). General

4.1 To exercise the functions of Head of Paid Service.

4.2 In consultation with the Legal Adviser as necessary, to institute, defend or 
settle legal proceedings (either in the name of the Authority or an individual 
officer of the Authority) at common law or under any enactment, statutory 
instruments order or bye law conferring functions upon the Authority (or in 
respect of functions undertaken by it) and to lodge an appeal in respect of any 
such proceedings.  For the avoidance of doubt, this delegation shall extend to 
the taking of all procedural steps including service of notices - statutory or 
otherwise - counter-notices, the Laying of Informations and to any 
proceedings which the Chief Fire Officer considers expedient to take for the 
protection of the interests of the inhabitants of the Authority’s area.  Any claim 
settled in accordance with this delegation will be subject to the provisions of 
paragraph 4.6 below.  (NOTE:  this function may also be exercised by the 
Clerk to the Authority).

4.3 To exercise the Authority’s powers as consultee under any legislation 
including objecting to the issue of licences, consents, registrations or 
permissions and/or submitting responses or representations.

 
4.4 In the absence of the post-holder and subject to consultation with appropriate 

officers as indicated, power to exercise any of the functions delegated to the 
Clerk as detailed in Section 5 below.

4.5 In accordance with Standing Orders and in cases of urgency ONLY, power to 
act on behalf of the Fire and Rescue Authority, subject ALWAYS to 
consultation with other officers of the Fire and Rescue Authority (as 
appropriate) and with the Chairman or Vice-Chairman and to a report being 
submitted on any action so taken to the next ordinary meeting of the Fire and 
Rescue Authority.

4.6 In consultation with the Treasurer, to approve the making of any grant up to 
and including the limit as set out in Financial Regulations.

4.7 In consultation with the Treasurer, to settle employee claims up to and 
including the threshold as set out in the Schedule to Financial Regulations;

4.8 To negotiate and approve, in consultation with the Treasurer, the settlement 
of other claims against the Authority up to the thresholds as set out in the 
Schedule to the Financial Regulations.
(NOTE:  the delegations at 4.7 and 4.8 above EXCLUDE claims to be settled 
by officers under insurance arrangements).

Page 235



4.9 In consultation with the Treasurer, to approve ex gratia payments up to the 
thresholds as set out in the Schedule to the Financial Regulations in the case 
of loss or damage to an employee’s clothing and equipment during the course 
of employment (subject to there being no negligence on the part of the 
employee) or in relation to any incidental expenditure arising from 
assault/serious injury to employees at work. 
(b). Operational

4.10 In accordance with the Fire and Rescue Services Act (“the Act”) 2004:
(i). to exercise power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, 

or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any fire and 
rescue authority function in accordance with Section 5;

(ii). to ensure that the core functions of the Authority as provided for 
by Sections 6 to 9 of the Act are duly exercised in accordance 
with the Authority’s Integrated Risk Management Plan and any 
associated policies approved by the Authority;

(iii). to exercise power to respond to any other eventualities in 
accordance with Section 11;

(iv). to provide other staff/equipment for other purposes as 
appropriate in accordance with Section 12;

(v). to enter into reinforcement schemes with other fire and rescue 
authorities in accordance with Section 13;

(vi). to enter into arrangements with other employers of firefighters 
(excluding other fire and rescue authorities) for the discharge of 
firefighting, road traffic accidents or other emergencies in 
accordance with Section 15;

(vii). to enter into arrangements for the discharge of functions by 
others in accordance with Section 16 of the Act;

(viii). to exercise powers at or under sea in accordance with Section 
20;

(ix). to provide information as requested to the Secretary of State in 
accordance with Section 26;

(x). to provide information in connection with pensions etc. in 
accordance with Section 35;

(xi). to make arrangements for water supplies in accordance with 
Part 5, Sections 38 to 43;

(xii). to authorise employees of the Authority for the purposes of Part 
6, Sections 44, 45 and 46 (powers of entry in the event of an 
emergency and for information gathering/fire investigation 
purposes) and furnish them with evidence of authority.

Page 236



4.11 To the extent not covered elsewhere in this Scheme of Delegations, decisions 
on operational deployment of staff, equipment etc. and the use of buildings in 
accordance with the approved Integrated Risk Management Plan.  This 
delegation DOES NOT include the power to close a fire station unless that is 
explicitly mentioned in the approved Plan or has been the subject of a 
separate resolution by the Authority.

4.12 To enter into agreements in respect of fire alarm systems in circumstances 
where special arrangements are provided to transmit the call from the 
protected premises to the Fire and Rescue Service Mobilising Centre.

4.13 To offer training to outside bodies in aspects in which the Service has 
expertise.

4.14 To authorise the exercise of powers of entry, inspection and survey and the 
carrying out of emergency works by staff of the Service or contractors acting 
on behalf of the Fire and Rescue Authority and/or the Service on land or 
buildings.

(c). Fire Safety

4.15 To exercise all the powers of the Authority under the Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005 including, amongst other things:

(i). appoint inspectors in accordance Article 26(1) of the Order and 
furnish them with evidence of authority;

(ii). in accordance with Article 26(3) of the Order, make 
arrangements with either the Health and Safety Commission or 
the Office of Rail Regulations for the for the performance of the 
Authority’s functions in relation to any particular premises;

(iii). in accordance with Article 28(1), to give consent to a duly 
appointed inspector (or any other person authorised by the 
Secretary of State) authorising in writing an employee of the fire 
and rescue service to exercise powers conferred on a fire 
inspector by virtue of Article 27 of the Order. 

(d). Asset Management
4.16 To agree, following consultation with the Legal Adviser as necessary, the 

terms and arrangements for the acquisition (whether by purchase, lease or 
licence) of land and/or buildings required for Authority purposes subject to:

(i). prior approval of the Authority for any acquisition involving a 
conveyance;

(ii). compliance with Financial Regulations (or Procedures made 
thereunder) and this Scheme of Delegations in relation to 
thresholds for capital expenditure.

4.17 To agree, following consultation with the Legal Adviser as necessary, the 
terms and arrangements for the disposal of Authority land and/or buildings 
considered surplus to requirements subject to:

Page 237



(i). prior approval of the Authority for any disposal involving a 
conveyance;

(ii). compliance with Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972.
(e). Personnel

4.18 Subject to:
(i) any statutory restrictions and requirements;
(ii) any conditions of Service requirements;
(iii) such policies, procedures and practices that may from time to time be 

determined by the Authority;
(iv) the provisions of paragraph 4.18 below
the power to deal with all matters relating to the appointment (including the 
method of appointment), suspension, dismissal, relegation, pay, promotion, 
supervision, compensation, conditions of service, redundancy, recruitment, 
qualification, training, health, safety, welfare, housing allowances and the 
provision of telephones and pay and any other matters relating to the paid 
employment of persons by the Service, both uniformed and non-uniformed.  
In particular, this delegation shall include the power to:

(a) effect minor variations in the establishment between uniformed 
and non-uniformed posts where this is in the best interests of 
the Service and subject to consultation with representative 
bodies and to there being no additional resource implications 
associated with the variation;

(b) to effect changes in the establishment structure subject to any 
financial implications being contained from within existing 
resources and to compliance with the virement thresholds as 
contained in the Authority’s Financial Regulations;

(c) approve secondments to the Fire Service College, appropriate 
government department(s) and other relevant agencies subject 
to all costs being met by the seconding agency.  Authorisation to 
fill vacancies in the Service arising from substantive 
secondments;

(d) determine applications submitted by individual members of the 
Service for approval to carry on outside employment and to 
determine those occupations likely to present any unacceptable 
risk of injury or unfitness and impose limitations as appropriate;

(e) exercise in the first instance, and in accordance with the 
National Joint Council for Local Authority Fire and Rescue 
Services Scheme of Conditions and Service (the “Grey Book”), 
discretion on extensions of sick pay for uniformed firefighters; 

Page 238



(f) consider on their individual merits requests for extensions of 
service beyond the normal retirement age and, if appropriate 
and subject to a satisfactory medical exam, to approve such 
requests in line with the conditions as set out in the new Grey 
Book and the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme.

(g) exercise discretion over broken service with another authority for 
the purpose of calculating service for the long service bounty 
scheme;

(h) approve for membership of a Local Authority, Health Authority or 
other Public Body (including school/college governing body), to 
stand as a parliamentary candidate or be a Justice of the Peace 
and approval of special paid or unpaid leave in relation to these 
functions;

(i) in accordance with any directions and/or financial thresholds set 
by the Authority, to exercise those delegations under Firefighters 
Pensions Schemes and Local Government Pension Scheme as 
may from time to time be approved by the Authority (NOTE:  the 
most recent delegations in relation to the Local Government 
Pension Scheme were approved by the Authority at its meeting 
on 29 July 2015 - Minute DSFRA/21 refers.  Delegations in 
relation to the Firefighters Pensions Schemes were initially 
approved by the Authority at its meeting on 7 October 2015 – 
Minute DSFRA/26(c)(ii) refers – and amended on 30 July 2018 – 
Minute DSFRA/16(a)(i) refers);

(j) in consultation with the Treasurer, approve premature retirement 
of staff (other than uniformed firefighters) on grounds of 
permanent ill-health and/or the efficiency of the Service and 
where appropriate the exercise of discretion in respect of the 
award of added years.

4.19 The power in paragraph 4.18 above shall NOT include any matter:
(i) relating to the posts of Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Assistant Chief 

Fire Officer;
(ii) relating to the statutory posts of Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial 

Officer (other than suspension of these Officers in accordance with 
Standing Orders;

(ii) arising from a proposal for major restructuring;
(iii) which is a major change in the Authority’s or Service’s policies, 

procedures or practices and
(iv) under the Superannuation Acts relating to the payment and 

enhancement of pensions.

Page 239



(f). Commercial Activities

4.20 To exercise, on behalf of the Authority, any written approvals (other than the 
entering into of contracts for the provision of goods and services) as required 
by the Trading Company Contract between the Devon & Somerset Fire & 
Rescue Authority and Red One Ltd.

Page 240



DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY (Budget Meeting)

19 FEBRUARY 2021

AGENDA ITEM 13

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

RECOMMENDATION that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined Paragraph 3 of  Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) 
to the Act, namely information relating to the financial and business affairs of any 
particular person – including the authority holding that information.

Page 241

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 245

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	7a Community Safety & Corporate Planning Committee
	7b Human Resources Management & Development Committee
	Minutes

	7c Resources Committee
	Minutes

	8 Medium Term Financial Plan
	Appendix A to report DSFRA/21/1

	9 Capital Strategy
	10a 2021-22 Revenue budget and Council Tax Levels
	Appendix A to report DSFRA/21/3
	Appendix B to report DSFRA/21/3
	Appendix C to report DSFRA/21/3
	Appendix D to report DSFRA/21/3
	Appendix E to report DSFRA/21/3
	Appendix F to report DSFRA/21/3

	10b Capital Programme 2021-22 to 2023-24
	Appendix A to report DSFRA/21/3
	Appendix B to report DSFRA/21/3

	10c Treasury Management Strategy (Including Prudential and Treasury Indicators) 2021-22 to 2023-24
	Appendix A to report DSFRA/21/5
	Appendix B to report DSFRA/21/5
	Appendix C to report DSFRA/21/5

	11 Localism Act 2011 - Pay Policy Statement 2021-22
	Appendix A to report DSFRA/21/6

	12 Red One Ltd. - Appointment of Non-Executive Directors
	13 Authority Governance
	Appendix A to report DSFRA/21/8
	Appendix B to report DSFRA/21/8
	Appendix C to report DSFRA/21/8
	Appendix D to report DSFRA/21/8
	Appendix E to report DSFRA/21/8

	14 Exclusion of the Press and Public
	15 Restricted Minutes of the Resources Committee (Budget) Meeting held on 10 February 2021
	16 Disposal of Former Topsham Fire Station

